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Portions of the Proxy Statement for the Registrant’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 18, 2004 are incorporated by reference 
into Part III of this Form 10-K.  
   

EXCHANGE ACT REPORTS AVAILABILE ON COMPANY WEBSITE  
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS  

   
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including all documents incorporated by reference, includes “forward-looking” statements within the 
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and Poore Brothers, Inc. (the “Company”) desires to take 
advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions thereof.  Therefore, the Company is including this statement for the express purpose of availing itself 
of the protections of the safe harbor with respect to all of such forward-looking statements. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words 
“anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates,” “projects,” “will likely result,” “will continue,” “future” and similar terms and 
expressions identify forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect the Company’s 
current views with respect to future events and financial performance. These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties, including specifically the Company’s relatively brief operating history, historical operating losses and the possibility of future 
operating losses, the possibility that the Company will need additional financing due to future operating losses or in order to implement the 
Company’s business strategy, the possible diversion of management resources from the day-to-day operations of the Company as a result of 
strategic acquisitions, potential difficulties resulting from the integration of acquired businesses with the Company’s business, other 
acquisition-related risks, significant competition, risks related to the food products industry, volatility of the market price of the Company’s 
common stock, par value $.01 per share (the “Common Stock”), the possible de-listing of the Common Stock from the Nasdaq SmallCap 
Market if the Company fails to satisfy the applicable listing criteria (including a minimum share price) in the future and those other risks and 
uncertainties discussed herein, that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated.  In light of these 
risks and uncertainties, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will in 
fact transpire or prove to be accurate.  Readers are cautioned to consider the specific risk factors described herein and in “Risk Factors,” and 
not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements contained herein, which speak only as of the date hereof. The Company 
undertakes no obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that may arise after the date 
hereof. All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly 
qualified in their entirety by this section.  
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Item 1 .  Business  
   
Description of Business  
   

Poore Brothers, Inc. (the “Company”) is engaged in the development, production, marketing and distribution of innovative salted snack 
food products that are sold primarily through grocery retailers, mass merchandisers, club stores, convenience stores and vend distributors 
across the United States.  The Company currently manufactures and sells nationally (i) T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks under license from 
TGI Friday’s Inc. and (ii) Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks, featuring Looney Tunes™ and Scooby Doo™ characters under license from 
Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  The Company also currently (i) manufactures and sells regionally its own brands of salted snack food 
products, including Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style®, and Boulder Potato Company® brand batch-fried potato chips and Tato Skins® 
brand potato snacks, (ii) manufactures private label potato chips for grocery retail chains in the southwest, and (iii) distributes in Arizona snack 
food products that are manufactured by others. For the fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, net revenues totaled $66,417,836, $59,348,471 and 
$53,904,816, respectively. The Company sells its T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snack products and its Crunch Toons® brand salted snack 
products to grocery retailers, mass merchandisers and club stores directly and to convenience stores and vend operators through independent 
distributors.  The Company’s other products are also sold through independent distributors.  In fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, the T.G.I. 
Friday’s® brand salted snacks represented 61%, 60% and 41%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues.  See Note 10 “ Business 
Segments and Significant Customers ” to the financial statements included in Item 8.  
   

   
The Company produces T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato snacks 

utilizing a sheeting and frying process that includes patented technology.  The Company licenses the patented technology from a third party and 
has an exclusive right to use the technology within North America until the patents expire between 2004 and 2010. T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
salted snacks, Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato snacks are offered in several different flavors and 
formulations.  All of these products are manufactured at the Company’s leased facility in Bluffton, Indiana, except for Mozzarella Stick and 
Onion Ring products which are produced by contract manufacturers on behalf of the Company and sold under the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
name.  The Company acquired the Bluffton, Indiana manufacturing operation in October 1999 as part of its acquisition of Wabash Foods, 
LLC.  In November 2002, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company rights to introduce an innovative new brand of salted snacks 
featuring Looney Tunes™ characters.  The Company launched the Crunch Toons® brand nationwide in the summer of 2003 under a multi-year 
agreement that grants the Company exclusive salted snack category brand licensing and promotional rights for Looney Tunes™ characters.  In 
November 2003, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company rights to market its Crunch Toons® brand of salted snacks featuring 
Scooby-Doo™ characters beginning in the first quarter of 2004 under a multi-year agreement that grants the Company exclusive salted snack 
category brand licensing and promotional rights for Scooby-Doo™ characters.  See “ Products ” and “ Patents and Trademarks ”.  

   
Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style® and Boulder Potato Company® brand potato chips are manufactured with a batch-frying process that 

the Company believes produces potato chips with enhanced crispness and flavor. Poore Brothers® potato chips are currently offered in ten 
flavors, Bob’s Texas Style® potato chips are currently offered in six flavors, and Boulder Potato Company® potato chips are currently offered 
in eight flavors. The Company also manufactures potato chips for sale on a private label basis using a continuous frying process.  The 
Company’s potato chips are manufactured at a Company-owned facility in Goodyear, Arizona.  See “ Products ” and “ Marketing and 
Distribution .”  

   
The Company’s business objective is to be a leading developer, manufacturer, marketer and distributor of innovative branded salted snack 

foods by providing high quality products at competitive prices that are superior in taste, texture, flavor variety and brand personality to 
comparable products. A significant element of the Company’s growth strategy is to develop, acquire or license innovative snack food brands 
that provide strategic fit and possess strong national brand equity in order to  
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Percent of Total Revenues  
   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Branded products  
   

91 % 89 % 84 % 
Private label products  

   

4 % 5 % 7 % 
Total manufactured products segment revenues  

   

94 % 93 % 91 % 
                     
Distributed products segment revenues  

   

6 % 7 % 9 % 
                     

Total revenues  
   

100 % 100 % 100 % 



   
expand, complement or diversify the Company’s existing business.  The Company also plans to increase sales of its existing brands and 
continue to improve profit margins through increased operating efficiencies and manufacturing capacity utilization.  See “ Business Strategy .”  

   
The Company’s executive offices are located at 3500 South La Cometa Drive, Goodyear, Arizona 85338, and its telephone number is (623) 

932-6200.  
   
Company History  
   

The Company, a Delaware corporation, was formed in 1995 as a holding company to acquire a potato chip manufacturing and distribution 
business which had been founded by Donald and James Poore in 1986.  

   
In December 1996, the Company completed an initial public offering of its Common Stock.  In November 1998, the Company acquired the 

business and certain assets (including the Bob’s Texas Style® potato chip brand) of Tejas Snacks, L.P. (“Tejas”), a Texas-based potato chip 
manufacturer.  In October 1999, the Company acquired Wabash Foods, LLC (“Wabash”) including the Tato Skins®, O’Boisies®, and 
Pizzarias® trademarks, and assumed all of Wabash Foods’ liabilities.  In June 2000, the Company acquired Boulder Natural Foods, Inc. 
(“Boulder”) and the Boulder Potato Company® brand of totally natural potato chips.  As part of the Boulder acquisition, the Company was 
required to issue additional unregistered shares of Common Stock to the seller on each of the first three anniversaries of the closing of the 
acquisition.  The issuance of such shares was dependent upon increases in sales of Boulder product as compared to previous periods.  In 2003, 
2002 and 2001, the Company was required to issue 93,728 shares valued at $420,566, 88,864 shares valued at $210,786 and 57,898 shares 
valued at $185, 274, respectively.  With each issuance of shares the Company increased the goodwill recorded from this acquisition.  

   
In October 2000, the Company launched its T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks pursuant to a license agreement with TGI Friday’s Inc., 

which expires in 2014.  
   
On December 27, 2001, the Company completed the sale of 586,855 shares of Common Stock at an offering price of $2.13 per share to 

BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC, a fund managed by Renaissance Capital, in a private placement transaction.  
   
In June 2003, the Company launched its Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks, initially featuring Looney Tunes™ characters pursuant to a 

multi-year license agreement with Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  The agreement grants the Company exclusive salted snack category 
brand licensing and promotional rights for Looney Tunes™ characters.  
   
Business Strategy  
   

The Company’s business strategy is to continue building a portfolio of national niche brands with annualized revenues of $20 million to 
$50 million each.  This strategy is intended to enable us to complement, rather than to compete directly against, large national competitors.  
The primary elements of our business strategy are as follows:  

   
Develop, Acquire or License Innovative Snack Food Brands.   A significant element of the Company’s business strategy is to 

develop, acquire or license new innovative snack food brands that provide strategic fit and possess strong national brand equity in 
order to expand, complement or diversify the Company’s existing business.  In October 2000, the Company initiated this element of 
its strategy by launching our first national niche brand, T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, under an exclusive license from TGI 
Friday’s Inc. which expires in 2014.  In June 2003, the Company launched its second national niche brand, Crunch Toons®, featuring 
Looney Tunes™ characters, under a multi-year agreement with Warner Bros. Consumer Products that grants the Company exclusive 
brand licensing and promotional rights.  In November 2003, the Company also acquired the exclusive brand licensing and promotional 
rights to Scooby Doo™ characters pursuant to a multi-year agreement with Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  The Company plans to 
continue developing, acquiring or licensing additional national niche brands.  

   
Increase Sales of Existing Brands.   The Company plans to increase distribution and build the market share of its existing branded 

products through selected trade activity in various markets and channels.  Marketing efforts include, among other things, trade 
advertising and promotional programs with distributors and retailers, in-store advertisements, in-store displays and limited consumer 
advertising, public relations and coupon programs.  

   
Improve Profit Margins.   The Company’s Indiana and Arizona facilities are currently operating at approximately forty percent and 

fifty percent of their respective manufacturing capacities.  The Company will seek to increase gross  
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profit margins through increased revenues, improved operating efficiencies, more effective promotions and higher margin new 
products.  It believes that additional improvements to its manufactured products’ gross profit margins are possible with the 
achievement of the business strategies discussed above.  Depending on product mix, the Company believes that the existing 
manufacturing facilities could produce, in the aggregate, up to $150 million in annual revenue volume and thereby further reduce 
manufacturing product costs as a percentage of cost of goods sold.  

   
The Company currently has arrangements with several California and Arizona grocery chains for the manufacture and distribution 

by the Company of their respective private label potato chips, in various types and flavors as specified by them.  The Company also 
believes that contract manufacturing opportunities exist.  While they are extremely price competitive and can be short in duration, the 
Company believes that they provide a profitable opportunity for the Company to improve the capacity utilization of its facilities.  The 
Company intends to seek additional private label customers located near its facilities who demand superior product quality at a 
reasonable price.  

   
Products  
   

Manufactured Snack Food Products .  The Company produces T.G.I. Friday’s® brand Potato Skins salted snacks, Crunch Toons® brand 
potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato crisps utilizing a sheeting and frying process.  T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, Crunch 
Toons® brand potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato crisps are offered in several different flavors and formulations. All of these 
products are manufactured at the Company’s leased facility in Bluffton, Indiana, except for Mozzarella Stick and Onion Ring products which 
are produced by contract manufacturers on behalf of the Company and sold under the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand name.  
   

Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style®, and Boulder Potato Company® brand potato chips are produced utilizing a batch-frying process and 
are marketed by the Company as premium products based on their distinctive combination of cooking method and variety of distinctive 
flavors.  Poore Brothers® potato chips are currently offered in ten flavors, Bob’s Texas Style® potato chips are currently offered in six flavors, 
and Boulder Potato Company® potato chips are currently offered in eight flavors. The Company currently has agreements with several 
California and Arizona grocery chains pursuant to which the Company produces their respective private label potato chips in the styles and 
flavors specified by such grocery chains.  
   

Distributed Snack Food Products .  The Company purchases and resells throughout Arizona snack food products manufactured by others.  
Such products include pretzels, popcorn, dips, and meat snacks.  Effective February 1, 2004, the Company has ceased distribution of Snyders’ 
pretzels which represented approximately 50% of the distributed products segment revenues in 2003.  The Company does not expect this 
revenue loss to have a material adverse affect on the Company’s overall profitability in 2004.  
   
Manufacturing  
   

The Company’s manufacturing facility in Bluffton, Indiana includes three fryer lines that can produce an aggregate of up to approximately 
9,000 pounds per hour of T.G.I. Friday’s®, Crunch Toons® and Tato Skins® brand products.  The Indiana facility is currently operating at 
approximately forty percent of capacity.  Certain T.G.I. Friday’s®, Crunch Toons® and Tato Skins® brand products are produced utilizing a 
sheeting and frying process that includes some patented technology.  The Company licenses the technology from third parties and has exclusive 
rights to use the technology within the United States until the patents expire, which ranges from 2004 to 2010.  Some T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
salted snack products are produced by contract manufacturers on behalf of the Company.  See “ Patents and Trademarks .”  

   
The Company believes that a key element of the success to date of the Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style® and Boulder Potato 

Company® brand potato chips has been the Company’s use of certain cooking techniques and key ingredients in the manufacturing process to 
produce potato chips with improved flavor.  These techniques currently involve two elements: the Company’s use of a batch frying process, as 
opposed to the conventional continuous line cooking method, and the Company’s use of distinctive seasonings to produce potato chips in a 
variety of flavors.  The Company believes that although the batch frying process produces less volume, it is superior to conventional 
continuous line cooking methods because it enhances crispness and flavor through greater control over temperature and other cooking 
conditions.  

   
In September 1997, the Company consolidated all of its manufacturing operations into its present facility in Goodyear, Arizona, which was 

newly constructed at the time and, in connection therewith, discontinued manufacturing operations at a facility in LaVergne, Tennessee.  In 
1999, the Company purchased and installed additional batch frying equipment in the Arizona facility.  The Arizona facility has the capacity to 
produce up to approximately 3,500 pounds of potato chips per hour, including 1,400 pounds of batch fried branded potato chips per hour and 
2,100 pounds of continuous fried private label potato  
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chips per hour.  The Company owns additional batch frying equipment which, if needed, could be installed without significant time or cost, and 
which would result in increased capacity to produce the batch fried potato chips.  The Arizona facility is currently operating at approximately 
fifty percent of capacity.  

   
There can be no assurance that the Company will obtain sufficient business to recoup the Company’s investments in its manufacturing 

facilities or to increase the utilization rates of such facilities.   See “ Item 2. Description of Property. ”  
   
Marketing and Distribution  
   

The Company’s T.G.I. Friday’s® brand snack food products have achieved significant market presence in the vending channel nationwide 
through an independent network of brokers and distributors, particularly in the midwest and east.  The Company attributes the success of its 
products in these markets to consumer loyalty.  The Company believes this loyalty results from the products’ differentiated taste, texture and 
flavor variety which result from its manufacturing processes.  The Company has retained Acosta, Inc., a leading national sales and marketing 
agency with employees and offices nationwide to represent T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks and Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks on 
behalf of the Company in the grocery and convenience store channels.  The Company’s own sales organization sells T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
salted snacks and Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks in the mass, club and drug channels.  

   
The Company’s potato chip brands are distributed to grocery and other retailers primarily by a select group of independent distributors.  

Poore Brothers® brand potato chip products have achieved significant market presence in Arizona, New Mexico, Southern California, Hawaii, 
Missouri, Ohio and Michigan.  The Company’s Bob’s Texas Style® brand potato chip products have achieved significant market presence in 
south/central Texas, including Houston, San Antonio and Austin.  The Company’s Boulder Potato Company® brand potato chip products have 
achieved significant market presence in Colorado and in natural food stores across the country.  The Company selects brokers and distributors 
for its branded products primarily on the basis of quality of service, call frequency on customers, financial capability and relationships they 
have with supermarkets and vending distributors, including access to shelf space for snack food.  

   
The Company’s distribution throughout Arizona includes 51 independently operated service routes.  Each route is operated by an 

independent distributor who purchases from the Company and merchandises as many as 72 items at major grocery store chains in Arizona, 
such as Albertson’s, Basha’s, Fry’s, and Safeway stores.  In addition to servicing major supermarket chains, the Company’s distributors service 
many independent grocery stores, club stores, and military facilities throughout Arizona.  In addition to Poore Brothers® brand products, the 
Company distributes throughout Arizona a wide variety of snack food items manufactured by other companies, including pretzels, popcorn, 
dips, and meat snacks.  

   
Successful marketing of the Company’s products depends, in part, upon obtaining adequate shelf space for such products, particularly in 

supermarkets and vending machines.  Frequently, the Company incurs additional marketing costs in order to obtain additional shelf space.  
Whether or not the Company will continue to incur such costs in the future will depend upon a number of factors including, demand for the 
Company’s products, relative availability of shelf space and general competitive conditions.  The Company may incur significant shelf space, 
consumer marketing or other promotional costs as a necessary condition of entering into competition or maintaining market share in particular 
markets or channels.  Any such costs may materially affect the Company’s financial performance.  

   
The Company’s marketing programs are designed to increase product trial and build brand awareness in core markets.  Most of the 

Company’s marketing spending has traditionally been focused on trade advertising and trade promotions designed to attract new consumers to 
the products at a reduced retail price, except in 2003 when the Company conducted national television advertising and coupon programs in 
connection with the launch of the Crunch Toons® brand.  The Company’s marketing programs also include selective event sponsorship 
designed to increase brand awareness and to provide opportunities to mass sample branded products.  Sponsorship of the Arizona 
Diamondbacks typifies the Company’s efforts to reach targeted consumers and provide them with a sample of the Company’s products to 
encourage new and repeat purchases.  
   
Suppliers  
   

The principal raw materials used by the Company are potatoes, potato flakes, wheat flour, corn and oil.  The Company believes that the raw 
materials it needs to produce its products are readily available from numerous suppliers on commercially reasonable terms.  Potatoes, potato 
flakes, wheat flour and corn are widely available year-round.  The Company uses a variety of oils in the production of its products and the 
Company believes that alternative sources for such oils, as well as alternative oils, are readily abundant and available.  The Company also uses 
seasonings and packaging materials in its manufacturing process.  
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The Company chooses its suppliers based primarily on price, availability and quality and does not have any long-term commitments with 

any supplier.  Although the Company believes that its required products and ingredients are readily available, and that its business success is 
not dependent on any single supplier, the failure of certain suppliers to meet the Company’s performance specifications, quality standards or 
delivery schedules could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations.  In particular, a sudden scarcity, a substantial price 
increase, or an unavailability of product ingredients could materially adversely affect the Company’s operations.  There can be no assurance 
that alternative ingredients would be available when needed and on commercially attractive terms, if at all.  
   
Customers  
   

Two customers of the Company, Vistar, formerly Vending Services of America, a national vending distributor and Wal*Mart (including its 
SAM’s Clubs) accounted for 13% and 20%, respectively, of the Company’s 2003 net revenues.  The remainder of the Company’s revenues 
were derived from sales to a limited number of additional customers, either grocery chains, club stores or regional distributors, none of which 
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues in 2003.  A decision by any of the Company’s major customers to cease 
or substantially reduce their purchases could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.  
   

All of the Company’s revenues are attributable to external customers in the United States and all of its assets are located in the United 
States.  
   
Market Overview and Competition  
   

According to the Snack Food Association (“SFA”), the U.S. market for salted snack foods reached $22.5 billion at retail in 2002 (the latest 
year for which data is available) with potato chips, tortilla chips and potato crisps, accounting for nearly 50% of the market, and corn snacks, 
popcorn, pretzels, nuts, meat snacks and other products accounting for the balance.  Total salted snack sales, in dollar terms, increased in each 
of the last ten years, ranging from an increase of 8.5% (in 1997) to 0.3% (in 1995), with a 2002 increase of 2.9%.  Potato chip, tortilla chips and 
potato crisps combined sales have increased within a similar range, with 2002 retail sales of $10.4 billion, a 0.2% increase over 2001 sales of 
$10.2 billion.  

   
The Company’s products compete generally against other salted snack foods, including potato chips and tortilla chips. The salted snack 

food industry is large and highly competitive and is dominated primarily by Frito-Lay, Inc., a subsidiary of PepsiCo, Inc.  Frito-Lay, Inc. 
possesses substantially greater financial, production, marketing, distribution and other resources than the Company and brands that are more 
widely recognized than the Company’s products.  Numerous other companies that are actual or potential competitors of the Company, many 
with greater financial and other resources (including more employees and more extensive facilities) than the Company, offer products similar to 
those of the Company.  In addition, many of such competitors offer a wider range of products than offered by the Company.  Local or regional 
markets often have significant smaller competitors, many of whom offer products similar to those of the Company.  Expansion of the 
Company’s operations into new markets has and will continue to encounter significant competition from national, regional and local 
competitors that may be greater than that encountered by the Company in its existing markets.  In addition, such competitors may challenge the 
Company’s position in its existing markets.  While the Company believes that it has innovative products and methods of operation that will 
enable it to compete successfully, there can be no assurance of its ability to do so.  

   
The principal competitive factors affecting the market of the Company’s products include product quality and taste, brand awareness among 

consumers, access to shelf space, price, advertising and promotion, variety of snacks offered, nutritional content, product packaging and 
package design.  The Company competes in the market principally on the basis of product quality and taste.  While products produced at the 
Company’s Bluffton, Indiana facility involve the use of certain licensed technology, the taste and quality of products produced at the 
Company’s Goodyear, Arizona facility is largely due to two elements of the Company’s manufacturing process: its use of batch frying and its 
use of distinctive seasonings to produce a variety of flavors.  The Company does not have exclusive rights to the use of either element; 
consequently, competitors may incorporate such elements into their own processes.  
   
Government Regulation  
   

The manufacture, labeling and distribution of the Company’s products are subject to the rules and regulations of various federal, state and 
local health agencies, including the Food & Drug Administration (“FDA”).  In May 1994, regulations issued under the Nutrition Labeling and 
Education Act of 1990 (“NLEA”), which requires specified nutritional information to be  
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disclosed on all packaged foods, concerning labeling of food products, including permissible use of nutritional claims such as “fat-free” and 
“low-fat,” became effective.  The Company believes that it is complying in all material respects with the NLEA regulations and closely 
monitors the fat content of its products through various testing and quality control procedures.  The Company does not believe that compliance 
with the NLEA regulations materially increases the Company’s manufacturing costs.  
   

As a direct result of the September 11, 2001 terrorism attack, the FDA issued the Bioterrorism Act of 2002 (“the Act”) to protect the U.S. 
food supply.  While there are four parts to the Act, only two of the provisions impact the Company.  One requirement for the Company was 
registration with the FDA as a U.S. Food Manufacturing Company, which the Company completed prior to the required date of December 12, 
2003.  The second of the Act’s provisions pertaining to the Company relates to record retention.  The Company is required to retain records 
pertaining to its raw materials’ immediate previous sources (“one back”) as well as its finished goods’ subsequent recipients (“one up”) for 
twelve months.  Although not effective until January 1, 2005, the Company believes it is currently compliant with this provision.  
   

On July 11, 2003, the FDA published its final rule on Trans Fat Labeling requiring that food labels declare trans fats on or before January 1, 
2006.  This rule requires that trans fat be declared on a separate line in the standard Nutrition Facts below total fat and saturated fat and be 
calculated to the nearest 0.5 grams, unless it is less than 0.5 grams in which case it may be expressed as 0 grams.  Currently, the Company has 
plans in place to comply with the FDA’s rule on Trans Fat Labeling by the January 1, 2006 deadline.  
   

There can be no assurance that new laws or regulations will not be passed that could require the Company to alter the taste or composition 
of its products or impose other obligations on the Company.  Such changes could affect sales of the Company’s products and have a material 
adverse effect on the Company.  
   

In addition to laws relating to food products, the Company’s operations are governed by laws relating to environmental matters, workplace 
safety and worker health, principally the Occupational Safety and Health Act.  The Company believes that it presently complies in all material 
respects with such laws and regulations.  
   
Employees  
   

As of December 27, 2003, the Company had 282 full-time employees, including 238 in manufacturing and distribution, 20 in sales and 
marketing and 24 in administration and finance.  The Company’s employees are not represented by any collective bargaining organization and 
the Company has never experienced a work stoppage.  The Company believes that its relations with its employees are good.  
   
Patents and Trademarks  
   

The Company produces T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato crisps utilizing a sheeting and frying process 
that includes patented technology that the Company licenses from Miles Willard Technologies, LLC, an Idaho limited liability company 
(“Miles Willard”).  Pursuant to the license agreement between the Company and Miles Willard, the Company has an exclusive right to use the 
patented technology within North America until the patents expire between 2004 and 2006.  In consideration for the use of these patents, the 
Company is required to make royalty payments to Miles Willard on sales of products manufactured utilizing the patented technology.  
   

The Company produces Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks utilizing a sheeting and frying process that includes patented technology that 
the Company licenses from M.J. Quinlan & Associates Pty. Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of New South Wales 
(“Quinlan”).  Pursuant to the license agreement between the Company and Quinlan, the Company has an exclusive right to use the patented 
technology within the United States until the agreement expires.  The initial period covered by the agreement extends through 2010 and 
automatically renews for five (5) year increments after that, unless terminated by Licensee.  In consideration for the use of these patents, the 
Company is required to make royalty payments to Quinlan on sales of products manufactured utilizing the patented technology.  
   

The Company licenses the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks trademark from TGI Friday’s Inc. under a license agreement with a term 
expiring in 2014.  Pursuant to the license agreement, the Company is required to make royalty payments on sales of T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
salted snack products and is required to achieve certain minimum sales levels by certain dates during the contract term.  
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In November 2002, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company rights to introduce an innovative new brand of salted snacks 

(Crunch Toons®) featuring Looney Tunes™ characters, including Bugs Bunny, Tweety and the Tasmanian Devil.  The Company launched the 
new brand nationwide in the summer of 2003 under a multi-year agreement that grants the Company exclusive salted snack category brand 
licensing and promotional rights for Looney Tunes™ characters.  In November 2003, the Company also acquired the exclusive brand licensing 
and promotional rights to Scooby Doo™ characters pursuant to a multi-year agreement with Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  Both 
agreements require the payment of minimum royalties during the term of the agreements.  

   
The Company owns the following trademarks in the United States: Poore Brothers®, An Intensely Different Taste®, Texas Style®, 

Boulder Potato Company®, Tato Skins®, O’Boisies®, Pizzarias®, Braids®, Knots® and Crunch Toons®.  
   
The Company considers its trademarks to be of significant importance in the Company’s business.  The Company is not aware of any 

circumstances that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to use its trademarks.   Any termination of the Company’s 
license agreements, whether at the expiration of its term or prior thereto, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
condition and results of operations.  

   
Risk Factors  
   

Brief Operating History; Prior Net Losses; Accumulated Deficit; Significant Future Expenses due to Implementation of Business Strategy. 
Although certain of the Company’s subsidiaries have operated for several years, the Company as a whole has a relatively brief operating 
history upon which an evaluation of its prospects can be made.  Such prospects are subject to the substantial risks, expenses and difficulties 
frequently encountered in the establishment and growth of a new business in the snack food industry, which is characterized by a significant 
number of market entrants and intense competition, as well as risk factors described herein.  Although the Company has been profitable since 
fiscal 1999, the Company experienced significant net losses in prior fiscal years.  At December 27, 2003, the Company had an accumulated 
deficit of $797,929 and net working capital of $7,850,924.  See “ Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations .”  

   
Even if the Company is successful in developing, acquiring and/or licensing new brands, and increasing distribution and sales volume of the 

Company’s existing products, it may be expected to incur substantial additional expenses, including advertising and promotional costs, 
“slotting” expenses (i.e., the cost of obtaining shelf space in certain grocery stores), and integration costs of any future acquisitions. 
Accordingly, the Company may incur additional losses in the future as a result of the implementation of the Company’s business strategy, even 
if revenues increase significantly. There can be no assurance that the Company’s business strategy will prove successful or that the Company 
will be profitable in the future.  

   
Need for Additional Financing.   A significant element of the Company’s business strategy is the development, acquisition and/or licensing 

of innovative snack food brands, for the purpose of expanding, complementing and/or diversifying the Company’s business. In connection with 
each of the Company’s previous brand acquisitions (Bob’s Texas Style® in November 1998, Tato Skins® in October 1999, and Boulder Potato 
Company® in June 2000), the Company borrowed funds or assumed additional indebtedness in order to satisfy a substantial portion of the 
consideration required to be paid by the Company.  See “ Business — Company History ” and “ Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” — Liquidity and Capital Resources .”  The Company may, in the future, require additional 
third party financing (debt or equity) as a result of any future operating losses, in connection with the expansion of the Company’s business 
through non-acquisition means, in connection with any additional acquisitions completed by the Company, or to provide working capital for 
general corporate purposes.  There can be no assurance that any such required financing will be available or, if available, on terms attractive to 
the Company.  Any third party financing obtained by the Company may result in dilution of the equity interests of the Company’s shareholders. 

   
Acquisition-Related Risks. In recent years, a significant element of the Company’s business strategy has been the pursuit of selected 

strategic acquisition opportunities for the purpose of expanding, complementing and/or diversifying the Company’s business.  Strategic 
acquisitions are likely to continue to comprise an element of the Company’s business strategy for the foreseeable future.  However, no 
assurance can be given that the Company will be able to identify, finance and complete additional suitable acquisitions on acceptable terms, or 
that future acquisitions, if completed, will be successful.  Any future acquisitions could divert management’s attention from the daily 
operations of the Company and otherwise require additional management, operational and financial resources.  Moreover, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to successfully integrate acquired companies or their management teams into the Company’s operating 
structure, retain management teams of acquired companies on a long-term basis, or operate acquired companies profitably. Acquisitions may 
also involve a number of other risks, including adverse short-term effects on the Company’s operating results, dependence on retaining key 
personnel and customers, and risks associated with unanticipated liabilities or contingencies.  
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Substantial Leverage; Financial Covenants Pursuant to U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement; Possible Acceleration of Indebtedness.   At 

December 27, 2003, the Company had outstanding indebtedness under a credit agreement with U.S. Bancorp (the “U.S. Bancorp Credit 
Agreement”) in the aggregate principal amount of $2,259,377. The indebtedness under the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement is secured by 
substantially all of the Company’s assets. The Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants pursuant to the U.S. Bancorp 
Credit Agreement so long as borrowings from U.S. Bancorp remain outstanding. Should the Company be in default under any of such 
covenants, U.S. Bancorp shall have the right, upon written notice and after the expiration of any applicable period during which such default 
may be cured, to demand immediate payment of all of the then unpaid principal and accrued but unpaid interest under the U.S. Bancorp Credit 
Agreement.  At December 27, 2003, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement 
(including minimum annual operating results, minimum fixed charge coverage and minimum tangible capital requirements).  There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be in compliance with the financial covenants in the future. Any acceleration of the borrowings under the U.S. 
Bancorp Credit Agreement prior to the applicable maturity dates could have a material adverse effect upon the Company. See “ Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources .”  
   

Volatility of Market Price of Common Stock . The market price of the Common Stock has experienced a high level of volatility since the 
completion of the Company’s initial public offering in December 1996. Commencing with an offering price of $3.50 per share in the initial 
public offering, the market price of the Common Stock experienced a substantial decline, reaching a low of $0.50 per share (based on last 
reported sale price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market) on December 22, 1998. During fiscal 2003, the market price of the 
Common Stock (based on last reported sale price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market) ranged from a high of $5.60 per 
share to a low of $1.90 per share.  The last reported sales price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market on March 21, 2004 was 
$3.15 per share. There can be no assurance as to the future market price of the Common Stock.  See “Compliance with Nasdaq Listing 
Maintenance Requirements.”  

   
Compliance with Nasdaq Listing Maintenance Requirements.   In order for the Company’s Common Stock to continue to be listed on the 

Nasdaq SmallCap Market, the Company is required to be in compliance with certain continued listing standards.  One of such requirements is 
that the bid price of listed securities be equal to or greater than $1.00.  If, in the future, the Company’s Common Stock fails to be in compliance 
with the minimum closing bid price requirement for at least thirty consecutive trading days or the Company fails to be in compliance with any 
other Nasdaq continued listing requirements, then the Common Stock could be de-listed from the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. Upon any such de-
listing, trading, if any, in the Common Stock would thereafter be conducted in the over-the-counter market on the so-called “pink sheets” or the 
“Electronic Bulletin Board” of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”). As a consequence of any such de-listing, an 
investor could find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the price of, the Company’s Common Stock.  See 
“Volatility of Market Price of Common Stock.”  

   
Competition .  The market for salted snack foods, such as those sold by the Company, including potato chips, tortilla chips, pretzels and 

meat snacks, is large and intensely competitive. Competitive factors in the salted snack food industry include product quality and taste, brand 
awareness among consumers, access to supermarket shelf space, price, advertising and promotion, variety of snacks offered, nutritional 
content, product packaging and package design. The Company competes in that market principally on the basis of product taste and quality.  

   
The snack food industry is primarily dominated by Frito-Lay, Inc., which has substantially greater financial and other resources than the 

Company and sells brands that are more widely recognized than are the Company’s products. Numerous other companies that are actual or 
potential competitors of the Company, many with greater financial and other resources (including more employees and more extensive 
facilities) than the Company, offer products similar to those of the Company. In addition, many of such competitors offer a wider range of 
products than that offered by the Company. Local or regional markets often have significant smaller competitors, many of whom offer batch 
fried products similar to those of the Company. Expansion of Company operations into new markets has and will continue to encounter 
significant competition from national, regional and local competitors that may be greater than that encountered by the Company in its existing 
markets. In addition, such competitors may challenge the Company’s position in its existing markets. While the Company believes that its 
innovative products and methods of operation will enable it to compete successfully, there can be no assurance of its ability to do so.  

   
Promotional and Shelf Space Costs.   Successful marketing of food products generally depends upon obtaining adequate retail shelf space 

for product display, particularly in supermarkets. Frequently, food manufacturers and distributors, such as the Company, incur additional costs 
in order to obtain additional shelf space. Whether or not the Company incurs such costs in a particular market is dependent upon a number of 
factors, including demand for the Company’s products, relative availability of shelf space and general competitive conditions. The Company 
may incur significant shelf space or other promotional costs as a necessary condition of entering into competition or maintaining market share 
in particular markets or stores. If incurred, such costs may materially affect the Company’s financial performance.  
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No Assurance of Consumer Acceptance of Company’s Existing and Future Products .  Consumer preferences for snack foods are 

continually changing and are extremely difficult to predict. The ability of the Company to generate revenues in new markets will depend upon 
customer acceptance of the Company’s products. There can be no assurance that the Crunch Toons® brand will achieve a significant degree of 
market acceptance, that acceptance, if achieved, will be sustained for any significant period or that product life cycles will be sufficient to 
permit the Company to recover start-up and other associated costs, such as minimum royalty commitments or raw material inventories.  In 
addition, there can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in the development of any new products or that any new products developed 
by the Company will achieve market acceptance or generate meaningful revenue for the Company.  

   
Uncertainties and Risks of Food Product Industry.   The food product industry in which the Company is engaged is subject to numerous 

uncertainties and risks outside of the Company’s control.  Profitability in the food product industry is subject to adverse changes in general 
business and economic conditions, oversupply of certain food products at the wholesale and retail levels, seasonality, the risk that a food 
product may be banned or its use limited or declared unhealthful, the risk that product tampering may occur that may require a recall of one or 
more of the Company’s products, and the risk that sales of a food product may decline due to perceived health concerns, changes in consumer 
tastes or other reasons beyond the control of the Company.  

   
Fluctuations in Prices of Supplies; Dependence Upon Availability of Supplies and Performance of Suppliers.   The Company’s 

manufacturing costs are subject to fluctuations in the prices of potatoes, potato flakes, wheat flour, corn and oil, as well as other ingredients of 
the Company’s products.  Potatoes, potato flakes, wheat flour and corn are widely available year-round.  The Company uses a variety of oils in 
the production of its products.  The Company is dependent on its suppliers to provide the Company with products and ingredients in adequate 
supply and on a timely basis.  Although the Company believes that its requirements for products and ingredients are readily available, and that 
its business success is not dependent on any single supplier, the failure of certain suppliers to meet the Company’s performance specifications, 
quality standards or delivery schedules could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations.  In particular, a sudden scarcity, a 
substantial price increase, or an unavailability of product ingredients could materially adversely affect the Company’s operations.  There can be 
no assurance that alternative ingredients would be available when needed and on commercially attractive terms, if at all.  

   
Lack of Proprietary Manufacturing Methods for Certain Products; Future Expiration of Patented Technology Licensed by the Company .  

The Company licenses patented technology from a third party in connection with the manufacture of its T.G.I. Friday’s® and Tato Skins® 
brand products and has an exclusive right to use such technology within North America until the patents expire between 2004 and 2006.  The 
Company also licenses patented technology from a third party in connection with the manufacture of its Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks 
and has an exclusive right to use such technology within the United States until the agreement expires.  The initial period covered by the 
agreement extends through 2010 and automatically renews for five (5) year increments after that, unless terminated by the Company.  In 
addition, the Company expects to utilize patented technology from one or more third parties in connection with the manufacture of future 
products.  Upon the expiration of such patents, competitors of the Company, certain of which may have significantly greater resources than the 
Company, may utilize the patented technology in the manufacture of products that are similar to those currently manufactured, or that may in 
the future be manufactured, by the Company with such patented technology.  The entry of any such products into the marketplace could have a 
material adverse effect on sales of T.G.I. Friday’s®, Crunch Toons® and Tato Skins® brand products, as well as any such future products, by 
the Company.  

   
The taste and quality of Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style®, and Boulder Potato Company® brand potato chips is largely due to two 

elements of the Company’s manufacturing process: its use of batch frying and its use of distinctive seasonings to produce a variety of flavors.  
The Company does not have exclusive rights to the use of either element; consequently, competitors may incorporate such elements into their 
own processes.  

   
Dependence Upon Key Snack Food Brands; Dependence Upon T.G.I. Friday’s ® License Agreement and Future License Agreements .  The 

Company derives a substantial portion of its revenue from a limited number of snack food brands.  For the year ended December 27, 2003, 
approximately 71% of the Company’s net revenues were attributable to the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand products and the Poore Brothers® brand 
products.  A decrease in the popularity of a particular snack food brand during any year could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations.  There can be no assurance that any of the Company’s snack food brands will retain their 
historical levels of popularity or increase in popularity.  Any impact to a licensed brand’s reputation could also lead to an impact on the 
Company’s snack food products associated with that brand.  Decreased sales from any one of the key snack food brands without a 
corresponding increase in sales from other existing or newly introduced products would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial condition and results of operations.  
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Furthermore, the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand products are manufactured and sold by the Company pursuant to a license agreement by and 

between the Company and TGI Friday’s Inc. which expires in 2014.  Pursuant to the license agreement, the Company is subject to various 
requirements and conditions (including, without limitation, minimum sales targets).  The failure of the Company to comply with certain of such 
requirements and conditions could result in the early termination of the license agreement by TGI Friday’s Inc.  Any termination of the license 
agreement, whether at the expiration of its term or prior thereto, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and 
results of operations.  

   
Additionally, the Crunch Toons® brand products, featuring Looney Tunes™ and Scooby Doo™ characters, are currently being sold by the 

Company pursuant to multi-year license agreements by and between the Company and Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  Pursuant to the 
license agreements, the Company is subject to various requirements and conditions (including without limitation, minimum royalty payments).  
The failure of the Company to comply with certain of such requirements and conditions could result in the early termination of the license 
agreements by Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  Any termination of the license agreements, whether at the expiration of its term or prior 
thereto, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.  

   
The Company may introduce one or more new product lines in the future that will be manufactured and sold pursuant to additional license 

agreements by and between the Company and one or more third parties.  Pursuant to any such license agreements, the Company will likely be 
subject to various requirements and conditions (including minimum sales targets or royalty payments).  The failure of the Company to comply 
with certain of such requirements and conditions could result in the early termination of such additional license agreements.  Depending upon 
the success of any such new product lines, a termination of the applicable license agreements, whether at the expiration of their respective 
terms or prior thereto, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.  

   
Dependence Upon Major Customers .  Two customers of the Company, Vistar, formerly Vending Services of America,  a national vending 

distributor and Wal*Mart (including its SAM’s Clubs), accounted for 13% and 20%, respectively, of the Company’s 2003 net revenues, with 
the remainder of the Company’s net revenues being derived from sales to a limited number of additional customers, either grocery chains or 
regional distributors, none of which individually accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues for 2003.  A decision by any major 
customer to cease or substantially reduce its purchases could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.  

   
Reliance on Key Employees; Non-Compete Agreements .  The Company’s success is dependent in large part upon the abilities of its 

executive officers, including Eric J. Kufel, President and Chief Executive Officer, Glen E. Flook, Senior Vice President-Operations, and 
Thomas W. Freeze, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.  The inability of the Company’s executive officers to perform their 
duties or the inability of the Company to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect upon the 
Company’s business and prospects.  The Company currently maintains “key man” life insurance with respect to the Company’s President and 
Chief Executive Officer in the amount of $5,000,000. The employment of the executive officers of the Company is on an “at-will” basis.  The 
executive officers are entitled to severance under certain circumstances.  The Company has non-compete agreements with all of its executive 
officers.  See “ Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant .”  

   
Governmental Regulation.   The packaged food industry is subject to numerous federal, state and local governmental regulations, including 

those relating to the preparation, labeling and marketing of food products.  The Company is particularly affected by the Nutrition Labeling and 
Education Act of 1990 (“NLEA”), which requires specified nutritional information to be disclosed on all packaged foods.  The Company 
believes that the labeling on its products currently meets these requirements.  The Company does not believe that complying with the NLEA 
regulations materially increases the Company’s manufacturing costs.  

   
As a direct result of the September 11, 2001 terrorism attack, the FDA issued the Bioterrorism Act of 2002 (“the Act”) to protect the U.S. 

food supply.  While there are four parts to the Act, only two of the provisions impact the Company.  One requirement for the Company was 
registration with the FDA as a U.S. Food Manufacturing Company, which the Company completed prior to the required date of December 12, 
2003.  The second of the Act’s provisions pertaining to the Company relates to record retention.  The Company is required to retain records 
pertaining to its raw materials’ immediate previous sources (“one back”) as well as its finished goods’ subsequent recipients (“one up”) for 
twelve months. Although not effective until January 1, 2005, the Company believes it is currently compliant with this provision.  

   
On July 11, 2003, the FDA published its final rule on Trans Fat Labeling requiring that food labels declare trans fats on or before January 1, 

2006.  This rule requires that trans fat be declared on a separate line in the standard Nutrition Facts below total fat and saturated fat and be 
calculated to the nearest 0.5 grams, unless it is less than 0.5 grams in which case it may be expressed as 0 grams.  Currently, the Company has 
plans in place to comply with the FDA’s rule on Trans Fat Labeling by the January 1, 2006 deadline.  
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There can be no assurance that new laws or regulations will not be passed that could require the Company to alter the taste or composition 

of its products or impose other obligations on the Company.  Such changes could affect sales of the Company’s products and have a material 
adverse effect on the Company.  

   
Product Liability Claims .  As a manufacturer and marketer of food products, the Company may be subjected to various product liability 

claims.  There can be no assurance that the product liability insurance maintained by the Company will be adequate to cover any loss or 
exposure for product liability, or that such insurance will continue to be available on terms acceptable to the Company.  Any product liability 
claim not fully covered by insurance, as well as any adverse publicity from a product liability claim, could have a material adverse effect on the 
financial condition or results of operations of the Company.  

   
Significant Shareholders; Possible Change in Control .  As a result of the Wabash Foods acquisition, Capital Foods, LLC (“Capital Foods”) 

(an affiliate of the former owner of Wabash Foods) became the single largest shareholder of the Company, currently holding approximately 
23% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (without giving effect to the possible exercise of warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of 
Common Stock also held by Capital Foods).  Accordingly, Capital Foods is in a position to exercise substantial influence on the business and 
affairs of the Company.  In addition, Renaissance Capital Group, Inc. manages three funds, Renaissance Capital Growth & Income Fund III, 
Inc., Renaissance U.S. Growth & Income Trust PLC, and BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC, which are currently the beneficial owners 
of approximately 9%, 6% and 6%, respectively, of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company.  Capital Foods, Renaissance 
Capital Growth & Income Fund III, Inc., Renaissance U.S. Growth & Income Trust PLC, and BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC are 
hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Significant Shareholders”.  Although the Company is not aware of any plans or proposals on the part 
of any Significant Shareholder to recommend or undertake any material change in the management or business of the Company, there is no 
assurance that a Significant Shareholder will not adopt or support any such plans or proposals in the future.  

   
Apart from transfer restrictions arising under applicable provisions of the securities laws, there are no restrictions on the ability of the 

Significant Shareholders to transfer any or all of their respective shares of Common Stock at any time.  One or more of such transfers could 
have the effect of transferring effective control of the Company, including to one or more parties not currently known to the Company.  

   
Possibility the Company Will be Required to Register Shares of Certain Stockholders for Resale; Shares Available for Future Sale.   On 

December 27, 2001, the Company completed the sale of 586,855 shares of Common Stock, $0.01 par value, to BFS US Special Opportunities 
Trust PLC (“BFS”), a fund managed by Renaissance Capital Group, Inc., in a private placement transaction.  The net proceeds of the 
transaction were utilized by the Company to reduce the Company’s outstanding indebtedness.  In connection with such transaction, the 
Company granted demand and piggyback registration rights to BFS.  Pursuant to the demand registration rights, the Company may be required, 
upon demand of BFS, to file a registration statement (the “BFS Registration Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
covering the resale of the shares of Common Stock issued to BFS in the transaction.  The Company will be required to pay all expenses relating 
to any such registration, other than underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes applicable to the shares, and any other 
fees and expenses incurred by the holder(s) of the shares (including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses) in connection with the 
registration.  

   
Approximately 6,896,105 shares of outstanding Common Stock and 300,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of 

warrants issued by the Company are subject to “piggyback” registration rights granted by the Company, pursuant to which such shares of 
Common Stock may be registered under the Securities Act and, as a result, become freely tradable in the future.  All or a portion of such shares 
may, at the election of the holders thereof, be included in the BFS Registration Statement and, upon the effectiveness thereof, may be sold in 
the public markets.  

   
No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, that future sales of shares of Common Stock will have on the market price of the 

Common Stock prevailing from time to time.  Sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock, or the perception that these sales could occur, 
could adversely affect prevailing market prices for the Common Stock and could impair the ability of the Company to raise additional capital 
through the sale of its equity securities or through debt financing.  

   
Certain Anti-takeover Provisions .  The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 50,000 shares of “blank 

check” preferred stock with such designations, rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors of the 
Company.  The Company may issue such shares of preferred stock in the future without shareholder approval.  The rights of the holders of 
Common Stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the 
future.  The issuance of preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate 
purposes, could have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control of the Company, and preventing holders of 
Common Stock from  
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realizing a premium on their shares.  In addition, under Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), the Company is 
prohibited from engaging in any business combination (as defined in the DGCL) with any interested shareholder (as defined in the DGCL) 
unless certain conditions are met.  This statutory provision could also have an anti-takeover effect.  
   
Item 2 .  Properties  
   

The Company leases a 140,000 square foot facility located on 15 acres of land in Bluffton, Indiana, approximately 20 miles south of Ft. 
Wayne, Indiana.  The Company has entered into a lease expiring in April 2018 with respect to the facility and the lease has two five-year 
renewal options.  Current lease payments are approximately $22,000 per month.  The lease payments are subject to an annual CPI-based 
increase.  The Company produces its T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato 
snacks at the Bluffton, Indiana facility.  
   

The Company also leases one-half of a 200,000 square foot facility in Bluffton, Indiana which is used as a distribution center.  The 
Company has entered into a lease expiring in November 2006 with respect to the facility and the lease has two three-year renewal options.  
Current lease payments are approximately $30,000 per month.  
   

The Company owns a 60,000 square foot facility located on 7.7 acres of land in Goodyear, Arizona, approximately 15 miles west of 
Phoenix, Arizona.  Construction of this facility was completed in June 1997.  In August 1997, the Company completed the transition of all of 
its Arizona operations into the facility.  The facility is financed by a mortgage with Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York that 
matures in June 2012.  The Company produces its Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style® and Boulder Potato Company® brand potato chips, as 
well as its private label potato chips at the Goodyear, Arizona facility.  
   

The Company is responsible for all insurance costs, utilities and real estate taxes in connection with its facilities. The Company believes 
that its facilities are adequately covered by insurance.  
   
Item 3 .  Legal Proceedings  
   

The Company is periodically a party to various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business.  Management believes, based on 
discussions with legal counsel, that the resolution of such lawsuits, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.  
   
Item 4 .  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
   

None.  
   

PART II  
   

Item 5 .  Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  
   

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market tier of the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “SNAK”.  
There were approximately 4,000 shareholders of record on March 21, 2004.  The Company has never declared or paid any dividends on the 
shares of Common Stock.  Management intends to retain any future earnings for the operation and expansion of the Company’s business and 
does not anticipate paying any dividends at any time in the foreseeable future.  Additionally, certain debt agreements of the Company limit the 
Company’s ability to declare and pay dividends.  

   
The following table sets forth the range of high and low sale prices of the Company’s Common Stock as reported on the Nasdaq SmallCap 

Market for each quarter of the fiscal years ended December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002.  
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Sales Prices  
   

Period of Quotation  
   

High  
   

Low  
   

Fiscal 2002:  
             

First Quarter  
   

$ 2.72 
   $ 2.20 

   
Second Quarter  

   

$ 3.40 
   $ 2.35 

   
Third Quarter  

   

$ 2.97 
   $ 2.20 

   
Fourth Quarter  

   

$ 3.02 
   $ 1.49 

   
                
Fiscal 2003:  

             
First Quarter  

   

$ 2.55 
   $ 1.90 

   
Second Quarter  

   

$ 4.15 
   $ 1.99 

   
Third Quarter  

   

$ 5.60 
   $ 3.91 

   
Fourth Quarter  

   

$ 5.28 
   $ 3.30 

   



   
Item 6 .  Selected Financial Data  
   

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY  
(In millions except share and per share data)  

   

   
Item 7 .  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  
   

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with 
the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Item 1:  Business”; “Item 6:  Selected Financial Data”; and “Item 8:  
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  The various sections of this MD&A contain a number of forward-looking statements, all of 
which are based on our current expectations and could be affected by the uncertainties and risk factors described throughout this filing and 
particularly in the “Risk Factors” section.  Accordingly, the Company’s actual future results may differ materially from historical results or 
those currently anticipated.  
   
Business and Future Outlook  
   

Poore Brothers, Inc. (the “Company”) is engaged in the development, production, marketing and distribution of innovative salted snack 
food products that are sold primarily through grocery retailers, mass merchandisers, club stores, convenience stores and vend distributors 
across the United States.  The Company currently manufactures and sells nationally (i) T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks under license from 
TGI Friday’s Inc. and (ii) Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks, featuring Looney Tunes™ and Scooby Doo™ characters under license from 
Warner Bros. Consumer Products.  The Company also currently (i) manufactures and sells regionally its own brands of salted snack food 
products, including Poore Brothers®, Bob’s Texas Style®, and Boulder Potato Company® brand batch-fried potato chips and Tato Skins® 
brand potato snacks, (ii) manufactures private label potato chips for grocery retail chains in the southwest, and (iii) distributes in Arizona snack 
food products that are manufactured by others.  
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2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

2000  
   

1999  
   

Statements of Earnings Data  
                            

Net revenues  
   

$ 66.4 
   $ 59.3 

   $ 53.9 
   $ 39.1 

   $ 21.5 
   

Gross profit  
   

13.3 
   11.3 

   10.9 
   7.7 

   4.0 
   

Operating income  
   

0.0 
   2.7 

   2.1 
   1.9 

   0.9 
   

Net income  
   

1.1 
   2.6 

   1.0 
   0.7 

   0.1 
   

                              
Net income per share - diluted  

   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.15 

   $ 0.06 
   $ 0.05 

   $ 0.01 
   

Weighted average common shares  
   

18,476,486 
   17,826,953 

   17,198,648 
   15,129,593 

   9,134,414 
   

                              
Balance Sheet Data  

                            
Net working capital  

   

$ 7.9 
   $ 2.0 

   $ 2.0 
   $ 0.8 

   $ 0.8 
   

Total assets  
   

36.6 
   31.8 

   31.7 
   30.3 

   26.1 
   

Long-term debt  
   

3.1 
   4.1 

   8.7 
   9.0 

   10.7 
   

Shareholders’  equity  
   

25.1 
   20.7 

   16.8 
   14.3 

   11.3 
   



   
Fiscal 2003 results were the fifth straight year of profitability and increased revenue for the Company.  The Company’s T.G.I. Friday’s® 

brand continues its strong revenue growth, particularly in the mass, vending and convenience store channels, and two new items for the brand, 
Mozzarella Sticks and Onion Rings, are performing well initially.  
   

The introduction of the Crunch Toons® brand during fiscal 2003 represented true product innovation for the industry and was 
enthusiastically received by retailers.  The Company invested significantly in consumer and trade marketing programs to support its launch 
during 2003.  The Company expected its fourth-quarter television advertising and the release of a major motion picture to provide momentum 
for the brand through increased consumer trial and awareness.  However, consumer response to these fourth-quarter marketing activities fell far 
short of our expectations.  
   

The Company’s 2004 goals reflect significantly improved profitability and continued revenue growth.  The Company expects to deliver 
significantly improved profitability as a result of increased revenue, improved operating efficiencies, and the absence of introductory marketing 
expenses for the Crunch Toons® brand.  We also intend to make investments to support continued growth of the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand, as 
well as consumer research, product development and market testing of new brand concepts.  
   

The Company’s key revenue priority for 2004 is to deliver continued strong revenue growth from T.G.I. Friday’s® brand snacks by 
expanding distribution particularly in the mass merchandiser, convenience store and grocery channels.  The Company also plans to evaluate 
packaging, pricing and promotional strategies for the Crunch Toons® brand.  During the first quarter of 2004, a new character and product 
flavor, Scooby Doo™ BBQ, will be introduced.  The Company plans to proceed cautiously with its investments in the Crunch Toons® brand 
and moderate its revenue expectations accordingly.  There can be no assurances that the brand will be successful.  Due to the February 2004 
discontinuation of a product line not manufactured by the Company, the distributed products segment is expected to generate approximately 
50% less revenue.  This will allow the Company to increase its focus on growing both the Poore Brothers® and T.G.I. Friday’s® brands in its 
home market.  
   

In connection with the implementation of the Company’s business strategy, the Company may incur additional operating losses in the future 
and is likely to require future debt or equity financings (particularly in connection with future strategic acquisitions).  Expenditures relating to 
acquisition-related integration costs, trade and consumer marketing programs and new product development may adversely affect operating 
expenses and consequently may adversely affect operating and net income.  These types of expenditures are expensed for accounting purposes 
as incurred, while revenue generated from the result of such investments may benefit future periods.  The Company currently has no material 
consumer marketing or capital expenditure commitments.  Management believes that cash flow from operations, during the next twelve 
months, along with available working capital and borrowing facilities, should enable the Company to meet its operating cash requirements 
through 2004.  The belief is based on current operating plans and certain assumptions, including those relating to the Company’s future revenue 
levels and expenditures, industry and general economic conditions and other conditions.  If any of these factors change, the Company may 
require future debt or equity financings to meet its business requirements.  There can be no assurance that any required financings will be 
available or, if available, on terms attractive to the Company.  
   
Results of Operations  
   

The following discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting the consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity and 
capital resources of the Company.  This discussion should be read in conjunction with Item 8: “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” 
and the “Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Statements” on page 4.  
   

Significant changes to the Company’s business mix and certain events that have been recorded over the last three years affect the 
comparisons of fiscal 2003, 2002, and 2001 operations.  Consequently, comparative results are more difficult to analyze and explain.  Where 
practicable, this discussion addresses not only the financial results as reported, but also the key results and factors affecting the Company’s on-
going business.  
   

In 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a 
Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products,” (EITF Issue No. 01-9).  EITF Issue No. 01-9 addresses the accounting for certain 
consideration given by a vendor to a customer and provides guidance on the recognition, measurement and income statement classification for 
sales incentives.  In general, the guidance requires that consideration from a vendor to a retailer be recorded as a reduction in revenue unless 
certain criteria are met.  The Company adopted the provisions of the EITF Issue No. 01-9 effective in the first quarter of 2002 and as a result, 
costs previously recorded as expense are now recorded and reflected as reductions in revenue.   The Company was also required to reclassify 
amounts in prior periods in order to conform to the revised presentation of these costs if practicable.  As a result of adopting EITF Issue No. 
01-9, the Company reduced both net revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses in 2001 by $3,761,072.  There was no change to 
the 2001 previously reported net income as a result of this change.  

   
18  

 



   
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed the fiscal year from the twelve calendar months ending on December 31 each year to the 

52-week period ending on the last Saturday occurring in the month of December of each calendar year.  Accordingly, fiscal 2003 commenced 
December 29, 2002 and ended December 27, 2003.  

   
Year ended December 27, 2003 compared to the year ended December 28, 2002  

   

   
For the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, net revenue increased 12% to $66.4 million, compared with revenue of $59.3 million for the 

previous fiscal year.  The Company’s revenue increased in the manufactured products segment as a result of growth in the T.G.I. Friday’s® 
brand salted snacks.  Overall, T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks revenue was 13% higher than in 2002, accounting for approximately 61% 
of the Company’s net revenue for the year.  The Company’s Crunch Toons® brand snacks contributed $3.5 million in net revenue during the 
year.  The growth from these brands was partially offset by anticipated lower shipments of Tato Skins® brand snacks in the vending channel 
which resulted from our deliberate efforts to cannibalize the brand with T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, and by slightly lower revenue 
from private label potato chips.  The Company’s batch-fried kettle chip brands were flat versus 2002 and the distributed products segment rose 
modestly.  

   
Net income for 2003 declined 60% to $1.1 million, or $0.06 per basic and diluted share, compared with net income of $2.6 million, or $0.16 

per basic and $0.15 per diluted share, in the prior-year period.  As expected, net income was impacted significantly in fiscal 2003 by 
approximately $3.5 million in planned introductory consumer marketing programs, such as national television advertising, as well as other 
costs associated with the launch of the Crunch Toons® brand.  

   
Gross profit for 2003 increased to $13.3 million, or 20% of net revenue, compared to $11.3 million, or 19% of net revenue, in 2002 due to 

the revenue increase, improved manufacturing efficiencies and despite a $1.0 million pretax impairment write-down of idle packaging 
equipment during 2003.  

   
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $13.3 million in fiscal 2003, up from $8.6 million in 2002, or 20% versus 15% of 

net revenue.  The increase was driven by introductory consumer marketing programs, such as national television advertising, and other costs 
associated with the new Crunch Toons® brand launch.  

   
In fiscal 2003, other income and expense included $1.9 million of pre-tax income from an insurance claim settlement.  
   
In fiscal 2002, the Company benefited from the reversal of a deferred tax valuation allowance of approximately $1.2 million related to the 

Company’s net operating loss carryforward.  
   
Year ended December 28, 2002 compared to the year ended December 31, 2001  

   

   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

Difference  
   

(dollars in millions)  
   

$  
   

% of Rev  
   

$  
   

% of Rev  
   

$  
   

%  
   

Net revenues  
   

$ 66.4 
   100.0 %  $ 59.3 

   100.0 %  $ 7.1 
   12.0 %  

Cost of revenues  
   

53.1 
   79.9 %  48.0 

   80.9 %  5.1 
   10.5 %  

Gross profit  
   

13.3 
   20.1 %  11.3 

   19.1 %  2.0 
   17.7 %  

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses  

   

13.3 
   20.0 %  8.6 

   14.6 %  4.7 
   53.9 %  

Operating income  
   

0.0 
   0.0 %  2.7 

   4.5 %  (2.7 )  (99.0 )%  
                                    
Insurance claim settlement 

income, net  
   

1.9 
   2.9 %  0.3 

   0.4 %  1.6 
   639.8 %  

Interest expense, net  
   

(0.2 )  (0.4 )%  (0.5 )  (0.9 )%  0.3 
   53 %  

Income before income taxes  
   

1.7 
   2.6 %  2.4 

   4.0 %  (0.7 )  (29.2 )%  
Income tax benefit (provision)  

   

(0.6 )  (1.0 )%  0.2 
   0.4 %  (0.8 )  (364.3 )%  

Net income  
   

$ 1.1 
   1.6 %  $ 2.6 

   4.4 %  $ (1.5 )  (60.1 )%  

      

2002  
   

2001  
   

Difference  
   

      

$  
   

% of Rev  
   

$  
   

% of Rev  
   

$  
   

%  
   

Net revenues  
   

$ 59.3 
   100.0 %  $ 53.9 

   100.0 %  $ 5.4 
   10.1 %  

Cost of revenues  
   

48.0 
   80.9 %  43.0 

   79.7 %  5.0 
   11.8 %  

Gross profit  
   

11.3 
   19.1 %  10.9 

   20.3 %  0.4 
   3.3 %  

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses  

   

8.6 
   14.6 %  8.8 

   16.4 %  (0.2 )  (2.0 )%  
Operating income  

   

2.7 
   4.5 %  2.1 

   4.0 %  0.6 
   25.6 %  

Insurance claim settlement 
income, net  

   

0.3 
   0.4 %  0.0 

   0.0 %  0.3 
   6361.8 %  

Interest expense, net  
   

(0.5 )  (0.9 )%  (1.0 )  (1.9 )%  (0.5 )  (48.2 )%  
Income before income taxes  

   

2.4 
   4.0 %  1.1 

   2.0 %  1.3 
   120.0 %  

Income tax benefit (provision)  
   

0.2 
   0.4 %  0.0 

   0.1 %  0.2 
   664.7 %  

Net income  
   

$ 2.6 
   4.4 %  $ 1.0 

   1.9 %  $ 1.6 
   152.3 %  
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For fiscal 2002, net revenues reached $59.3 million, up 10% from fiscal 2001 net revenues of $53.9 million.  The Company’s revenue 

increase was attributable to growth from T.G.I Friday’s® brand salted snacks, which accounted for over 60% of revenues.  The growth of this 
brand was partially offset by anticipated lower shipments of Tato Skins® and Poore Brothers® brand snacks in the vending channel which 
resulted primarily from our deliberate efforts to cannibalize the Tato skins® brand with T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, as well as by 
lower shipments of private label potato chips.  Revenues from our other batch-fried kettle chip brands and distributed products rose modestly.  
Revenues in fiscal 2001 included approximately $1.2 million from the Company’s Texas merchandising operation which was sold in the fourth 
quarter of 2001.  

   
Net income for 2002 was $2.6 million, or $0.16 per basic and $0.15 per diluted share, an increase of 152% compared to fiscal 2001 net 

income of $1.0 million, or $0.07 per basic and $0.06 per diluted share.  The Company’s improved profitability was principally attributable to 
increased revenue and improved operating efficiencies, which also allowed the Company to significantly increase promotional spending to 
support continued growth, particularly for T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks.  In addition, the Company recorded an income tax credit of 
$242,837 in fiscal 2002 compared to an income tax provision of $43,000 in fiscal 2001.  The change primarily reflects the income tax benefit 
of a deferred tax valuation allowance reversal in the third quarter of 2002.  

   
Manufacturing efficiencies improved as a result of increased production volumes due to higher revenues, and gross profit increased 3% to 

$11.3 million, or 19% of net revenue, despite the higher promotional spending.  
   
Profits were also positively affected by both lower selling, general and administrative expenses and lower interest expense.  Selling, general 

and administrative expenses declined 2% to $8.6 million, or 15% of net revenue, despite higher revenues due to tight spending controls and no 
intangibles amortization expense as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002.  Goodwill and trademark amortization expense was 
$652,000 in 2001.  Interest expense declined 48% to $0.5 million due to reduced indebtedness, improved working capital management and 
lower interest rates.  
   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

Net working capital was $7.9 million (a current ratio of 2.2:1), $2.0 million (a current ratio of 1.3:1) and $2.0 million (a current ratio of 
1.3:1) at December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively.  For the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, the 
Company generated cash flow of $2.0 million from operating activities, principally from income, depreciation expense and the write-down of 
equipment offset by accounts receivable and other assets and liabilities, invested $1.1 million in new equipment, made $1.1 million in 
payments on long-term debt and received $2.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock.  For the fiscal year ended December 28, 
2002, the Company generated cash flow of $5.8 million from operating activities, principally from operating income and an increase in accrued 
liabilities, invested $0.6 million in new equipment, and made $5.4 million in payments on long-term debt.  For the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, the Company generated cash flow of $2.1 million from operating activities, principally from operating income, invested $2.7 million 
in new equipment, and made $0.9 million in net payments on long-term debt.  
   

On October 7, 1999, the Company signed a Credit Agreement with U.S. Bancorp (the “U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement”).  In April 2001, 
the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement was amended to increase the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit from $3.0 million to $5.0 million, establish a 
$0.5 million capital expenditure line of credit (the CapEx Term Loan”), extend the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit maturity date from October 
2002 to October 31, 2003, and modify certain financial covenants.  In June 2002, the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement was amended to extend 
the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit maturity date from October 31, 2003 to October 31, 2005 and modify certain financial covenants.  Effective 
September 27, 2003, the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement was amended to modify the capital expenditure limit for 2003, increasing it to $1.5 
million.  
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The U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement is secured by accounts receivable, inventories, equipment and general intangibles.  Borrowings under 

the line of credit are limited to 80% of eligible receivables and up to 60% of eligible inventories.  At December 27, 2003, the Company had a 
borrowing base of approximately $3.7 million under the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit.  The U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement requires the 
Company to be in compliance with certain financial performance criteria, including a minimum annual operating results ratio, a minimum 
tangible capital base and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.  At December 27, 2003, the Company was in compliance with all of the 
financial covenants.  Management believes that the fulfillment of the Company’s plans and objectives will enable the Company to attain a 
sufficient level of profitability to remain in compliance with these financial covenants. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company 
will attain any such profitability and remain in compliance.  Any acceleration under the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement prior to the scheduled 
maturity of the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit or the U.S. Bancorp Term Loans could have a material adverse effect upon the Company.  As of 
December 27, 2003, there was no outstanding balance on the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit and approximately $2.3 million on the U.S. Bancorp 
Term Loan A.  

   
The Company’s Goodyear, Arizona manufacturing, distribution and headquarters facility is subject to a $1.8 million mortgage loan from 

Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, bears interest at 9.03% per annum and is secured by the building and the land on which it is 
located.  The loan matures on July 1, 2012; however monthly principal and interest installments of $18,425 are determined based on a twenty-
year amortization period.  

   
At December 31, 2001, the Company had outstanding a 9% Convertible Debenture due July 1, 2002 in the principal amount of $427,656 

held by Wells Fargo Small Business Investment Company, Inc. (“Wells Fargo SBIC”).  The 9% Convertible Debenture was secured by land, 
building, equipment and intangibles.  Interest on the 9% Convertible Debenture was paid by the Company on a monthly basis.  Monthly 
principal payments of approximately $5,000 were required to be made by the Company on the Wells Fargo SBIC 9% Convertible Debenture 
through June 2002 and the remaining balance was due on July 1, 2002.  In June 2002, Wells Fargo SBIC converted its 9% Convertible 
Debenture holdings into 401,497 shares of Common Stock.  

   
During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company received $2.0 million, $627,000 and $1.3 million of proceeds from the issuance of common 

stock.  Proceeds in 2003 and 2002 were primarily due to the exercise of stock options.  
   
On December 27, 2001, the Company completed the sale of 586,855 shares of Common Stock at an offering price of $2.13 per share to 

BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC, a fund managed by Renaissance Capital, in a private placement transaction.  The net proceeds of the 
transaction were utilized by the Company for general corporate purposes and to reduce the Company’s outstanding indebtedness.  The 
Company has granted BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC both demand and piggyback registration rights with respect to the shares of 
Common Stock purchased in the offering.  

   
At December 27, 2003, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward available for federal income taxes of approximately $4.7 

million.  The Company’s accumulated net operating loss carryforward will begin to expire in varying amounts between 2010 and 2018.  
   
Contractual Obligations  
   

The following table outlines the Company’s future contractual financial obligations as of December 27, 2003, due by period:  
   

   
For information regarding the Company’s long-term debt, please read “Liquidity and Capital Resources” above and Note 6 in Item 8.  
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Total  
   

Less than 1  
Year  

   

1 – 3 Years  
   

3 – 5 Years  
   

More than 5  
Years  

  

Long-term debt  
   

$ 4,071,956 
   $ 932,155 

   $ 1,458,369 
   $ 109,297 

   $ 1,572,135 
  

Operating leases  
   

8,778,167 
   1,562,869 

   2,994,569 
   1,460,978 

   2,759,751 
  

Other cash obligations  
   

6,719,000 
   1,432,400 

   2,812,800 
   2,473,800 

   —
  

Total contractual cash obligations  
   

$ 19,569,123 
   $ 3,927,424 

   $ 7,265,738 
   $ 4,044,075 

   $ 4,331,886 
  



   
The Company has entered into a variety of operating leases for equipment and facilities.  For information regarding the Company’s facility 

leases, please read “Item 2:  Properties” and Note 7 in Item 8.  
   
“Other cash obligations” in the table above consists of (i) minimum commitments regarding third party warehouse operations services over 

five years and (ii) remaining minimum royalty payments due licensors pursuant to brand licensing agreements discussed in “Item 1: Business” 
under the “Patents and Trademarks” section.  

   
The Company currently has no material marketing or capital expenditure commitments.  

   
Inflation and Seasonality  
   

While inflation has not had a significant effect on operations in the last year, management recognizes that inflationary pressures may have 
an adverse effect on the Company as a result of higher asset replacement costs and related depreciation and higher material costs.  Additionally, 
the Company may be subject to seasonal price increases for raw materials.  The Company attempts to minimize the fluctuation in seasonal 
costs by entering into purchase commitments in advance, which have the effect of smoothing out price volatility. The Company will attempt to 
minimize overall price inflation, if any, through increased sales prices and productivity improvements.  

   
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
   

In December 2001, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued an advisory requesting that all registrants describe their three to five 
most “critical accounting policies”.  The Securities and Exchange Commission indicated that a “critical accounting policy” is one which is both 
important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex 
judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.  The Company believes that 
the following accounting policies fit this definition:  

   
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.  The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the 
inability of its customers to make required payments.  If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting 
in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.  The allowance for doubtful accounts was 
$347,000 and $409,000 at December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, respectively.  
   
Inventories.   The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.  The Company identifies slow moving 
or obsolete inventories and estimates appropriate loss provisions related thereto.  Historically, these loss provisions have not been 
significant; however, if actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs 
may be required.  
   
Goodwill and Trademarks.   Goodwill and trademarks are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators 
arise.  Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment between the annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that more-
likely-than-not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.  Intangible assets with indefinite lives are required to be 
tested for impairment between the annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change indicating that the asset might be impaired.  The 
Company believes at this time that the carrying values continue to be appropriate.  
   
Advertising and Promotional Expenses.   The Company expenses production costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes place, 
except for cooperative advertising costs which are expensed when the related sales are recognized.  Costs associated with obtaining shelf 
space (i.e. “slotting fees”) are expensed in the period in which such costs are incurred by the Company.  Anytime the Company offers 
consideration (cash or credit) as a trade advertising or promotion allowance to a purchaser of products at any point along the distribution 
chain, the amount is accrued and recorded as a reduction in revenue.  Any marketing programs that deal directly with the consumer are 
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.  
   
Income Taxes.   The Company has been profitable since 1999; however, it experienced significant net losses in prior fiscal years resulting in 
a net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforward for federal income tax purposes of approximately $4.7 million at December 27, 2003.  Generally 
accepted accounting principles require that the Company record a valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset associated with this 
NOL if it is “more likely than not” that the Company will not be able to utilize it to offset future taxes.  During the third quarter of 2002, the 
Company concluded that it was more likely than not  
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that its deferred tax asset at that time would be realized and also began providing for income taxes at a rate equal to the combined federal and 
state effective rates, which approximated 38% under current tax rates, rather than the 7.5% rate previously being used to record a tax provision 
for only certain state income taxes.  Subsequent revisions to the estimated net realizable value of the deferred tax asset could cause the 
provision for income taxes to vary significantly from period to period, although the cash tax payments will remain unaffected until the benefit 
of the NOL is utilized.  

   
The above listing is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of the Company’s accounting policies.  In many cases the accounting 

treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by generally accepted accounting principles, with no need for management’s 
judgment in their application.  See the Company’s audited financial statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
which contain accounting policies and other disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  
   
New Accounting Pronouncements  
   

In January 2003, the FASB issued interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – An Interpretation of 
Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) No. 51.”  This interpretation was subsequently revised by FIN 46 (Revised 2003) in December 2003.  
This revised interpretation states that consolidation of variable interest entities will be required by the primary beneficiary if the entities do not 
effectively disperse risks among the parties involved.  The requirements are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003 for 
special-purpose entities and for all other types of entities for periods ending after March 31, 2004.  We have no variable interest entities and do 
not believe that FIN No, 46 (R) will impact our future financial results.  
   

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and 
Equity.”  This Statement requires, among other things, the classification of certain financial instruments previously classified within the equity 
section of the balance sheet, to be included in liabilities.  This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after 
May 31, 2003 and June 15, 2003 for all other instruments.  The adoption of this Statement had no impact on our financial position or results of 
operations.  
   
Item 7A . Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk  
   

The principal market risks to which the Company is exposed that may adversely impact the Company’s results of operations and financial 
position are changes in certain raw material prices and interest rates.  The Company has no market risk sensitive instruments held for trading 
purposes.  

   
Raw materials used by the Company are exposed to the impact of changing commodity prices.  The Company’s most significant raw 

material requirements include potatoes, potato flakes, wheat flour, corn and oil.  The Company attempts to minimize the effect of future price 
fluctuations related to the purchase of raw materials primarily through forward purchasing to cover future manufacturing requirements, 
generally for periods from one to 12 months.  Futures contracts are not used in combination with the forward purchasing of these raw 
materials.  The Company’s procurement practices are intended to reduce the risk of future price increases, but also may potentially limit the 
ability to benefit from possible price decreases.  

   
The Company also has interest rate risk with respect to interest expense on variable rate debt, with rates based upon changes in the prime 

rate.  Therefore, the Company has an exposure to changes in those rates.  At December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, the Company had 
$2.3 million and $3.2 million of variable rate debt outstanding.  A hypothetical 10% adverse change in weighted average interest rates during 
fiscal 2003 and 2002 would have had an unfavorable impact of $0.02 million and $0.03 million respectively, on both the Company’s net 
earnings and cash flows.  

   
The Company’s primary concentration of credit risk is related to certain trade accounts receivable.  In the normal course of business, the 

Company extends unsecured credit to its customers.  In 2003 and 2002, substantially all of the Company’s customers were distributors or 
retailers whose sales were concentrated in the grocery industry, throughout the United States.  The Company investigates a customer’s credit 
worthiness before extending credit.  At December 27, 2003, two customers accounted for approximately 28% of the Company’s accounts 
receivable.  
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Item 8 .  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  

   

   
Item 9 .  Changes in and Disagreements with Auditors on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  
   

None.  
   
Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures.  
   

(a)           Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated 
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.  Based on that 
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of 
the end of the period covered by this report have been designed and are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the 
information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  

   
(b)           Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

   
No change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that 

has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially effect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  
   

PART III  
   
Item 10 .                             Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  
   

The information regarding Directors and Executive Officers appearing under the headings “Proposal 1: Election of Directors,” “Executive 
Officers,” “Corporate Governance” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” of the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement 
is incorporated by reference in this section.  
   
Item 11 .                             Executive Compensation  
   

The information appearing under the headings “Compensation of Directors,” “Employment Agreements,” “Compensation Committee 
Report on Executive Compensation,” and “Executive Compensation” of the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference.  
   
Item 12 .                             Security Ownership of Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  
   

The information appearing in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
and Management” is incorporated by reference.  
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Reports  
   

Independent Auditors Reports with respect to financial statements for the years ended December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002  
   

Report of Independent Public Accountants with respect to the year ended December 31, 2001  
   

      
Financial Statements  

   

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002  
   

Consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001  
   

Consolidated statements of shareholders’  equity for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001  
   

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001  
   

Notes to consolidated financial statements  
   



   
Item 13 .                             Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  
   

The information appearing in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” is 
incorporated by reference.  
   
Item 14 .                             Principal Accountant Fees and Services  
   

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is contained in the Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by 
reference.  

   
PART IV  

   
Item 15 .                             Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K  
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The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:  
      
(a)1.  Financial Statements  
      
   

Reports  
   

Report of independent auditors with respect to financial statements for the years ended December 27, 2003 and 
December 28, 2002  

   

Report of independent public accountants with respect to the year ended December 31, 2001  
   

Financial Statements  
   

Consolidated balance sheets as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002  
   

Consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 
2001  

   

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and 
December 31, 2001  

   

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 
2001  

   

Notes to consolidated financial statements  
      
(a)2.  Financial Schedules  
      
   

Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because 
information required is included in the Company’s financial statements or notes thereto.  

      
(a)3.  Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:  

Exhibit  
Number  

   

Description  
         
3.1 —  

   

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February 23, 1995. (14) 
3.2 —  

   

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware on March 3, 1995. (14)  

3.3 —  
   

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware on October 7, 1999. (14)  

3.4 —  
   

By-Laws of the Company. (1)  
4.1 —  

   

Specimen Certificate for shares of Common Stock. (1)  
4.2 —  

   

Convertible Debenture Loan Agreement dated May 31, 1995 by and among the Company (and certain of its subsidiaries), 
Renaissance Capital and Wells Fargo. (1)  

4.3 —  
   

9.00% Convertible Debenture dated May 31, 1995, issued by the Company to Renaissance Capital. (1)  
4.4 —  

   

Warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of Common Stock, issued by the Company to Wabash Foods on October 7, 1999. (2)  
4.5 —  

   

Form of Revolving Note, Term Note A and Term Note B issued by the Company to U.S. Bancorp Republic Commercial 
Finance, Inc. on October 7, 1999. (4)  
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4.6 —  
   

Warrant to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock, issued by the Company to U.S. Bancorp Republic Commercial Finance, 
Inc. on October 7, 1999. (4)  

10.1*—  
   

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreements dated August 1, 1995, August 31, 1995 and February 29, 1996, by and between the 
Company and Mark S. Howells. (1)  

10.2*—  
   

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreements dated August 1, 1995, August 31, 1995 and February 29, 1996, by and between the 
Company and Jeffrey J. Puglisi. (1)  

10.3* —  
   

Letter Agreement dated November 5, 1996, amending the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated February 29, 1996, by 
and between the Company and Mark S. Howells. (1)  

10.4*—  
   

Letter Agreement dated November 5, 1996, amending the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated February 29, 1996, by 
and between the Company and Jeffrey J. Puglisi. (1)  

10.5*—  
   

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated as of October 22, 1996, by and between the Company and Mark S. Howells. (1)  
10.6*—  

   

Letter Agreement dated as of November 5, 1996, by and between the Company and Jeffrey J. Puglisi. (1)  
10.7*—  

   

Letter Agreement dated November 1, 1996, by and among the Company, Mark S. Howells, Jeffrey J. Puglisi, David J. Brennan 
and Parris H. Holmes, Jr. (1)  

10.8*—  
   

Letter Agreement dated December 4, 1996, by and between the Company and Jeffrey J. Puglisi, relating to stock options. (1)  
10.9*—  

   

Letter Agreement dated December 4, 1996, by and between the Company and Mark S. Howells, relating to stock options. (1)  
10.10 —  

   

Fixed Rate Note dated June 4, 1997, by and between La Cometa Properties, Inc. and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New 
York. (3)  

10.11 —  
   

Deed of Trust and Security Agreement dated June 4, 1997, by and between La Cometa Properties, Inc. and Morgan Guaranty 
Trust Company of New York. (3)  

10.12 —  
   

Guaranty Agreement dated June 4, 1997, by and between the Company and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York.  (3)  
10.13 —  

   

Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Limited Liability Company Membership Interests dated as of August 16, 1999, by and 
between Pate Foods Corporation, Wabash Foods and the Company. (2)  

10.14 —  
   

Letter Agreement dated July 30, 1999 by and between the Company and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated. (5)  
10.15*—  

   

Poore Brothers, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended. (4)  
10.16 —  

   

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 3, 1999, by and between the Company and U.S. Bancorp Republic Commercial Finance, 
Inc. (4)  

10.17 —  
   

Security Agreement, dated as of October 3, 1999, by and between the Company and U.S. Bancorp Republic Commercial 
Finance, Inc. (4)  

10.18 —  
   

Commercial Lease, dated May 1, 1998, by and between Wabash Foods, LLC and American Pacific Financial Corporation. (4)  
10.19 —  

   

Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of Assets of Boulder Potato Company dated as of June 8, 2000, by and among the 
Company, the shareholders of Boulder Potato Company, and Boulder Potato Company. (6)  

10.20 —  
   

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 8, 2000, by and between Boulder Potato Company and the Company. (6)  
10.21 —  

   

First Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2000, to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 3, 1999, by and between the Company 
and U.S. Bancorp. (6)  

10.22 —  
   

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement (dated March 2, 2001), by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association. (7)  

10.23 —  
   

License Agreement, dated April 3, 2000, by and between the Company and TGI Friday’s Inc.  (Certain portions of this exhibit 
have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.) (7)  

10.24 —  
   

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement (dated March 30, 2001), by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association. (8)  

10.25 —  

   

First Amendment to License Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2001, by and between the Company and TGI Friday’s Inc. (certain 
portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidentiality treatment request filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission). (9)  

10.26 —  

   

Share Purchase Agreement, dated December 27, 2001, by and between the Company and BFS US Special Opportunities Trust 
PLC.  (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on January 10, 2002.)  

10.27 —  
   

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement (dated as of June 29, 2002), by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association.  (10)  

10.28 —  

   

License Agreement, dated November 20, 2002, by and between the Company and Warner Bros., a division of Time Warner 
Entertainment Company, L.P. (Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.) (11)  



   

   

   
(b)          Current Reports on Form 8-K.  
   

(1)           Current Report on Form 8-K, announcing the Company’s earnings for the fiscal quarter ended September 27, 2003 
(filed with the Commission on October 23, 2003).  

   
(2)           Current Report on Form 8-K, announcing the introduction of Scooby-Doo™ Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks in the 

first quarter of 2004 (filed with the Commission on November 17, 2003).  
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10.29 —  

   

License Agreement, dated November 20, 2002, by and between the Company and Warner Bros., a division of Time Warner 
Entertainment Company, L.P.  (Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.) (11)  

10.30 —  

   

License Agreement, dated July 19, 2000, by and between the Company and M.J. Quinlan & Associates Pty. Limited (Certain 
portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.) (11)  

10.31*—  
   

Executive Employment Agreement entered into as of January 5, 2003, by and between Poore Brothers, Inc. and Eric J. Kufel 
(12)  

10.32*—  
   

Executive Employment Agreement entered into as of January 5, 2003, by and between Poore Brothers, Inc. and Thomas W. 
Freeze (12)  

10.33*—  
   

Executive Employment Agreement entered into as of January 5, 2003, by and between Poore Brothers, Inc. and Glen E. Flook 
(12)  

10.34 —  
   

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement (dated as of September 27, 2003) by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association (13)  

10.35 —  

   

License Agreement, dated November 10, 2003, by and between the Company and Warner Bros. Consumer Products Inc. (Certain 
portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.) (14)  

10.36 —  
   

Commercial Lease Agreement, dated May 22, 2003, by and between the Company and Westland Park LLC (14)  
10.37 —  

   

Warehouse Services Agreement, dated June 30, 2003, by and between the Company and Customized Distribution Services, Inc. 
(14)  

21.1 —  
   

List of Subsidiaries of the Company. (14)  
23.1 —  

   

Consent of Deloitte & Touche, LLP. (14)  
23.2 —  

   

Notice Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP (14)  
31.1 —  

   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15(d)-14(a) (14)  
31.2 —  

   

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15(d)-14(a) (14)  
32.1 —  

   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (14)  

*  Compensation plans or arrangements in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.  
(1)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2, Registration No. 333-5594-LA.  
(2)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission on September 15, 1999.  
(3)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 1997.  
(4)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.  
(5)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended September 30, 1999.  
(6)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.  
(7)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended March 31, 2001.  
(8)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.  
(9)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.  
(10)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 28, 2002.  
(11)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.  
(12)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28, 2003.  
(13)  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2003.  
(14)  Filed herewith.  



   
SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant, in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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Dated:   March 23, 2004  POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
      
   

By:  /s/  Eric J. Kufel  
   

   

Eric J. Kufel  
   

   

President and Chief Executive Officer  
   

Signature  
   

Title  
   

Date  
               

/s/   Eric J. Kufel  
   

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
Eric J. Kufel  

   

(Principal Executive Officer)  
   

   

               
/s/   Thomas W. Freeze  

   

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,  
   

March 23, 2004  
Thomas W. Freeze  

   

Treasurer, Secretary, and Director  
   

   

   

   

(Principal Financial Officer and  
   

   

   

   

Principal Accounting Officer)  
   

   

               
/s/   Mark S. Howells  

   

Chairman, Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
Mark S. Howells  

   

   

   

   

               
/s/   F. Phillips Giltner, III  

   

Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
F. Phillips Giltner, III  

   

   

   

   

               
/s/   James W. Myers  

   

Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
James W. Myers  

   

   

   

   

               
/s/   Robert C. Pearson  

   

Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
Robert C. Pearson  

   

   

   

   

               
/s/   Aaron M. Shenkman  

   

Director  
   

March 23, 2004  
Aaron M. Shenkman  

   

   

   

   



   
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

   
Shareholders and Board of  
Directors of Poore Brothers, Inc. and Subsidiaries:  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Poore Brothers, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 27, 
2003 and December 28, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the two years 
in the period ended December 27, 2003.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  The Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 
2001 and for the year ended December 31, 2001, before the reclassifications described in Note 1 and before the inclusion of the disclosures 
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations.  Those auditors 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated February 11, 2002.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Poore Brothers, Inc. and 
subsidiaries as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the two years in the 
period ended December 27, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
   
As discussed above, the financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who have 
ceased operations.  As described in Note 1, those financial statements have been reclassified to give effect to Emerging Issues Task Force 
(EITF) Issue No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or Reseller of the Vendor’s Products, which was 
adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002.  We audited the reclassifications described in Note 1 that were applied to conform the 2001 
financial statements to the comparative presentation required by EITF Issue 01-9.  Our audit procedures with respect to the 2001 disclosures in 
Note 1 included (i) comparing the amounts shown as customer incentive costs in Note 1 to underlying accounting analysis obtained from 
management, and (2) on a test basis, comparing the amounts comprising the customer incentive costs obtained from management to 
independent supporting documentation, and (3) testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying analysis.  In our opinion, such 
reclassifications have been properly applied.  However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial 
statements of the Company other than with respect to such reclassifications and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any form of 
assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.  
   
As described in Note 2, these financial statements have been revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 
2002.  Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 2 with respect to 2001 included (1) comparing the previously reported net 
income to the previously issued financial statements and the adjustments to reported net income representing amortization expense (including 
any related tax effects) recognized in those periods related to goodwill and intangible assets that are no longer being amortized, as a result of 
initially applying SFAS 142 (including any related tax effects) to the Company’s underlying analysis obtained from management, and (2) 
testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted net income to reported net income and the related earnings-per-share 
amounts.  In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note 2 are appropriate.  However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any 
procedures to the 2001 financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such disclosures and, accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.  
   
   
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
   
March 19, 2004  
Phoenix, Arizona  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS  

   
NOTE:    The report of Arthur Andersen LLP presented below is a copy of a previously issued Arthur Andersen LLP report. This 
report has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP nor has Arthur Andersen LLP provided a consent to the inclusion of its report in 
this Form 10-K.  
   

To Poore Brothers, Inc.  
   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of POORE BROTHERS, INC. (a Delaware corporation) and SUBSIDIARIES 
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years 
then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.  
   
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
   
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Poore Brothers, Inc. 
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  
   
   
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP  
   
Phoenix, Arizona,  
February 11, 2002  
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POORE BROTHERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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December 27,  
2003  

   

December 28,  
2002  

   

ASSETS  
             

Current assets:  
             

Cash and cash equivalents  
   

$ 3,239,570 
   $ 1,395,187 

   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $347,000 in 2003 and $409,000 in 2002  

   

5,714,106 
   4,427,531 

   
Inventories  

   

2,400,503 
   1,760,401 

   
Deferred income tax asset  

   

2,254,996 
   421,942 

   
Other current assets  

   

889,003 
   803,665 

   
Total current assets  

   

14,498,178 
   8,808,726 

   
                
Property and equipment, net  

   

11,755,096 
   13,009,948 

   
Goodwill  

   

5,986,252 
   5,565,687 

   
Trademarks  

   

4,207,032 
   4,207,032 

   
Other assets, net  

   

133,762 
   165,233 

   
Total assets  

   

$ 36,580,320 
   $ 31,756,626 

   
                

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY  
             

Current liabilities:  
             

Accounts payable  
   

$ 3,012,059 
   $ 2,937,602 

   
Accrued liabilities  

   

2,703,040 
   2,806,149 

   
Current portion of long-term debt  

   

932,155 
   1,105,004 

   
Total current liabilities  

   

6,647,254 
   6,848,755 

   
                
Long-term debt, less current portion  

   

3,139,801 
   4,105,118 

   
Deferred income tax liability  

   

1,731,625 
   80,512 

   
Total liabilities  

   

11,518,680 
   11,034,385 

   
                
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)  

             
                
Shareholders’  equity:  

             
Preferred stock, $100 par value; 50,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding at 

December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002  
   

—
   —

   
Common stock, $.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 18,581,788 and 16,729,911 

shares issued and outstanding at December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, respectively  
   

185,817 
   167,299 

   
Additional paid-in capital  

   

25,673,752 
   22,404,835 

   
Accumulated deficit  

   

(797,929 )  (1,849,893 )  
Total shareholders’ equity  

   

25,061,640 
   20,722,241 

   
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  

   

$ 36,580,320 
   $ 31,756,626 

   



   
POORE BROTHERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Years Ended  
   

      

December 27,  
2003  

   

December 28,  
2002  

   

December 31,  
2001  

   

                    
Net revenues  

   

$ 66,417,836 
   $ 59,348,471 

   $ 53,904,816 
   

                    
Cost of revenues  

   

52,068,963 
   48,036,462 

   42,958,822 
   

                    
Write-down of equipment  

   

1,030,352 
   —

   —
   

                    
Gross profit  

   

13,318,521 
   11,312,009 

   10,945,994 
   

                    
Selling, general and administrative expenses  

   

13,290,660 
   8,637,652 

   8,816,627 
   

                    
Operating income  

   

27,861 
   2,674,357 

   2,129,367 
   

                    
Insurance claim settlement income, net  

   

1,918,784 
   259,376 

   4,014 
   

                    
Interest expense, net  

   

(252,820 )  (539,733 )  (1,045,117 ) 
                    

Total other income (expense)  
   

1,665,964 
   (280,357 )  (1,041,103 ) 

                    
Income before income tax benefit (provision)  

   

1,693,825 
   2,394,000 

   1,088,264 
   

                    
Income tax benefit (provision)  

   

(641,861 )  242,837 
   (43,000 ) 

                    
Net income  

   

$ 1,051,964 
   $ 2,636,837 

   $ 1,045,264 
   

                    
Earnings per common share:  

                  
Basic  

   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.16 

   $ 0.07 
   

Diluted  
   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.15 

   $ 0.06 
   

                    
Weighted average number of common shares:  

                  
Basic  

   

17,572,951 
   16,146,081 

   15,050,509 
   

Diluted  
   

18,476,486 
   17,826,953 

   17,198,648 
   



   
POORE BROTHERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital  

   

Accumulated  
Deficit  

   

Total  

  

      

Common Stock  
           

      

Shares  
   

Amount  
           

Balance, December 31, 2000  
   

14,994,765 
   $ 149,947 

   $ 19,677,542 
   $ (5,531,993 )  $ 14,295,496 

  

Exercise of common stock options  
   

76,000 
   760 

   97,810 
   —

   98,570 
  

Issuance of warrants  
   

—
   —

   16,800 
   —

   16,800 
  

Other issuances of common stock  
   

616,753 
   6,168 

   1,383,333 
   —

   1,389,501 
  

Net income  
   

—
   —

   —
   1,045,264 

   1,045,264 
  

Balance, December 31, 2001  
   

15,687,518 
   156,875 

   21,175,485 
   (4,486,729 )  16,845,631 

  

Exercise of common stock options  
   

349,016 
   3,490 

   508,304 
   —

   511,794 
  

Other issuances of common stock  
   

693,377 
   6,934 

   721,044 
   —

   727,978 
  

Net income  
   

—
   —

   —
   2,636,837 

   2,636,837 
  

Balance, December 28, 2002  
   

16,729,911 
   167,299 

   22,404,835 
   (1,849,893 )  20,722,241 

  

Exercise of common stock options, including 
related tax benefit  

   

1,362,633 
   13,626 

   2,810,606 
   —

   2,824,232 
  

Other issuances of common stock  
   

489,244 
   4,892 

   458,311 
   —

   463,203 
  

Net income  
   

—
   —

   —
   1,051,964 

   1,051,964 
  

Balance, December 27, 2003  
   

18,581,788 
   $ 185,817 

   $ 25,673,752 
   $ (797,929 )  $ 25,061,640 

  



   
POORE BROTHERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Years Ended  
   

      

December  
27, 2003  

   

December  
28, 2002  

   

December 31,  
2001  

   

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:  
                  

Net income  
   

$ 1,051,964 
   $ 2,636,837 

   $ 1,045,264 
   

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities:  

                  
Depreciation  

   

1,285,221 
   1,288,333 

   1,237,260 
   

Amortization  
   

31,064 
   33,939 

   694,067 
   

Allowance for doubtful accounts  
   

23,822 
   329,996 

   53,558 
   

Other asset amortization  
   

121,413 
   423,088 

   349,723 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   

641,861 
   (341,430 )  —

   
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options  

   

830,371 
   —

   —
   

Write-down of equipment  
   

1,030,352 
   —

   —
   

(Gain) loss on disposition of fixed assets  
   

(926 )  7,073 
   (167,450 ) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:  
     

   
       

   

Accounts receivable  
   

(1,225,065 )  365,782 
   240,981 

   
Inventories, net of reserve  

   

(725,434 )  (13,045 )  (186,238 ) 
Other assets and liabilities  

   

(1,030,146 )  (794,934 )  (396,916 ) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  

   

(28,652 )  1,906,049 
   (776,807 ) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  
   

2,005,845 
   5,841,688 

   2,093,442 
   

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities:  
                  

Purchase of equipment  
   

(1,120,795 )  (581,087 )  (2,655,535 ) 
Proceeds from disposition of fixed assets  

   

61,000 
   6,006 

   700,000 
   

Net cash (used in) investing activities  
   

(1,059,795 )  (575,081 )  (1,955,535 ) 
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:  

                  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  

   

2,036,499 
   627,494 

   1,313,571 
   

Stock issuance costs  
   

—
   —

   (10,774 ) 
Payments made on long-term debt  

   

(1,138,166 )  (1,954,844 )  (2,404,470 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in working capital line of credit  

   

—
   (3,438,268 )  1,530,410 

   
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  

   

898,333 
   (4,765,618 )  428,738 

   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  

   

1,844,383 
   500,989 

   566,645 
   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  
   

1,395,187 
   894,198 

   327,553 
   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  
   

$ 3,239,570 
   $ 1,395,187 

   $ 894,198 
   

                    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:  

                  
Cash paid during the year for interest  

   

$ 248,587 
   $ 521,420 

   $ 1,055,248 
   

Summary of non-cash investing and financing activities:  
                  

Common Stock issued for acquisition earnout  
   

420,566 
   210,786 

   185,274 
   

Common Stock warrant issued for sales commissions  
   

—
   —

   16,800 
   

Conversion of Convertible Debenture into Common Stock  
   

—
   401,497 

   —
   

Note payable issued for purchase of equipment  
   

—
   —

   538,308 
   



   
POORE BROTHERS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
   

1. Organization, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  
   

The Company, a Delaware corporation, was formed in 1995 as a holding company to acquire a potato chip manufacturing and distribution 
business which had been founded by Donald and James Poore in 1986.  

   
In December 1996, the Company completed an initial public offering of its Common Stock.  In November 1998, the Company acquired the 

business and certain assets (including the Bob’s Texas Style® potato chip brand) of Tejas Snacks, L.P. (“Tejas”), a Texas-based potato chip 
manufacturer.  In October 1999, the Company acquired Wabash Foods, LLC (“Wabash”) including the Tato Skins®, O’Boises®, and 
Pizzarias® trademarks, and assumed all of Wabash Foods’ liabilities.  In June 2000, the Company acquired Boulder Natural Foods, Inc. 
(“Boulder”) and the Boulder Potato Company® brand of totally natural potato chips.  

   
As part of the Boulder acquisition, the Company agreed to a provision that it may be required to issue additional unregistered shares of 

common stock to the seller on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the closing of the acquisition.  All such issuances were 
dependant upon, and were calculated based upon, increases in sales of Boulder products as compared to previous periods.  In 2003, the 
Company was required to issue 93,728 shares valued at $420,566 and increased the goodwill recorded from this acquisition.  In 2002, the 
Company was required to issue 88,864 shares pursuant to this provision, which were valued at $210, 786 and increased the goodwill recorded 
from this acquisition.  In 2001 the Company was required to issue 57,898 shares pursuant to this provision, which were valued at $185, 274 and 
increased the goodwill recorded from this acquisition.  

   
In October 2000, the Company launched its T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks pursuant to a license agreement with TGI Friday’s Inc., 

which expires in 2014.  
   
On December 27, 2001, the Company completed the sale of 586,855 shares of Common Stock at an offering price of $2.13 per share to 

BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC, a fund managed by Renaissance Capital, in a private placement transaction.  
   
In November 2002, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company rights to introduce a new brand of salted snacks featuring 

Looney Tunes™ characters.  The Company launched the new brand nationwide in the summer of 2003 under a multi-year agreement that 
grants the Company exclusive salted snack category brand licensing and promotional rights for Looney Tunes™ characters.  

   
In November 2003, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company exclusive salted snack category brand licensing and 

promotional rights for Scooby-Doo™ to be used in its Crunch Toons® brand salted snacks.  
   
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its fiscal year from the twelve calendar months ending on December 31 each year to the 

52-week period ending on the last Saturday occurring in the month of December of each calendar year.  Accordingly, fiscal 2003 commenced 
December 29, 2002 and ended December 27, 2003.  

   
Business  

   
The Company is engaged in the development, production, marketing and distribution of innovative salted snack food products that are sold 

through grocery retailers, mass merchandisers, club stores, convenience stores and vend distributors across the United States.  Although certain 
of the Company’s subsidiaries have operated for several years, the Company as a whole has a relatively brief operating history.  The Company 
had significant operating losses prior to fiscal 1999.  Successful future operations are subject to certain risks, uncertainties, expenses and 
difficulties frequently encountered in the establishment and growth of a new business in the snack food industry.  The market for salted snack 
foods, such as potato chips, tortilla chips, popcorn and pretzels, is large and intensely competitive.  The industry is dominated by one 
significant competitor and includes many other competitors with greater financial and other resources than the Company.  
   
Principles of Consolidation  

   
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Poore Brothers, Inc. and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries.  All significant 

intercompany amounts and transactions have been eliminated.  
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Use of Estimates  

   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  We routinely 
evaluate our estimates, including those related to accruals for customer programs and incentives, product returns, bad debts, income taxes, 
long-lived assets, inventories and contingencies.  We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
   
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   

At December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, the carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities 
approximate fair values since they are short-term in nature.  The carrying value of the long-term debt approximates fair-value based on the 
borrowing rates currently available to the Company for long-term borrowings with similar terms, except for the mortgage loan with interest at 
9.03%, which has a fair value of approximately $1.4 million at December 27, 2003.  The Company estimates fair values of financial 
instruments by using available market information.  Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of 
fair value.  Accordingly, the estimates may not be indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a current market exchange.  The 
use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.  
   
Inventories  
   

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.  
   
Property and Equipment  
   

Property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Cost includes expenditures for major improvements and replacements.  Maintenance and 
repairs are charged to operations when incurred.  When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related costs and accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the appropriate accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is recognized.  Depreciation expense is computed using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from 2 to 30 years.  
   

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, 
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, we evaluate the recoverability of property and equipment not held for sale 
by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from 
the use of the asset or group of assets and their eventual disposition.  If the undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of 
the asset or group of assets being evaluated, an impairment loss is recorded.  The loss is measured as the difference between the fair value and 
carrying value of the asset or group of assets being evaluated.  Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the 
fair value less cost to sell.  The estimated fair value would be based on the best information available under the circumstances, including prices 
for similar assets or the results of valuation techniques, including the present value of expected future cash flows using a discount rate 
commensurate with the risks involved.  
   
Intangible Assets  
   

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, 
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.  SFAS No. 142 changes the method by which companies recognize intangible assets in purchase 
business combinations and generally requires identifiable intangible assets to be recognized separately from goodwill.  In addition, it eliminates 
the amortization of all existing and newly acquired goodwill on a prospective basis and requires companies to assess goodwill for impairment, 
at least annually, based on the fair value of the reporting unit.  Upon adoption on January 1, 2002, the Company ceased the amortization of 
goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives in accordance with SFAS No. 142.  
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Goodwill is recorded at cost and reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise.  Goodwill 

amortization expense was approximately $321,000 in 2001.  See Note 2.  
   
Trademarks are recorded at cost and are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise.  Amortization 

expense on these trademarks was approximately $331,000 in 2001.  See Note 2.  
   
Revenue Recognition  
   

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the Company recognizes operating revenues upon 
shipment of products to customers when title and risk of loss pass to its customers. Provisions and allowances for sales returns, promotional 
allowances and discounts are also recorded as a reduction of revenues in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

   
All product is shipped with terms FOB-origin and revenue is recognized at the time the shipment leaves the Company’s docks, which is 

when title and risk of loss pass to the customer.  
   

Advertising and Promotion  
   
The Company expenses production costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes place, except for cooperative advertising costs 

which are expensed when the related sales are recognized.  Costs associated with obtaining shelf space (i.e., “slotting fees”) are expensed in the 
period in which such costs are incurred by the Company.  Accrued advertising and promotion, which is included in the current liabilities 
section of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, was $1,157,000 and $946,000 in 2003 and 2002, respectively.  
   
Income Taxes  

   
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial 

statements or income tax returns.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those differences are expected to 
be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the 
enactment date.  
   
Stock Options  

   
The Company’s stock-based compensation plan, described in Note 8, is accounted for under the recognition and measurement provisions of 

APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations.  
   

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by 
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure”.  Accordingly, no compensation cost has been 
recognized for the stock option plan.  Awards under the plan vest over periods ranging from one to three years, depending on the type of 
award.  The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair value based method had been applied to all 
option grants, using the Black-Scholes valuation model, for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001:  

   
37  

 



   
   

   
The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 

weighted-average assumptions:  dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 57%, 44% and 58%; risk-free interest rate of 2.4%, 3.8% and 
3.4%; and expected lives of 3 years for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  Under this method, the weighted average fair value of the options 
granted was $1.80, $1.27 and $1.59 per share in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  
   
Earnings Per Common Share  
   

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding during the period.  Exercises of outstanding stock options or warrants and conversion of convertible debentures are assumed to 
occur for purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share for periods in which their effect would not be anti-dilutive.  Earnings per common 
share was computed as follows for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001:  
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2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Net income as reported  
   

$ 1,051,964 
   $ 2,636,837 

   $ 1,045,264 
   

Deduct:  Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined 
under fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects  

   

(382,380 )  (1,010,139 )  (850,301 )  
Pro forma net income  

   

$ 669,584 
   $ 1,626,698 

   $ 194,963 
   

                     
Net income per share – basic – as reported  

   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.16 

   $ 0.07 
   

Pro forma net income per share – basic  
   

$ 0.04 
   $ 0.10 

   $ 0.01 
   

Net income per share – diluted – as reported  
   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.15 

   $ 0.06 
   

Pro forma net income per share – diluted  
   

$ 0.04 
   $ 0.09 

   $ 0.01 
   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Basic Earnings Per Common Share:  
                  

Net income  
   

$ 1,051,964 
   $ 2,636,837 

   $ 1,045,264 
   

                    
Weighted average number of common shares  

   

17,572,951 
   16,146,081 

   15,050,509 
   

                    
Earnings per common share  

   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.16 

   $ 0.07 
   

                    
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:  

                  
Net income  

   

$ 1,051,964 
   $ 2,636,837 

   $ 1,045,264 
   

                    
Weighted average number of common shares  

   

17,572,951 
   16,146,081 

   15,050,509 
   

Incremental shares from assumed conversions -  
                  

Debentures  
   

—
   120,279 

   —
   

Warrants  
   

325,496 
   476,019 

   690,428 
   

Stock options  
   

578,039 
   1,084,574 

   1,457,711 
   

Adjusted weighted average number of common shares  
   

18,476,486 
   17,826,953 

   17,198,648 
   

                    
Earnings per common share  

   

$ 0.06 
   $ 0.15 

   $ 0.06 
   



   
Options and warrants to purchase 327,500, 950,577 and 653,077 shares of Common Stock outstanding at December 27, 2003, December 

28, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the option and 
warrant exercise prices were greater than the average market price per share of the Common Stock.  For the year ended December 31, 2001 
conversion of the convertible debentures was not assumed, as the effect of the conversion would be anti-dilutive.  
   
New Accounting Pronouncements  
   

In 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a 
Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products,” (EITF Issue No. 01-9).  EITF Issue No. 01-9 addresses the accounting for certain 
consideration given by a vendor to a customer and provides guidance on the recognition, measurement and income statement classification for 
sales incentives.  In general, the guidance requires that consideration from a vendor to a retailer be recorded as a reduction in revenue unless 
certain criteria are met.  The Company adopted the provisions of the EITF Issue No. 01-9 effective in the first quarter of 2002 and as a result, 
costs previously recorded as expense are now recorded and reflected as reductions in revenue.   The Company was also required to reclassify 
amounts in prior periods in order to conform to the revised presentation of these costs if practicable.  As a result of adopting EITF Issue No. 
01-9, the Company reduced both net revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses in 2001 by $3,761,072.  There was no change to 
the 2001 previously reported net income as a result of this change.  

   
In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for 

Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”.  FIN 45 expands the disclosure requirements to be made by a guarantor 
in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued.  The Interpretation also clarifies 
that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the 
guarantee.  The Company does not have and does not anticipate issuing any guarantees which would be required to be recognized as a liability 
under the provisions of FIN 45 and the adoption of this Interpretation did not have an impact on its results of operations or financial position.  
   

In January 2003, the FASB issued interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – An Interpretation of 
Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) No. 51.”  This interpretation was subsequently revised by FIN 46 (Revised 2003) in December 2003.  
This revised interpretation states that consolidation of variable interest entities will be required by the primary beneficiary if the entities do not 
effectively disperse risks among the parties involved.  The requirements are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003 for 
special-purpose entities and for all other types of entities for periods ending after March 31, 2004.  We have no variable interest entities and do 
not believe that FIN No, 46 (R) will impact our future financial results.  

   
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and 

Equity.”  This Statement requires, among other things, the classification of certain financial instruments previously classified within the equity 
section of the balance sheet, to be included in liabilities.  This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after 
May 31, 2003 and June 15, 2003 for all other instruments.  The adoption of this Statement had no impact on our financial position or results of 
operations.  

   
2.               Goodwill and Trademarks:  
   

Goodwill and trademarks relate to the 1998, 1999 and 2000 acquisitions described in Note 1.  Intangibles not subject to amortization 
consisted of the following as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:  

   

   

(1) Additions to goodwill are related to the earn-out payment to the previous owners of Boulder Natural Foods, Inc.  
   

39  

 

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

Goodwill (1)  
   

$ 5,986,252 
   $ 5,565,687 

   
Trademarks  

   

4,207,032 
   4,207,032 

   
   

   

$ 10,193,284 
   

$ 9,772,719 
   



   
In connection with the implementation of SFAS No. 142, effective January 1, 2002, the Company ceased amortizing goodwill and other 

intangible assets with indefinite lives.  The following table shows the pro forma impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 142 for the year ended 
December 31, 2001.  
   

   
3.               Concentrations of Credit Risk:  
   

The Company’s cash is placed with major banks.  The Company, in the normal course of business, maintains balances in excess of Federal 
insurance limits.  
   

The Company’s primary concentration of credit risk is related to certain trade accounts receivable.  In the normal course of business, the 
Company extends unsecured credit to its customers.  In 2003 and 2002, substantially all of the Company’s customers were distributors or 
retailers whose sales were concentrated in the grocery industry, throughout the United States.  The Company investigates a customer’s credit 
worthiness before extending credit.  At December 27, 2003, two customers accounted for approximately 28% of accounts receivable in the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

   
4.               Inventories:  
   

Inventories consisted of the following as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:  
   

   
5.               Property and Equipment:  
   

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:  
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2001  
   

Net Income  
        

As reported  
   

$ 1,045,264 
   

Add back:  Goodwill and trademark amortization  
   

652,104 
   

Adjusted  
   

$ 1,697,368 
   

          
Basic earnings per common share:  

        
As reported  

   

$ 0.07 
   

Add back:  Goodwill and trademark amortization  
   

0.04 
   

Adjusted  
   

$ 0.11 
   

          
Diluted earnings per common share:  

        
As reported  

   

$ 0.06 
   

Add back:  Goodwill and trademark amortization  
   

0.04 
   

Adjusted  
   

$ 0.10 
   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

Finished goods  
   

$ 1,610,776 
   $ 713,616 

   
Raw materials  

   

789,727 
   1,046,785 

   
   

   

$ 2,400,503 
   

$ 1,760,401 
   

      

Useful Lives  
   

2003  
   

2002  
   

Buildings and improvements  
   

20 – 30 years 
   $ 5,313,578 

   $ 5,226,016 
   

Equipment  
   

7 – 15 years 
   10,700,679 

   11,464,258 
   

Land  
   

—
   272,006 

   272,006 
   

Vehicles  
   

5 years 
   34,893 

   11,393 
   

Furniture and office equipment  
   

2 – 5 years 
   1,447,145 

   1,207,291 
   

   

        17,768,301 
   

18,180,964 
   

Less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization  

        

(6,013,205 )  (5,171,016 ) 
   

   

  

   

$ 11,755,096 
   

$ 13,009,948 
   



   
Depreciation expense was $1,285,221, $1,288,333 and $1,237,260 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

   
On October 28, 2000, the Company experienced a fire at the Goodyear, Arizona manufacturing plant, causing a temporary shutdown of 

manufacturing operations at the facility.  There was extensive damage to the roof and equipment utilities in the potato chip processing area.  
Third party manufacturers agreed to provide the Company with production volume to assist the Company in meeting anticipated customers’ 
needs during the shutdown.  The Company continued to season and package the bulk product received from third party manufacturers.  

   
The Company resumed full production of private label potato chips in early January of 2001 and resumed full production of batch-fried 

potato chips in late March of 2001. During fiscal 2001, the Company recorded approximately $1.4 million of incremental expenses incurred as 
a result of the fire, primarily associated with outsourcing production.  These extra expenses were charged to “cost of revenues” and offset by a 
$1.4 million credit representing insurance proceeds.  The Company also incurred approximately $2.3 million in building and equipment 
reconstruction costs in connection with the fire.  During fiscal 2001, the Company was advanced a total of $3.2 million by the insurance 
company.  “Insurance claim settlement income, net” on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income for fiscal 2001 includes (i) a gain 
of $167,000, representing the excess of insurance proceeds over the book value for the building and equipment of $533,000 damaged by the 
fire, and (ii) fire related expenses not reimbursed by the insurance company of approximately $163,000.  
   

In December 2002, the Company received an additional $261,000 from its insurance company in partial settlement of outstanding claims, 
which is shown in “Insurance claim settlement income, net” on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income for fiscal 2002.  This 
includes (i) a gain of $121,000, representing additional insurance proceeds over the book value of equipment previously written off, and (ii) 
reimbursement of $140,000 for expenses previously denied by the insurance company.  

   
In June 2003, the Company received $2,000,000 from its insurance company as final settlement of outstanding claims, which is shown in 

“Insurance claim settlement income, net” on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income for fiscal 2003.  This includes (i) $1,100,000 
as reimbursement for the additional capital equipment costs, and (ii) $900,000 as reimbursement for business interruption.  Additionally, the 
Company incurred expenses as a result of the mediation in the amount of approximately $82,000 which were netted against the proceeds.  The 
Company does not have any receivables related to the fire reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 27, 
2003 or December 28, 2002.  

   
Also in June 2003, the Company concluded that some of its packaging equipment that had recently been replaced by more technologically 

advanced machinery was no longer likely to be reinstalled and used.  Therefore, in accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment 
or Disposal of Long-lived Assets,” the Company performed an assessment of the equipment’s fair value, which resulted in the need to write-
down the equipment approximately $1,030,000.  
   
6.               Long-Term Debt:  
   
Long-term debt consisted of the following as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:  
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2003  
   

2002  
   

Term loan due in monthly installments through July 1, 2006; interest at prime rate (4.0% at December 
27, 2003); collateralized by accounts receivable, inventories, equipment and general intangibles  

   

$ 2,259,377 
   $ 3,181,685 

   
Mortgage loan due in monthly installments through July 2012; interest at 9.03%; collateralized by land 

and building  
   

1,812,579 
   1,851,888 

   
Capital lease obligations due in monthly installments through 2003; interest rates ranging from 8.2% to 

11.3%; collateralized by equipment  
   

—
   45,779 

   
Capital Expenditures Term loan due in monthly installments through October 31, 2003; interest at 

prime plus 1% (5.0% at December 27, 2003); collateralized by equipment  
   

—
   130,770 

   
   

   

4,071,956 
   

5,210,122 
   

Less current portion  
   

(932,155 )  (1,105,004 )  
   

   

$ 3,139,801 
   

$ 4,105,118 
   



   
Annual maturities of long-term debt as of December 27, 2003 are as follows:  

   

   
Interest expense consisted of the following at December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001:  

   

   
The Company’s Goodyear, Arizona manufacturing, distribution and headquarters facility is subject to a $1.8 million mortgage loan from 

Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, bears interest at 9.03% per annum and is secured by the building and the land on which it is 
located.  The loan matures on July 1, 2012; however monthly principal and interest installments of $18,425 are determined based on a twenty-
year amortization period.  

   
During 2002, the Company’s remaining outstanding 9% Convertible Debenture due July 1, 2002 in the principal amount of $401,497 held 

by Wells Fargo Small Business Investment Company, Inc. (“Wells Fargo SBIC”) was converted into 401,497 shares of the Company’s 
common stock.  

   
The U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement consists of a $5.0 million line of credit, a $0.5 million capital expenditure line of credit (“CapEx Term 

Loan”) and a $5.8 million Term Loan A.  At December 27, 2003, there were no balances on either the line of credit of the CapEx Term Loan, 
and $2.3 million outstanding on Term Loan A.  In June 2002, the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement was amended to extend the U.S. Bancorp 
Line of Credit maturity date from October 31, 2003 to October 31, 2005 and modify certain financial covenants.  

   
The U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement is secured by accounts receivable, inventories, equipment and general intangibles.  Borrowings under 

the line of credit are limited to 80% of eligible receivables and up to 60% of eligible inventories.  At December 27, 2003, the Company had a 
borrowing base of approximately $3,656,000 under the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit.  The U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement requires the 
Company to be in compliance with certain financial performance criteria, including a minimum annual operating results ratio, a minimum 
tangible capital base and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.  At December 27, 2003, the Company was in compliance with all of the 
financial covenants.  Management believes that the fulfillment of the Company’s plans and objectives will enable the Company to attain a 
sufficient level of profitability to remain in compliance with these financial covenants. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company 
will attain any such profitability and remain in compliance.  Any acceleration under the U.S. Bancorp Credit Agreement prior to the scheduled 
maturity of the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit or the U.S. Bancorp Term Loans could have a material adverse effect upon the  
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Year  
         

2004  
   

$ 932,155 
   

2005  
   

935,906 
   

2006  
   

522,463 
   

2007  
   

52,192 
   

2008  
   

57,105 
   

Thereafter  
   

1,572,135 
   

   

   

$ 4,071,956 
   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Interest expense  
   

$ 275,619 
   $ 541,754 

   $ 1,046,215 
   

Interest income  
   

(22,799 )  (2,021 )  (1,098 ) 
Interest expense, net  

   

$ 252,820 
   $ 539,733 

   $ 1,045,117 
   



   
Company.  As of December 27, 2003, there was no outstanding balance on the U.S. Bancorp Line of Credit or CapEx term loan.  
   
7.               Commitments and Contingencies:  
   

The Company is periodically a party to various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business.  Management believes, based on 
discussions with legal counsel, that the resolution of such lawsuits, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.  

   
The Company leases a 140,000 square foot facility located on 15 acres of land in Bluffton, Indiana, approximately 20 miles south of Ft. 

Wayne, Indiana.  The Company has entered into a lease expiring in April 2018 with respect to the facility and the lease has two five-year 
renewal options.  Current lease payments are approximately $22,000 per month.  The lease payments are subject to an annual CPI-based 
increase.  The Company produces its T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks, Crunch Toons® brand potato snacks and Tato Skins® brand potato 
snacks at the Bluffton, Indiana facility.  

   
The Company also leases one-half of a 200,000 square foot facility in Bluffton, Indiana which is used as a distribution center.  The 

Company has entered into a lease expiring in November 2006 with respect to the facility and the lease has two three-year renewal options.  
Current lease payments are approximately $30,000 per month.  The Company also has entered into a service agreement expiring in December 
2008 with a third party for warehousing services.  

   
In addition to the Company’s facility leases, the Company has entered into a variety of operating leases for equipment and vehicles.  
   
Rental expense under all operating leases was $1,158,000, $956,000 and $507,000 for each of fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable leases as of December 27, 2003 are as follows:  
   

   
The Company licenses patented technology from a third party in connection with the manufacture of its T.G.I. Friday’s® and Tato 

Skins® brand products and has an exclusive right to use such technology within North America until the patents expire between 2004 and 
2006.  The Company also licenses patented technology from a third party in connection with the manufacture of its Crunch Toons® brand 
salted snacks and has an exclusive right to use such technology within the United States until the agreement expires.  The initial period covered 
by the agreement extends through 2010 and automatically renews for five (5) year increments after that, unless terminated by Licensee.  In 
consideration for the use of these patents, the Company is required to make royalty payments on sales of products manufactured utilizing the 
patented technology.  
   

The Company licenses the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks trademark from TGI Friday’s Inc. under a license agreement with a term 
expiring in 2014.  Pursuant to the license agreement, the Company is required to make royalty payments on sales of T.G.I. Friday’s® brand 
salted snack products and is required to achieve certain minimum sales levels by certain dates during the contract term.  

   
In November 2002, Warner Bros. Consumer Products granted the Company rights to introduce an innovative new brand of salted snacks 

(Crunch Toons®) featuring Looney Tunes™ characters, including Bugs Bunny, Tweety and the Tasmanian  
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Year  
   

Operating  
Leases  

  

2004  
   

$ 1,562,869 
  

2005  
   

1,526,496 
  

2006  
   

1,468,073 
  

2007  
   

951,372 
  

2008  
   

509,606 
  

Thereafter  
   

2,759,751 
  

Total  
   

$ 8,778,167 
  



   
Devil.  The Company launched the new brand nationwide in the summer of 2003 under a multi-year agreement that grants the Company 
exclusive salted snack category brand licensing and promotional rights for Looney Tunes™ characters.  In November 2003, the Company also 
acquired the exclusive brand licensing and promotional rights to Scooby Doo™  characters pursuant to a multi-year agreement with Warner 
Bros. Consumer Products.  Both agreements require the payment of minimum royalties during the term of the agreements.  
   
8.               Shareholders’ Equity:  
   
Common Stock  
   

On December 27, 2001, the Company completed the sale of 586,855 shares of Common Stock at an offering price of $2.13 per share to 
BFS US Special Opportunities Trust PLC, a fund managed by Renaissance Capital Group, Inc., in a private placement transaction.  The net 
proceeds of the transaction were utilized by the Company to reduce the Company’s outstanding indebtedness.  The Company has granted BFS 
US Special Opportunities Trust PLC both demand and piggyback registration rights with respect to the shares of Common Stock purchased in 
the offering.  
   
Preferred Stock  

   
The Company has authorized 50,000 shares of $100 par value Preferred Stock, none of which was outstanding at December 27, 2003 or 

December 28, 2002.  The Company may issue such shares of Preferred Stock in the future without shareholder approval.  
   
Warrants  
   

During the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 warrant activity was as follows:  
   

   
Warrants have been issued in connection with prior financings and the acquisition of Wabash.  At December 27, 2003, outstanding warrants 

had exercise prices ranging from $0.88 to $3.62 and a weighted average remaining term of 0.7 years.  Warrants that were exercisable at 
December 27, 2003 totaled 458,000 with a weighted average exercise price per share of $1.02.  

   
As of July 30, 1999, the Company agreed to the assignment of a five-year warrant from Everen Securities, Inc. to Stifel, Nicolaus & 

Company Incorporated (the Company’s acquisitions and financial advisor) representing the right to purchase 296,155 unregistered shares of 
Common Stock at an exercise price of $.875 per share.  The warrant provides the holder thereof certain anti-dilution and piggyback registration 
rights.  The warrant was exercisable as to 50% of the shares when the Company’s pro forma annual sales reached $30 million, which it did 
when the Company completed the Wabash acquisition in October 1999.  The remaining 50% of the warrant is exercisable when the Company’s 
pro forma annual sales reach $100 million.  
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Warrants  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price  
   

Balance, December 31, 2000  
   

1,498,298 
   $ 1.59 

   
Issued  

   

10,000 
   3.62 

   
Cancelled  

   

(225,000 )  4.38 
   

Balance, December 31, 2001  
   

1,283,298 
   1.11 

   
Exercised  

   

(269,505 )  1.00 
   

Balance, December 28, 2002  
   

1,013,793 
   1.11 

   
Exercised  

   

(395,516 )  1.16 
   

Cancelled  
   

(160,277 )  1.26 
   

Balance, December 27, 2003  
   

458,000 
   1.02 

   



   
Stock Options  

   
The Company’s 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), as amended in May 2001, provides for the issuance of options to purchase 2,500,000 

shares of Common Stock.  The options granted pursuant to the Plan expire over a five-year period and generally vest over three years.  In 
addition to options granted under the Plan, the Company also issued non-qualified options (non-plan options) to purchase Common Stock to 
certain Directors and officers which are exercisable and expire either five or ten years from date of grant.  All options are issued at an exercise 
price of fair market value and are non-compensatory.  Fair market value is determined based on the price of sales of Common Stock occurring 
at the time of the option award.  

   
During fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, stock option activity was as follows:  

   

   
Tax benefits on options exercised are recorded as increases to additional paid-in capital and totaled $1.9 million in fiscal 2003.  
   

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 27, 2003:  
   

   
The table below summarized the number of exercisable options outstanding and the weighted average exercise prices for each of the 

previous fiscal years:  
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Plan Options  
   

Non-Plan Options  
   

      

Options  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price  
   

Options  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price  
   

Balance, December 31, 2000  
   

1,699,650 
   1.64 

   1,645,000 
   1.48 

   
Granted  

   

480,000 
   3.03 

   50,000 
   3.02 

   
Canceled  

   

(143,333 )  1.63 
   —

   —
   

Exercised  
   

(26,000 )  1.71 
   (50,000 )  1.08 

   
Balance, December 31, 2001  

   

2,010,317 
   1.97 

   1,645,000 
   1.54 

   
Granted  

   

367,500 
   2.86 

   —
   —

   
Canceled  

   

(324,334 )  2.78 
   (66,667 )  2.61 

   
Exercised  

   

(315,683 )  1.19 
   (33,333 )  2.61 

   
Balance, December 28, 2002  

   

1,737,800 
   2.15 

   1,545,000 
   1.47 

   
Granted  

   

230,000 
   3.44 

   117,500 
   3.60 

   
Canceled  

   

(28,667 )  3.03 
   —

   —
   

Exercised  
   

(782,633 )  1.51 
   (580,000 )  1.40 

   
Balance, December 27, 2003  

   

1,156,500 
   2.82 

   1,082,500 
   1.74 

   

Range of  
Exercise Prices  

   

Options  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted Average  
Remaining  

Contractual Life  
(in years)  

   

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
   

Options  
Exercisable  

   

Weighted  
Average  
Exercise  

Price  
  

$1.00 - $1.8438  
   

1,059,000 
   1.26 

   $ 1.40 
   1,059,000 

   $ 1.40 
  

$2.10 - $2.995  
   

587,500 
   3.08 

   $ 2.75 
   264,996 

   $ 2.77 
  

$3.08 - $3.60  
   

572,500 
   3.50 

   $ 3.36 
   220,001 

   $ 3.13 
  

$4.50 - $4.94  
   

20,000 
   4.79 

   $ 4.78 
   —

   —
  

   

   

2,239,000 
   

2.34 
   $ 2.28 

   1,543,997 
   $ 1.88 

  

      

Plan Options  
   

Non-Plan Options  
  

      

Exercisable Options  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price  

   

Exercisable Options  
Outstanding  

   

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price  

  

December 27, 2003  
   

603,997 
   $ 2.51 

   940,000 
   $ 1.47 

  

December 28, 2002  
   

1,034,793 
   $ 1.60 

   1,019,999 
   $ 1.37 

  

December 31, 2001  
   

1,299,982 
   $ 1.56 

   1,044,999 
   $ 1.39 

  



   
9.               Income Taxes:  
   

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and 
December 31, 2001:  

   

   
The following table provides a reconciliation between the amount determined by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to the pretax 

income amount for the years ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001:  
   

   
The income tax effects of loss carryforwards and temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting that give rise to the 

deferred income tax asset and liability are as follows as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002:  
   

   
The Company experienced significant net losses in prior fiscal years resulting in a net operating loss carryforward (“NOLC”) for federal 

income tax purposes of approximately $4.7 million at December 27, 2003.  The Company’s NOLC will begin to expire in varying amounts 
between 2010 and 2018.  

   
Generally accepted accounting principles require that a valuation allowance be established when it is more likely than not that all or a 

portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.  Changes in valuation allowances from period to period are included in the tax provision in 
the period of change.  In determining whether a valuation allowance is required, the Company takes into account all positive and negative 
evidence with regard to the utilization of a deferred tax asset including our past earnings history, expected future earnings, the character  
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2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Current:  
                  

Federal  
   

$ —
   $ —

   $ —
   

State  
   

—
   (98,593 )  (43,000 ) 

   

   

$ —
   

$ (98,593 )  $ (43,000 ) 
Deferred:  

                  
Federal  

   

$ (559,000 )  $ 413,430 
   $ —

   
State  

   

(82,861 )  (72,000 )  —
   

   

   

$ (641,861 )  $ 341,430 
   $ —

   
                    
Total (provision) benefit for income taxes  

   

$ (641,861 )  $ 242,837 
   $ (43,000 ) 

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Provision at statutory rate  
   

$ (575,900 )  $ (813,960 )  $ (370,010 ) 
State income tax, net  

   

(54,961 )  (170,593 )  (56,742 ) 
Nondeductible expenses  

   

(11,000 )  (11,983 )  (18,722 ) 
Net operating loss utilized and reversal of valuation allowance  

   

—
   1,239,373 

   402,474 
   

Income tax (provision) benefit  
   

$ (641,861 )  $ 242,837 
   $ (43,000 ) 

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

Deferred Tax Asset - current  
             

Net operating loss carryforward  
   

$ 1,707,000 
   $ —

   
Bad debt expense  

   

134,000 
   160,000 

   
Accrued liabilities  

   

174,000 
   121,000 

   
Other  

   

240,000 
   141,000 

   
   

   

2,255,000 
   

422,000 
   

Deferred Tax Liability – noncurrent  
             

Net operating loss carryforward  
   

—
   1,022,000 

   
Depreciation and amortization  

   

(1,732,000 )  (966,570 ) 
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  

   

—
   (136,000 ) 

   

   

(1,732,000 )  (80,570 ) 
Net deferred tax assets  

   

$ 523,000 
   $ 341,430 

   



   
and jurisdiction of such earnings, unsettled circumstances that, if unfavorably resolved, would adversely affect utilization of a deferred tax 
asset, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax strategies that could potentially enhance the likelihood of realization of a deferred tax asset.  
During the third quarter of 2002, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that its deferred tax asset at the time would be 
realized, and also began providing for income taxes at a rate equal to the combined federal and state effective rates, which approximated 38% 
under current tax rates.  The $136,000 deferred tax valuation allowance at December 28, 2002 relates to certain state NOL carryforwards that 
expired unused at December 27, 2003.  
   
10.        Business Segments and Significant Customers:  
   

For the year ended December 27, 2003, Vistar, a national vending distributor,  and Wal*Mart (including its SAM’s Clubs) accounted for 
$8,751,000, or 13%, and $13,237,000, or 20%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated net revenues.  For the years ended December 28, 
2002 and December 31, 2001, Vistar and Wal*Mart accounted for $7,784,000, or 13% and $12,414,000, or 21%, respectively, and $6,886,000, 
or 12% and $9,353,000, or 16%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated net revenues.  

   
The Company’s operations consist of two segments: manufactured products and distributed products.  The manufactured products segment 

produces potato chips, potato crisps, and tortilla chips for sale primarily to snack food distributors and retailers.  The distributed products 
segment sells snack food products manufactured by other companies to the Company’s Arizona snack food distributors.  The Company’s 
reportable segments offer different products and services.  All of the Company’s revenues are attributable to external customers in the United 
States and all of its assets are located in the United States.  
   

   
In fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, the T.G.I. Friday’s® brand salted snacks represented 61%, 60% and 41%, respectively, of the 

Company’s total net revenues.  Effective February 1, 2004, the Company has ceased distribution of Snyders’ pretzels which represented 
approximately 50% of distributed products segment revenues in 2003.  
   

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note 1).  The 
Company does not allocate assets, selling, general and administrative expenses, income taxes or other income and expense to segments and has 
no significant non-cash items other than depreciation and amortization.  
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Percent of Total Revenues  
   

      

2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Branded products  
   

91 % 89 % 84 % 
Private label products  

   

4 % 5 % 7 % 
Total manufactured products segment revenues  

   

94 % 93 % 91 % 
                     
Distributed products segment revenues  

   

6 % 7 % 9 % 
                     

Total revenues  
   

100 % 100 % 100 % 

      

Manufactured  
Products  

   

Distributed  
Products  

   

Consolidated  
   

2003  
                  

Revenues from external customers  
   

$ 62,278,649 
   $ 4,139,187 

   $ 66,417,836 
   

Depreciation and amortization included in segment gross profit  
   

943,541 
   —

   943,541 
   

Segment gross profit  
   

12,660,767 
   657,754 

   13,318,521 
   

                     
2002  

                  
Revenues from external customers  

   

$ 55,321,985 
   $ 4,026,486 

   $ 59,348,471 
   

Depreciation and amortization included in segment gross profit  
   

936,499 
   —

   936,499 
   

Segment gross profit  
   

10,797,357 
   514,652 

   11,312,009 
   

                     
2001  

                  
Revenues from external customers  

   

$ 49,116,667 
   $ 4,788,149 

   $ 53,904,816 
   

Depreciation and amortization included in segment gross profit  
   

859,776 
   —

   859,776 
   

Segment gross profit  
   

10,711,869 
   234,125 

   10,945,994 
   



   
The following table reconciles reportable segment gross profit to the Company’s consolidated income before income tax provision for the years 
ended December 27, 2003, December 28, 2002 and December 31, 2001:  
   

   
11.        Litigation:  
   

The Company is periodically a party to various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business.  Management believes, based on 
discussions with legal counsel, that the resolution of any such lawsuits will not have a material effect on the financial statements taken as a 
whole.  
   
12.        Related Party Transactions:  
   
The land and building (140,000 square feet) occupied by the Company in Bluffton, Indiana is leased pursuant to a twenty year lease dated May 
1, 1998 with American Pacific Financial Corporation, an affiliate of Pate Foods Corporation from whom the Company purchased Wabash in 
October 1999.  The lease extends through April 2018 and contains two additional five-year lease renewal periods at the option of the Company. 
Lease payments are approximately $20,000 per month, plus CPI adjustments, and the Company is responsible for all real estate taxes, utilities 
and insurance.  American Pacific Financial Corporation is an affiliate of Capital Foods, the single largest shareholder of the Company, 
currently holding approximately 23% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (without giving effect to the possible exercise of warrants to 
purchase 250,000 shares of Common Stock also held by Capital Foods).  
   

The results for any single quarter are not necessarily indicative of the Company’s results for any other quarter or the full year.  
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2003  
   

2002  
   

2001  
   

Segment gross profit  
   

$ 13,318,521 
   $ 11,312,009 

   $ 10,945,994 
   

Unallocated amounts:  
                  

Selling, general and administrative expenses  
   

(13,290,660 )  (8,637,652 )  (8,816,627 ) 
Insurance claim settlement income, net  

   

1,918,784 
   259,376 

   4,014 
   

Interest expense, net  
   

(252,820 )  (539,733 )  (1,045,117 ) 
Income before income taxes  

   

$ 1,693,825 
   $ 2,394,000 

   $ 1,088,264 
   

(in 000’s, except for share and per  
share data)  

   

First  
Quarter  

   

Second  
Quarter  

   

Third  
Quarter  

   

Fourth  
Quarter  

   

Full Year  
   

Fiscal 2003  
                            

Net revenues  
   

$ 15,218 
   $ 18,581 

   $ 16,661 
   $ 15,958 

   $ 66,418 
   

Gross profit  
   

3,031 
   3,724 

   3,609 
   2,955 

   13,319 
   

Operating income (loss)  
   

558 
   1,294 

   516 
   (2,340 )  28 

   
Net income (loss)  

   

$ 303 
   $ 1,971 

   $ 288 
   $ (1,510 )  $ 1,052 

   
                              
Earnings (loss) per common share:  

                            
Basic  

   

$ 0.02 
   $ 0.12 

   $ 0.02 
   $ (0.08 )  $ 0.06 

   
Diluted  

   

$ 0.02 
   $ 0.11 

   $ 0.01 
   $ (0.08 )  $ 0.06 

   
                              
Weighted average number of common shares:  

                            
Basic  

   

16,730,642 
   16,984,728 

   17,997,911 
   18,578,407 

   17,572,951 
   

Diluted  
   

18,025,514 
   18,343,696 

   19,369,977 
   18,578,407 

   18,476,486 
   



   
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited):  
   
The sum of quarterly earnings per share information may not agree to the annual amount due to the use of the treasury stock method of 
calculating earnings per share.  
   

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $5.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2003, resulting in an operating loss of $2.3 
million, up from $2.3 million in 2002.  The increase was driven by the planned introductory consumer marketing programs and other costs 
associated with the launch of Crunch Toons®.  
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The sum of quarterly earnings per share information may not agree to the annual amount due to the use of the treasury stock method of 

calculating earnings per share.  
   
14.        Accounts Receivable Allowance  
   
Changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts during the three years ended December 27, 2003 are summarized below:  
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(in 000’s, except for share and per share  
data)  

   

First  
Quarter  

   

Second  
Quarter  

   

Third  
Quarter  

   

Fourth  
Quarter  

   

Full Year  
   

Fiscal 2002  
                            

Net revenues  
   

$ 14,278 
   $ 15,358 

   $ 15,209 
   $ 14,503 

   $ 59,348 
   

Gross profit  
   

2,517 
   3,188 

   2,564 
   3,043 

   11,312 
   

Operating income  
   

552 
   819 

   550 
   753 

   2,674 
   

Net income  
   

$ 380 
   $ 640 

   $ 1,051 
   $ 565 

   $ 2,637 
   

                              
Earnings per common share:  

                            
Basic  

   

$ 0.02 
   $ 0.04 

   $ 0.06 
   $ 0.03 

   $ 0.16 
   

Diluted  
   

$ 0.02 
   $ 0.04 

   $ 0.06 
   $ 0.03 

   $ 0.15 
   

                              
Weighted average number of common shares:  

                            
Basic  

   

15,692,387 
   15,833,473 

   16,362,344 
   16,686,148 

   16,146,081 
   

Diluted  
   

17,439,210 
   18,079,446 

   17,961,882 
   18,049,958 

   17,826,953 
   

      

Balance at  
beginning of period  

   

Charges to Expense  
   

Write-offs  
   

Balance at end  
of period  

  

Allowance for Doubtful 
Accounts  

                      

Fiscal 2001  
   

$ 246,000 
   332,000 

   359,000 
   $ 219,000 

  

Fiscal 2002  
   

$ 219,000 
   379,000 

   189,000 
   $ 409,000 

  

Fiscal 2003  
   

$ 409,000 
   24,000 

   86,000 
   $ 347,000 

  



   
EXHIBIT INDEX  
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Exhibit 3.1 
   

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  
   

OF  
   

POORE BROTHERS HOLDINGS, INC.  
   

FIRST:  The name of the corporation is Poore Brothers Holdings, Inc. (the “Corporation”).  
   

SECOND:  The address of its registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, in the County of New Castle, 
Wilmington, Delaware  19801, and the name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.  

   
THIRD:  The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted are:  

   
To engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the 

State of Delaware; and  
   

in general, to possess and exercise all the powers and privileges granted by the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware or by any other law of Delaware or by this certificate of incorporation, together with any powers incidental thereto, so far as such 
powers and privileges are necessary or convenient to the conduct, promotion or attainment of the business or purposes of Corporation.  

   
FOURTH:  The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is Five 

Million Twenty-Five Thousand (5,025,000) shares, consisting of:  
   

(a)                                   Twenty-Five Thousand (25,000) shares of preferred stock, $100 par value per share (the “Preferred Stock”), and  
   

 

3.1 —  Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on February 23, 1995  
      
3.2 —  Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Delaware on March 3, 1995  
      
3.3 —  Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Delaware on October 7, 1999  
      
10.35 —  License Agreement, dated November 10, 2003, by and between the Company and Warner Bros. Consumer Products Inc.  
      
10.36 —  Commercial Lease Agreement, dated May 22, 2003, by and between the Company and Westland Park LLC  
      
10.37 —  Warehouse Services Agreement, dated June 30, 2003, by and between the Company and Customized Distribution Services, Inc.  
      
21.1 —  List of subsidiaries of Poore Brothers, Inc.  
      
23.1 —  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP  
      
23.2 —  Notice Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP  
      
31.1 —  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15(d)-14(a)  
      
31.2—  Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15(d)-14(a)  
      
32.1—  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) 

and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  



   
(b)                                  Five Million (5,000,000) shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”).  
   
1.                                        Preferred Stock .  Shares of the preferred stock of the Corporation may be issued from time to time in one or more 

classes or series, each of which class or series shall have such distinctive designation or title as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation prior to the issuance of any shares thereof.  Each such class or series of preferred stock shall have such voting powers, full or 
limited, or no voting powers, and such other relative rights, powers and preferences, including, without limitation, the dividend rate, conversion 
rights, if any, redemption price and liquidation preference, and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated in such 
resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of such class or series of preferred stock as may be adopted from time to time by the Board 
of Directors prior to the issuance of any shares thereof pursuant to the authority hereby expressly vested in it, all in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Delaware.  
   

2.                                        Common Stock .  Subject to any preferential dividend rights applicable to shares of the Preferred Stock, the holders 
of shares of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors.  

   
In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, after 

distribution in full of the preferential amounts to be distributed to the holders of shares of the Preferred Stock, the holders of shares of the 
Common Stock shall be entitled to receive all of the remaining assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its shareholders, ratably in 
proportion to the number of shares of the Common Stock held by them.  
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The holders of shares of the Common Stock shall be entitled to vote on all matters at all meetings of the 

shareholders of the Corporation and shall be entitled to one vote for each share of the Common Stock entitled to vote at such meeting.  
   

FIFTH:  The name and mailing address of the incorporator is Jeffrey B. Cobb, Esq., c/o Cummings & Lockwood, Four 
Stamford Plaza, 107 Elm Street, Stamford, Connecticut  06902.  

   
SIXTH:  The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to exercise all powers granted to the directors by law except insofar 

as such powers are limited or denied herein or in the By-Laws of the Corporation.  In furtherance of such powers, the Board of Directors shall 
have the right to make, alter or repeal the By-Laws of the Corporation.  

   
SEVENTH:  Meetings of shareholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the By-Laws may provide.  

The books of the Corporation may be kept (subject to any provision contained in the statutes) outside the State of Delaware at such place or 
places as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or in the By-Laws of the Corporation.  Elections of directors need not 
be by written ballot unless the By-Laws of the Corporation shall so provide.  

   
EIGHTH:  Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between the Corporation and its creditors or any class of 

them and/or between the Corporation and its shareholders or any class of them, any court or equitable jurisdiction within the State of Delaware 
may, on the application in a summary way of the Corporation or of any creditor or shareholder thereof or on the application of any receiver or 
receivers appointed for the Corporation under the provisions of Section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the  
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application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for the Corporation under the provisions of Section 279 of Title 8 
of the Delaware Code, order a meeting of the creditor or class of creditors, and/or of the shareholders or class of shareholders, of the 
Corporation, as the case may be, to be summoned in such a manner as the said court directs..  If a majority in number representing three-fourths 
in value of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the shareholders or class of shareholders, of the Corporation, as the case may be, agree 
to any compromise or arrangement and to any reorganization of the Corporation as a consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said 
compromise or arrangement and the said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said application is made, be binding upon 
all of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or on all the shareholders or class of shareholders, of the Corporation, as the case may be, and also 
on the Corporation.  

   
NINTH:  No director shall have any personal liability to the Corporation or its shareholders for any monetary damages for 

breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except that this Article shall not eliminate or limit the liability of each director (i) for any breach of such 
director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its shareholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional 
misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction from 
which such director derived an improper personal benefit.  

   
Neither the amendment nor the repeal of this Article NINTH, nor the adoption of any provision of the certificate of 

incorporation inconsistent with this Article NINTH, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article NINTH in respect of any matter 
occurring or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but for this Article NINTH, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or 
adoption of an inconsistent provision.  
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TENTH:  The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this certificate of 

incorporation in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute.  
   

THE UNDERSIGNED, being the sole incorporator hereinbefore named, for the purpose of forming a corporation pursuant to 
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, makes this certificate, hereby declaring and certifying that this is his act and deed and 
the facts herein stated are true, and accordingly, has hereunto set his hand on the 23rd day of February, 1995.  
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Exhibit 3.2 
   

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT  
   

TO THE  
   

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  
   

OF  
   

POORE BROTHERS HOLDINGS, INC.  
   

Poore Brothers Holdings, Inc., (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware does hereby certify and set forth that:  
   

FIRST:                    The name of the Corporation is Poore Brothers Holdings, Inc.  
   
SECOND:               The Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary of State on the 23 rd day of 

February, 1995.  
   

THIRD:                  The Corporation has not received any payment for any of its stock.  
   

FOURTH:              The Certificate of Incorporation is amended to change the name of the Corporation and to increase the authorized 
capital stock of the Corporation, as follows:  
   

(a)           Article FIRST, relating to the name of the Corporation, is deleted in its entirety and the following is inserted in its place and 
stead:  
   

FIRST:            The name of the corporation is Poore Brothers, Inc. (the “Corporation”);  
   

(b)          Article FOURTH, relating to the authorized capital stock of the Corporation is deleted in its entirety and the following 
inserted in its place and stead:  
   

FOURTH:      The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue  
   

 

         
   

Jeffrey B. Cobb  
   

Sole Incorporator  



   
is Fifteen Million Fifty Thousand (15,050,000) shares, consisting of:  

   
(a)          Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares of preferred stock, $100 par value per share (the “Preferred Stock”), and  

   
(b)         Fifteen Million (15,000,000) shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”).  

   
FIFTH:           In accordance with Section 241 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the above 

amendment was authorized by the Sole Incorporator of the Corporation by written consent, dated as of March 1, 1995.  
   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Certificate to be signed by its Sole Incorporator on March 2, 1995.  
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Exhibit 3.3 
  

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT  
   

OF THE  
   

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  
   

OF  
   

POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
   

Poore Brothers, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware (the “Corporation”), does hereby certify as follows:  
   

FIRST:  The Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February 
23, 1995.  
   

SECOND:  A Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of 
the State of Delaware on March 2, 1995.  
   

THIRD:  The Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly and unanimously adopted the following resolution setting forth a 
proposed amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended:  
   

RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended, be, and it hereby is, amended pursuant to 
Section 242 of the Delaware General Corporation Law by striking Article FOURTH (relating to the authorized capital stock of the 
Corporation) in its entirety, and replacing therefor a new Article FOURTH as follows:  

   
FOURTH:  The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is Fifty Million Fifty 

Thousand (50,050,000) shares, consisting of:  
   

(a)     Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares of preferred stock, par value $100 per share (the “Preferred Stock”); and  
   

(b)     Fifty Million (50,000,000) shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”).  
   

FIFTH: That at a meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation held on October 6, 1999, the holders of a majority of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Corporation approved the amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, set forth in 
this Certificate of Amendment.  
   

SIXTH:  That this Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, has been duly adopted in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.  

   

 

         
   

Jeffrey B. Cobb  
   

Sole Incorporator  



   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said Corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation, as 

amended, to be signed by its President and attested by its Secretary as of this 7th day of October, 1999.  
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Exhibit 10.35 
   

RETAIL AND PROMOTIONAL LICENSE  
WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  

#14559-SCOO  
   

RETAIL AND PROMOTIONAL LICENSE AGREEMENT made November 10, 2003, by and between Warner Bros. Consumer Products Inc., 
whose address is 4000 Warner Blvd., Burbank, CA 91522 (hereinafter referred to as “LICENSOR”) and Poore Brothers, Inc., whose address is 
3500 S. La Cometa Drive, Goodyear, AZ 85338, Attention: Eric Kufel (hereinafter referred to as “LICENSEE”).  
   
WITNESSETH: The parties hereto mutually agree as follows:  
   
1.                                       DEFINITIONS: As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:  
   
(a)                                   “Channels of Distribution”: Licensee may conduct the Licensed Promotion and shall sell and distribute the Licensed Products 

and/or the Licensed Premiums through the following Channels of Distribution only (as such channels are defined and numbered in 
Exhibit I attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference):  

   

   
[*]  

   
All other Channels of Distribution defined in Exhibit I which are not specified above in this Paragraph 1(a) are specifically excluded 
from this Agreement.  
   
[*]  
   

(b)                                  “Guaranteed Consideration”: [*]  
   
(c)                                   “Licensed Premium(s)”: Licensee shall have the right to include premiums incorporating the Licensed Property in association with 

the Licensed Promotion.  
   

Any and all such premiums shall be determined by the parties at a later date and shall be added to this License Agreement pursuant to 
a written amendment, provided, however, that Licensor shall have the absolute right to approve in writing all the elements (i.e. all 
premiums as well as all product packaging, advertising, etc.) prior to manufacture of said premiums.  
   
For purposes of this subparagraph, the term “premium” shall be defined as including, but not necessarily limited to, combination sales, 
free or self-liquidating items offered to the public in conjunction with the sale or promotion of a product or service, including traffic 
building or continuity visits by the consumer/customer, or any similar scheme or device, the prime intent of which is to use the 
premiums in such a way as to promote, publicize and or sell the products, services or business image of the user of such item.  
   

(d)                                  “Licensed Products”: Salted Snacks Category (incorporating the Licensed Property in its packaging and in the shapes of the 
individual snack items within each package) defined as: Potato Chips, Potato Crisps, 2-D Potato or Corn Snacks, 3-D Potato or Corn 
Snacks, Pretzels, Cheese Puffs, Tortilla Chips, Pellet Fried Snacks, Extruded Fried Snacks.  

   
It is understood and agreed that for the purposes of this Agreement, Salted Snacks Category shall exclude the following: pre-popped 
popcorn, nuts, crackers, and cookies.  
   

(e)                                   “Licensed Promotion”: The right to utilize the Licensed Property in connection with the advertising and promotion of the Licensed 
Products and with the manufacture, distribution and advertisement of Licensed Premiums as set forth below:  

   

POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
      
   

By:  
      

      

Eric J. Kufel  
      

President  
      
   

ATTEST:  
      
   

By:  
      

      

Thomas W. Freeze  
      

Secretary  

   

CHANNEL  
   

EXHIBIT 1 NUMBER  



   
(i)                                      Licensee shall invest [*] of its annual Net Sales (as defined in Paragraph 4(b) below) of the Licensed Products 

towards trade and consumer marketing support (“Annual Marketing Support”). [*] of such Annual Marketing 
Support investment shall be allocated towards television media commitments (the “TV Commitment”) on Time 
Warner networks each calendar year to support the Licensed Products. In the event, Licensor is no longer affiliated 
with television  

   

[*] = CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT, MARKED BY BRACKETS, HAS BEEN 
OMITTED AND FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) PURSUANT TO SEC RULE 24b-2 
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED.  

   

 



   
media outlets during the Term, Licensee may utilize other television networks to fulfill the TV Commitment.  

   
It is understood and agreed that the Annual Marketing Support set forth above may include the Annual FSI 
Requirement set forth in separate license agreement #13770-WBLT between Licensee and Licensor.  
   

(ii)                                   Licensee shall support the launch of the Licensed Product with a FSI during the 2004 calendar year.  
   
(iii)                                Licensor shall allow Licensee to run a :05 to : 07 second tag at Licensee’s option themed with the Licensed 

Property on its existing television commercial spot featuring the Looney Tunes Property  licensed to Licensee under 
separate license agreement #13770-WBLT.  

   
(f)                                     “Licensed Property”: The fictional cartoon characters as they appear in the animated television series entitled “SCOOBY-DOO” as 

follows: SCOOBY-DOO, FRED JONES, DAPHNE BLAKE, VELMA DINKLY,  SHAGGY ROGERS, MYSTERY 
MACHINE including said characters’ representations, names, likenesses and all environmental settings, artwork and other materials 
associated therewith.  Licensee further understands and agrees that the rights granted herein are limited only to the cartoon characters 
set forth above and that any and all rights in, to or associated with any theatrical motion picture, movie of the week, television special 
or direct to video containing the “SCOOBY-DOO” cartoon characters, whether live action, animation or both, as well as with any 
sequels thereto, are specifically excluded herefrom, it being understood that all rights in and to said property are reserved exclusively 
to Licensor for use and/or licensing as it deems appropriate to third parties of its choice at Licensor’s sole discretion.  Furthermore, no 
film clips, stills, sound bites, voices, music or other audio clips are included herein. If Licensee wishes to use any such elements, 
Licensee must separately procure the necessary rights and any rights clearance or related fees arising from same shall be at Licensee’s 
sole expense.  

   
(g)                                  “Marketing Date”: Date Licensed Products first shipped to customer, but not later than March 30, 2004.  
   
(h)                                  “Royalty Rate”: Licensee shall pay to Licensor the following sums:  
   

(i)                                      [*] of Net Sales (as defined in Paragraph 4(b) below) of all Licensed Products; and  
   
(ii)                                   [*] of Net Purchase Price of all Licensed Premiums distributed by Licensee hereunder. The term “Net Purchase Price” 

herein shall mean the price actually paid by Licensee for any Licensed Premium(s) authorized and distributed hereunder. It is 
understood and agreed that any Royalties paid to Licensor on Net Purchase Price of Premiums shall be in addition to and 
shall not offset the Guaranteed Consideration hereunder.  

   
(g)                                  “Style Guide”: Any materials provided by Licensor to Licensee which sets forth the style, format, characterization and any 

artwork depicting the Licensed Property which has been approved by Licensor in writing.  
   
(i)                                      “Term”: October 2, 2003 through [*].  
   
(j)                                      “Territory”: United States (fifty states), Puerto Rico, United States Virgin Islands, and United States Military Bases.  
   

2.                                        GRANT OF LICENSE:  
   

(a)                                   Subject to the restrictions, 1imitations, reservations and conditions and Licensor’s approval rights set forth in this 
Agreement, Licensor hereby grants to Licensee and Licensee hereby accepts for the Term of this Agreement, a license to 
utilize the Licensed Property solely on or in connection with the Licensed Promotion and the Licensed Products and/or 
Licensed Premiums throughout the Territory on an exclusive basis in the Salted Snack Category as defined in Paragraph 1(d), 
except that sales of Licensed Products and Licensed Premiums sold through Airport Gift and Other Airport Stores shall be on 
a non-exclusive basis.  

   
(b)                                  Without limiting any other approval rights of Licensor as contained herein, no television commercials (animated or live 

action) may be utilized under this Agreement without the specific prior written approval of Licensor.  
   

[*] = CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT, MARKED BY BRACKETS, HAS BEEN 
OMITTED AND FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) PURSUANT TO SEC RULE 24b-2 
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED.  

   

 



   
3.                                       RESERVATION OF RIGHTS; PREMIUMS:  
   

(a)                                   Licensor reserves all rights not expressly conveyed to Licensee hereunder, and Licensor may grant licenses to others to use 
the Licensed Property, artwork and textual matter in connection with other uses, services and products without limitation.  

   
(b)                                  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated herein, Licensor, for itself and its affiliates, specifically reserves the right, 

without limitation throughout the world, to itself use, or license any third party(s) of its choice to use the Licensed Property 
for the marketing, manufacture, distribution and sale of products and/or the promotion of services similar or identical to those 
licensed herein in Paragraphs l(c) and 1(d) above for sale through any catalogue(s) or online website produced or distributed 
by or on behalf of Licensor or its affiliated companies, or for sale or distribution in any theaters, arenas or restaurants or for 
sale or distribution in connection with any home video product, including DVD or other formats, or for sale or distribution in 
the retail stores known as “Warner Bros. Studio Stores” and any other retail stores operated by or on behalf of Licensor or its 
affiliated companies, or for sale or distribution in any theme/amusement parks operated by or on behalf of Licensor and its 
affiliated companies, including without limitation, the Six Flags and Movie World parks or its licensees, Six Flags, Movie 
World, or their affiliated companies. In addition, Licensor reserves the right to allow Six Flags and Movie World to 
manufacture (or have manufactured by a third party) products similar or identical to those licensed herein for distribution or 
sale in theme and/or amusement parks owned or operated by Six Flags and/or Movie World. Further, Licensor reserves the 
right to use, or license others to use, and/or manufacture products similar or identical to those licensed herein for use as 
premiums. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to mean that Licensee is granting a license to Licensor to utilize 
Licensee’s proprietary and/or patented technology.  

   
(c)                                   Licensee specifically understands and agrees that no rights are granted herein with respect to the Warner Bros. “shield” logo 

or trademark, or any other trademark(s), logo(s) or copyrights owned by Licensor other than those specifically set forth above 
in the Licensed Property, it being understood that all rights in and to said properties are reserved exclusively to Licensor for 
use and/or licensing as it deems appropriate to third party(s) of its choice.  Notwithstanding the foregoing Licensee may use 
the Warner Bros. shield logo in connection with the legal line referenced in Paragraph 8(d) below as instructed by Licensor’s 
Brand Assurance Department.  

   
(d)                                  Licensee agrees that it will not use, or knowingly permit the use of, and will exercise due care that its customers likewise 

will refrain from the use of, the Licensed Products as premiums or the Licensed Premiums as products for retail sale, except 
with the prior written consent of Licensor.  

   
4.                                        CONSIDERATION:  
   

(a)                                   The Guaranteed Consideration paid by Licensee as set forth above shall be applied against such royalties as are, or have 
become, due to Licensor. No part of such Guaranteed Consideration shall be repayable to Licensee. Royalties earned in 
excess of the Guaranteed Consideration applicable to the Term hereof shall not offset any Guaranteed Consideration required 
in respect of the succeeding renewal term (if any); likewise, royalties earned in excess of the Guaranteed Consideration 
applicable to the renewal term (if any) shall not offset any Guaranteed Consideration applicable to any prior term.  

   
(b)                                  Royalty Payments: Licensee shall pay to Licensor a sum equal to the Royalty Rate as set forth above of (i) all Net Sales by 

Licensee of the Licensed Products and/or (ii) Net Purchase Price of the Licensed Premiums covered by this Agreement. The 
term “net sales” herein shall mean [*]. No costs incurred in the manufacture, sale, distribution, advertisement, or exploitation 
of the Licensed Products shall be deducted from any royalties payable by Licensee.  

   
(c)                                   Royalties shall be payable concurrently with the periodic statements required in Paragraph 5(a) hereof, except to the extent 

offset by the Guaranteed Consideration theretofore remitted.  
   

[*] = CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT, MARKED BY BRACKETS, HAS BEEN 
OMITTED AND FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) PURSUANT TO SEC RULE 24b-2 
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED.  

   

 



   
5.                                       PERIODIC STATEMENTS:  
   

(a)                                   Within thirty (30) days after the end of the first fiscal quarter after the date of execution of the License Agreement and 
promptly on the 25th day after the end of each fiscal quarter thereafter, Licensee shall furnish to Licensor complete and 
accurate statements certified to be accurate by Licensee, or if a corporation, by an officer of Licensee, showing the (i) number 
of units; (ii) country in which manufactured, sold, distributed and/or to which shipped; (iii) Description (as such term is 
defined below) of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums; (iv) gross sales price or Net Purchase Price (if 
applicable); and (v) itemized deductions from gross sales price and net sales price (if applicable) together with any returns 
made during the preceding fiscal quarter. Such statements shall be in such formats as Licensor shall reasonably require 
(which formats may be amended by Licensor from time to time) and shall be furnished to Licensor whether or not any of the 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums have been distributed during fiscal quarters to which such statements refer. 
Receipt or acceptance by Licensor of any of the statements furnished pursuant to this Agreement or of any sums paid 
hereunder shall not preclude Licensor from questioning the correctness thereof at any time, and in the event that any 
inconsistencies or mistakes are discovered in such statements or payments, they shall immediately be rectified and the 
appropriate payments made by Licensee. Upon demand of Licensor, Licensee shall at its own expense, but not more than 
once in any twelve (12) month period, furnish to Licensor a detailed statement by an officer of Licensee showing the (i) 
number of units; (ii) country in which manufactured, sold, distributed and/or to which shipped; (iii) Description of the 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums; (iv) gross sales price or Net Purchase Price (if applicable); and (v) itemized 
deductions from gross sales price and net sales price (if applicable) of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums 
covered by this Agreement distributed and/or sold by Licensee up to and including the date upon which Licensor has made 
such demand. For purposes of this Paragraph 5(a), the term “Description” shall mean a detailed description of the Licensed 
Products and/or Licensed Premiums including the nature of each of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums, any 
and all names and likenesses, whether live actors or animated characters, from the Licensed Property utilized on the Licensed 
Products and/or Licensed Premiums and/or any related packaging and/or wrapping material, and any other components of the 
Licensed Property utilized on the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums and/or any related packaging and/or 
wrapping material. In the event Licensor is responsible for the payment of any additional third party participations based on 
Licensee not reporting by character name and likeness as provided above, Licensee shall be responsible for reimbursing 
Licensor for the full amount of all such third party claims, including without limitation the participation itself, interest, audit 
and reasonable attorneys’ fees. Licensee understands and agrees that it is a material term and condition of this Agreement that 
Licensee include the Description on all statements. In the event Licensee fails to do so, Licensor shall have the right to 
terminate this Agreement, in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 14 herein.  

   
(b)                                  On all statements and payments required hereunder, Licensee will reference the contract number(s) set forth on the first page 

of this Agreement (and/or such other contract number(s) designated by Licensor in a written notice to Licensee). If Licensee 
chooses to deliver statements by e-mail, Licensee will deliver such statements to the following e-mail address: 
wbcproyrep@warnerbros.com.  

   
If Licensee chooses to deliver payments by wire transfer, Licensee will deliver such payments as follows:  
   

BANK OF AMERICA  
1850 Gateway Blvd. #5693  
Concord, CA 94520  
USA  
   
Account Number: 1257-000503  
ABA #: 121000358  

   

 



   
Swift Code: BofA US 6S  
Account Name: Warner Bros.  
Reference: WBCP / Licensee Name / Contract Number  
   

If the United States Postal Service is used to deliver statements and/or payments, Licensee will deliver such statements and/or 
payments to the following:  
   

WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  
21477 Network Place  
Chicago, IL 60673-1214  
USA  
   

If Federal Express or any other courier service is used to deliver statements and/or payments, Licensee will deliver such 
statements and/or payments to the following:  
   

BANK ONE  
Attention WBCP lockbox #21477  
525 West Monroe  
8th Floor Mail Room  
Chicago, IL 60661  
Telephone Number 312-732-5500  
   

(c)                                   Any payments which are made to Licensor hereunder after the due date required therefore, shall bear interest at the then 
current prime rate, as published in The Wall Street Journal (New York edition), plus three (3%) percent (or the maximum rate 
permissible by law, if less) from the date such payments are due to the date of payment. Licensor’s right hereunder to interest 
on late payments shall not preclude Licensor from exercising any of its other rights or remedies pursuant to this Agreement or 
otherwise with regard to Licensee’s failure to make timely remittances.  

   
6.                                       BOOKS AND RECORDS:  
   

(a)                                   Licensee shall keep, maintain and preserve (in Licensee’s principal place of business) for at least two (2) years following 
expiration or termination of the Term of this Agreement or any renewal(s) hereof (if applicable), complete and accurate 
records of accounts including, without limitation, purchase orders, inventory records, invoices, correspondence, banking and 
financial and other records pertaining to the various items required to be submitted by Licensee as well as to ensure 
Licensee’s compliance with local laws as required pursuant to Paragraph 13(k) hereof. Such records and accounts shall be 
available for inspection and audit up to two (2) times per year during or after the Term of this Agreement or any renewal(s) 
hereof (if applicable) during reasonable business hours and upon reasonable notice by Licensor or its nominees. Licensee 
agrees not to cause any interference with Licensor or nominees of Licensor in the performance of their duties. During such 
inspections and audits, Licensor shall have the right to take extracts and/or make copies of Licensee’s relevant records as it 
deems reasonably necessary. Licensor agrees to keep confidential all information and copies obtained by Licensor pursuant 
to this Paragraph other than with respect to required disclosures in connection with disputes between the parties or as 
otherwise required by law, court order or governmental process.  

   
(b)                                  The exercise by Licensor in whole or in part, at any time of the right to audit records and accounts or of any other right 

herein granted, or the acceptance by Licensor of any statement or statements or the receipt and/or deposit by Licensor, of any 
payment tendered by or on behalf of Licensee shall be without prejudice to any rights or remedies of Licensor and such 
acceptance, receipt and/or deposit shall not preclude or prevent Licensor from thereafter disputing the accuracy of any such 
statement or payment.  

   
(c)                                   If pursuant to its right hereunder Licensor causes an audit and inspection to be instituted which thereafter discloses a 

deficiency between the amount found to be due to Licensor and the amount actually received or credited to Licensor, then 
Licensee shall, upon Licensor’s demand, promptly pay the deficiency, together with interest thereon at the then current prime 
rate from the date such amount became due until the date of payment, and, if the deficiency is more than five percent (5%) of 
all payments made by Licensee during the period covered by  

   

 



   
the audit, then Licensee shall pay the reasonable costs and expenses of such audit and inspection.  
   

7.                                        INDEMNIFICATIONS:  
   

(a)                                   During the Term, and continuing after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensor shall indemnify Licensee 
and its affiliates and shall hold them harmless from any loss, liability, damage, cost or expense, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, arising out of any claims or suits which may be brought or made against Licensee and its affiliates by reason 
of the breach by Licensor of the warranties or representations as set forth in Paragraph 12 hereof, provided that Licensee shall 
give prompt written notice, and full cooperation and assistance to Licensor relative to any such claim or suit and provided, 
further, that Licensor shall have the option to undertake and conduct the defense of any suit so brought. Licensee shall not, 
however, be entitled to recover for lost profits. Licensee shall cooperate fully in all respects with Licensor in the conduct and 
defense of said suit and/or proceedings related thereto.  

   
(b)                                  During the Term, and continuing after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall indemnify Licensor 

and each of its affiliates, and shall hold them harmless from any loss, liability, damage, cost or expense including reasonable 
attorneys fees, arising out of any claims or suits which may be brought or made against Licensor or any of its affiliates, by 
reason of: (i) any breach of Licensee’s covenants and undertakings hereunder; (ii) any unauthorized use by Licensee of the 
Licensed Property; (iii) any use of any trademark or copyright on or in connection with the Licensed Products, the Licensed 
Premiums or the Licensed Promotion (except trademarks or copyrights in the Licensed Property used in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement), design, patent, process, method or device on or in connection with the Licensed Products, the 
Licensed Premiums or the Licensed Promotion; (iv) Licensee’s non-compliance with any applicable federal, state or local 
laws or with any other applicable regulations; and (v) any alleged defects and/or inherent dangers (whether obvious or 
hidden) in the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums, or the use thereof. Provided, however, that Licensor shall give 
prompt written notice, and full cooperation and assistance to Licensee relative to any claim or suit and provided, further, that 
Licensee shall have the option to undertake and conduct the defense of any suit so brought. Licensor shall cooperate fully in 
all respects with Licensee in the conduct and defense of said suit and/or proceedings related thereto. Provided, however, that 
Licensor shall give prompt written notice, and full cooperation and assistance to Licensee relative to any such claim or suit 
and provided, further, that Licensee shall have the option to undertake and conduct the defense of any suit so brought. 
Licensor shall cooperate fully in all respects with Licensee in the conduct and defense of said suit and/or proceedings related 
thereto.  

   
(c)                                   With regard to Paragraph 7(b) above, Licensee agrees to obtain, at its own expense, Commercial General Liability 

Insurance, including product liability and contractual liability coverage providing adequate protection for Licensor and each 
of its affiliates and Licensee against any such claims or suits in amounts no less than three million dollars ($3,000,000) per 
occurrence, combined single limits. Simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, Licensee undertakes to submit to 
Licensor a fully paid policy or certificate of insurance naming Licensor and each of its affiliates as additional insured parties 
and, requiring that the insurer shall not terminate or materially modify such policy or certificate of insurance without written 
notice to Licensor at least thirty (30) days in advance thereof. Such insurance shall at all times be primary and not 
contributory with any insurance carried by Licensor or any of their affiliates. Further the delivery of the policy or certificate, 
as provided in this Paragraph 7(c) are material obligations of Licensee.  

   
8.                                       ARTWORK; COPYRIGHT AND TRADEMARK NOTICES:  
   

(a)                              The Licensed Property shall be displayed or used only in such form and in such manner as has been specifically approved in 
writing by Licensor in advance and Licensee undertakes to assure usage of the trademark(s) and character(s) solely as 
approved hereunder. Licensee further agrees and acknowledges that any and all Artwork (defined below) created, utilized, 
approved and/or authorized for use hereunder by Licensor which otherwise features or includes the Licensed Property shall be 
owned in its entirety exclusively by Licensor excluding intellectual property rights in and to any elements that are owned by 
Licensee or  

   

 



   
licensed by Licensee from a third party and do not include the Licensed Property. “Artwork” as used herein shall include, 
without limitation, all pictorial, graphic, visual, audio, audio-visual, digital, literary, animated, artistic, dramatic, sculptural, 
musical or any other type of creations and applications, whether finished or not, including, but not limited to, animation 
(including, without limitation, animation produced by Warner Bros. Animation), drawings, designs, sketches, images, tooling 
and tooling aids, illustrations, film, video, electronic, digitized or computerized information, software, object code, source 
code, on-line elements, music, text, dialogue, stories, visuals, effects, scripts, voiceovers, logos, one-sheets, promotional 
pieces, packaging, display materials, printed materials, photographs, interstitials, notes, shot logs, character profiles and 
translations, produced by Licensee or for Licensee, pursuant to this Agreement. Licensor reserves for itself or its designees 
all rights to use any and all Artwork created, utilized and/or approved hereunder without limitation excluding intellectual 
property rights in and to any elements that are owned by Licensee or licensed by Licensee from a third party and do no 
include the Licensed Property. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to mean that Licensee is granting a license to 
Licensor to utilize Licensee’s proprietary, patented technology, and/or intellectual property rights whether alone or in 
combination with the Licensed Property.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that the term “Artwork” excludes 
any elements of the Licensed Products and other materials created in connection herewith, and all related intellectual property 
rights, independently created by Licensee, solely or jointly with any third party, or licensed to Licensee from a third party, 
that do not use, exploit or derive from any of the Licensed Property, including, for example, any original, independently 
created Licensee artwork used in Licensee’s packaging, advertising, and products that does not use, exploit or derive from 
any of the Licensed Property.  
   

(b)                                  Licensee acknowledges that, as between Licensor and Licensee, the Licensed Property, Artwork and all derivative works 
thereof, and all other depictions, expressions and derivations thereof, excluding intellectual property rights in and to any 
elements that are owned by Licensee or licensed by Licensee from a third party and do not include the Licensed Property, and 
all copyrights, trademarks and other proprietary rights therein are owned exclusively by Licensor and Licensee shall have no 
interest in or claim thereto, except for the limited right to use the same pursuant to this Agreement and subject to its terms 
and conditions.  

   
Licensor acknowledges that, as between Licensor and Licensee, the Licensee’s intellectual property and all derivative works 
thereof, and all copyrights, trademarks and other proprietary rights therein are owned exclusively by Licensee and Licensor 
shall have not interest in or claim thereto.  
   
Licensee agrees and acknowledges that any Artwork created by Licensee or for Licensee hereunder is a “work made for hire” 
for Licensor under the U.S. Copyright Act, and any and all similar provisions of law under other jurisdictions, and that 
Licensor is the author of such works for all purposes, and that Licensor is the exclusive owner of all the rights comprised in 
the undivided copyright and all renewals, extensions and reversions therein, in and to such works in perpetuity and 
throughout the universe. Licensee hereby waives and releases in favor of Licensor all rights (if any) of “droit moral,” rental 
rights and similar rights in and to the Artwork (the “Intangible Rights”) and agrees that Licensor shall have the right to revise, 
condense, abridge, expand, adapt, change, modify, add to, subtract from, re-title, re-draw, recolor, or otherwise modify the 
Artwork, without the consent of Licensee. Licensee hereby irrevocably grants, transfers and assigns to Licensor all right, title 
and interest, including copyrights, trademark rights, patent rights and other proprietary rights, it may have in and to the 
Artwork and all derivative works, in perpetuity and throughout the universe. Licensee acknowledges that Licensor shall have 
the right to terminate this Agreement in the event Licensee asserts any rights (other than those specifically granted pursuant 
to this Agreement) in or to the Licensed Property or Artwork.  
   
Licensee hereby warrants that any and all work created by Licensee under this Agreement apart from the materials provided 
to Licensee by Licensor is and shall be wholly original with or fully cleared by Licensee and shall not copy or otherwise 
infringe the rights of any third parties, and Licensee hereby indemnifies Licensor and will hold Licensor harmless from any 
such claim of infringement or otherwise involving Licensee’s performance hereunder, under the terms of Paragraph 7(b). At 
the request of Licensor, Licensee shall execute such form(s) of assignment of copyright or other papers as Licensor may 
reasonably request in order to  

   

 



   
confirm and vest in Licensor the rights in the properties as provided for herein. In addition, Licensee hereby appoints 
Licensor as Licensee’s Attorney-in-Fact to take such actions and to make, sign, execute, acknowledge and deliver all such 
documents as may from time to time be necessary to confirm in Licensor, its successors and assigns, all rights granted herein. 
If any third party makes or has made any contribution to the creation of Artwork authorized for use hereunder, Licensee 
agrees to obtain from such party a full confirmation and assignment of rights so that the foregoing rights shall vest fully in 
Licensor, in the Form of the Contributor’s Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and by this reference made a part hereof, 
prior to commencing work, and subject to the prior written approval of Licensor, ensuring that all rights in the Artwork and 
Licensed Property arise in and are assigned to Licensor. Promptly upon entering into each such Contributor’s Agreement, 
Licensee shall give Licensor a copy of such Contributor’s Agreement. Licensee assumes all responsibility for such parties 
and agrees that Licensee shall bear any and all risks arising out of or relating to the performance of services by them and to 
the fulfillment of their obligations under the Contributor’s Agreement.  
   

(c)                                   Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, or upon demand by Licensor at any time, Licensee shall 
promptly deliver to Licensor all Artwork or Licensed Property, whether finished or not, including drawings, drafts, sketches, 
illustrations, screens, data, digital files and information, copies or other items, information or things created in the course of 
preparing the Licensed Property, excluding any elements that are owned by Licensee or licensed by Licensee from a third 
party and all materials provided to Licensee by Licensor hereunder, or, at Licensor’s option and instruction, shall destroy 
some or all of the foregoing and shall confirm to Licensor in writing that Licensee has done so. Licensee shall not use such 
Artwork or Licensed Property, items, information or things, material, for any purpose other than is permitted under this 
Agreement. For any Licensee elements and/or intellectual property that utilize Licensed Property or Artwork in whole or in 
part, Licensee shall destroy such elements and/or intellectual property upon expiration or termination of this Agreement for 
any reason and shall confirm to Licensor in writing that Licensee has done so.  

   
(d)                                  Licensee shall, within thirty (30) days of receiving an invoice, pay Licensor for Artwork executed for Licensee by Licensor 

(or by third parties under contract to Licensor) for use in the development of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed 
Premiums and any related packaging, display and promotional materials at Licensor’s prevailing commercial art rates. The 
foregoing shall include any Artwork that, in Licensor’s opinion, and subject to Licensee’s written approval, is necessary to 
modify Artwork initially prepared by Licensee and submitted for approval. Estimates of Artwork charges are available upon 
request. Licensor shall submit to Licensee, for Licensee’s prior approval, any increases of ten percent (10%) or more above 
the estimate originally approved by Licensee, and Licensee shall not be obligated to pay for such increased cost if Licensee 
has not provided its approval thereof.  

   
(e)                                   Licensee shall cause to be imprinted, irremovably and legibly on the packaging of each Licensed Product and/or Licensed 

Premium manufactured, distributed or sold under this Agreement, and all printed and/or televised advertising, promotional, 
packaging and wrapping material wherein the Licensed Property appears, the following copyright and/or trademark notice(s) 
or such other notice as may be approved by Licensor:  

   
TM & © Hanna-Barbera.  
(s03)  
   
(The year date shall be as instructed by Licensor.)  
   

(f)                                     In no event shall Licensee use, in respect to the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums and/or in relation to any 
advertising, promotional, packaging or wrapping material, any copyright or trademark notices which shall conflict with, be 
confusing with, or negate, any notices required hereunder by Licensor in respect to the Licensed Property.  

   
(g)                                  Licensee agrees to deliver to Licensor free of cost six (6) of each of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums 

together with their packaging and wrapping material for trademark registration purposes in compliance with applicable laws, 
simultaneously upon distribution to the public. Any copyrights or trademarks with respect to the Licensed Promotion or 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums shall be procured by and for the benefit of Licensor and  

   

 



   
at Licensor’s expense. Licensee further agrees to provide Licensor with the date of the first use of the Licensed Products 
and/or Licensed Premiums in interstate and intrastate commerce.  
   

(h)                                  Licensee shall assist Licensor, at Licensor’s expense, in the procurement, protection, and maintenance of Licensor’s rights to 
the Licensed Property. Licensor may, in its sole discretion, commence or prosecute and effect the disposition of any claims or 
suits relative to the imitation, infringement and/or unauthorized use of the Licensed Property either in its own name, or in the 
name of Licensee, or join Licensee as a party in the prosecution of such claims or suits. Licensee agrees to cooperate fully 
with Licensor in connection with any such claims or suits and undertakes to furnish full assistance to Licensor in the conduct 
of all proceedings in regard thereto. Licensee shall promptly notify Licensor in writing of any known infringements or 
imitations or unauthorized uses by others of the Licensed Property, on or in relation to promotions similar to the Licensed 
Promotion or products identical to similar to or related to the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums. Licensor shall in 
its sole discretion have the right to settle or effect compromises in respect thereof. Licensee shall not institute any suit or take 
any action on account of such infringements, imitations or unauthorized uses.  

   
(i)                                      Licensee acknowledges receipt of Licensor’s Style Guide and undertakes to utilize the depictions of the Licensed Property 

(and, if authorized by Licensor, any emblems and/or devices associated therewith) in the form as set forth therein on all 
Licensed Products as well as advertising, promotional, packaging or wrapping materials. In the event that Licensee desires to 
utilize renditions which vary from those as set forth in the Style Guide, Licensee shall make a request to Licensor in that 
connection, and if the request is approved, Licensor shall prepare appropriate Artwork and deliver same to Licensee. 
Licensee shall utilize such Artwork solely in the form furnished by Licensor, if Licensee decides to use such Artwork in 
Licensee’s sole discretion, shall pay a reasonable fee to Licensor in respect thereof not later than one month after delivery 
thereof by Licensor to Licensee, and such fee shall be additional to and not offset by any Guaranteed Consideration referred 
to in Paragraph 1(b) hereinabove.  

   
(j)                                      If Licensee is unable or unwilling to use artwork from the Licensor’s Style Guide and if Licensor is unable or unwilling to 

provide Licensee with Artwork as described in subparagraph (h) above and if Licensor expressly consents in writing, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, but may be subject to such conditions as Licensor may elect in its sole discretion, 
then and only then may the Licensee create or procure the creation of Artwork. In any event, Licensee shall assign or procure 
the assignment in writing of all rights, copyright and otherwise, in and to any Artwork, and it is intended that this provision 
shall take effect as an assignment of prospective copyrights in Artwork yet to be created by or for. The Licensee further 
undertakes to take all and any steps necessary for the recordal or registration of the assignment(s) referred to hereinabove.  

   
9.                                       APPROVALS AND QUALITY CONTROLS:  
   

(a)                                   Licensee agrees to strictly comply and maintain compliance with the quality standards, specifications and rights of approval 
of Licensor in respect to any and all usage of the Licensed Property on or in relation to the Licensed Products and/or 
Licensed Premiums throughout the Term of this Agreement and any renewals or extensions thereof (if applicable). Licensee 
agrees to furnish to Licensor free of cost for its written approval as to quality and style, samples of each of the Licensed 
Products and/or Licensed Premiums, together with their packaging, hangtags, and wrapping material, as follows in the 
successive stages indicated: (i) rough sketches/layout concepts; (ii) finished artwork or final proofs; (iii) pre-production 
samples or strike-offs; and (iv) finished products, including packaged samples.  

   
(b)                                  No Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums and no material utilizing the Licensed Property shall be manufactured, 

sold, distributed or promoted by Licensee without prior written approval. In addition to the foregoing, Licensee understands 
that it shall furnish to Licensor, scripts and storyboards of any proposed media use of the Licensed Property as may be 
authorized hereunder, in sufficient time for Licensee to make all revisions which Licensor in its sole discretion may request. 
Licensee may, subject to Licensor’s prior written approval, use textual and/or pictorial matter pertaining to the Licensed 
Property on promotional, display and advertising material as may, in its reasonable judgment, promote the sale of the 
Licensed  

   

 



   
Products and/or Licensed Premiums. All advertising and promotional materials relating to the Licensed Promotion and 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums must be submitted to the Licensor for its written approval at the following 
stages appropriate to the medium used. For print materials, submissions are to be made at the following stages: (a) rough 
sketches or layout concepts; (b) finished artwork or final proofs; and (c) finished materials. For television commercials, if 
approved by Licensor, submissions are to be made at the following stages: (a) initial concept; (b) storyboard, including 
written text; (c) pencil tests and voice-overs for animation and/or selection of performers for live action; and (d) a cassette of 
the finished commercial prior to air date. For radio or other audio materials, if approved by Licensor, submissions are to be 
made at the following stages: (a) initial concept; (b) script; (c) voice-overs; and (d) a cassette of the finished commercial prior 
to the air date.  
   

(c)                                   Approval or disapproval shall lie in Licensor’s sole discretion. Licensor shall use its best efforts to approve, disapprove or 
otherwise comment upon any items submitted to it for approval as may be required hereunder within ten (10) business days 
after receipt by it of such item(s). In the event that Licensor fails to approve, disapprove or otherwise comment upon the item
(s) so submitted within said ten (10) business days, then Licensee shall have the right to notify Licensor of such failure by 
facsimile (evidenced by written confirmation of facsimile transmittal) and Licensor shall thereafter be required to approve, 
disapprove or otherwise comment upon the item(s) so submitted within seven (7) business days after receipt by it of said 
facsimile and failure to do so shall be deemed approval of any item(s) so submitted. Any Licensed Products and/or Licensed 
Premiums not so approved in writing shall be deemed unlicensed and shall not be manufactured, distributed or sold. If any 
unapproved Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums are being distributed or sold, Licensor may, together with other 
remedies available to it including, but not limited to, immediate termination of this Agreement, require such Licensed 
Products and/or Licensed Premiums to be promptly withdrawn from the market and to be destroyed, such destruction to be 
attested to in a certificate signed by an officer of Licensee.  

   
(d)                                  Any material modification of a Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium must be submitted in advance for Licensor’s 

written approval as if it were a new Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium. Any change involving the Artwork 
appearing on a Licensed Product shall constitute a material modification of such Licensed Product. Approval of a Licensed 
Product and/or Licensed Premium which uses particular artwork does not imply approval of such artwork for use with a 
different Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium.  

   
(e)                                   Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums must conform in all material respects to the final production samples approved 

by Licensor. If in Licensor’s reasonable judgement, the quality of a Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium originally 
approved has deteriorated in later production runs, or if a Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium has otherwise been 
altered, Licensor may, in addition to other remedies available to it, require that such Licensed Product and/or Licensed 
Premium be immediately withdrawn from the market.  

   
(f)                                     Licensee shall permit Licensor to inspect Licensee’s manufacturing operations, testing and manufacturing payroll records 

(including those operations and relevant records of any supplier or manufacturer approved pursuant to Paragraph 10 (b) 
below) with respect to the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums.  

   
(g)                                  If any changes or modifications are required to be made to any material submitted to Licensor for its written approval in 

order to ensure compliance with Licensor’s specifications or standards of quality, Licensee agrees promptly to make such 
changes or modifications.  

   
(h)                                  Subsequent to final approval, no fewer than twenty-four (24) production samples of Licensed Products and/or Licensed 

Premiums will be sent to Licensor, to ensure quality control simultaneously upon distribution to the public. In addition, 
Licensor shall have the right to purchase any and all Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums in any quantity at the 
maximum discount price Licensee charges its best customer, assuming similar quantities and shipment terms.  

   
(i)                                      To avoid confusion of the public, Licensee agrees not to associate other characters or properties with the Licensed Property 

on the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums or in any packaging, promotional or display materials unless Licensee 
receives Licensor’s prior  

   

 



   
written approval. Furthermore, Licensee agrees not to use the Licensed Property (or any component thereof) on any business 
sign, business cards, stationery or forms, nor as part of the name of Licensee’s business or any division thereof.  
   

(j)                                      Pursuant to this Agreement, Licensee shall use its reasonable commercial efforts to notify its customers of the requirement 
that Licensor has the right to approve all promotional, display and advertising materials that incorporate the Licensed 
Property. It is understood and agreed that the use of images featuring the Licensed Product and its approved packaging in 
promotional, display and advertising materials is excluded from this requirement, provided, however, none of the Licensed 
Property is utilized separately from the Licensed Product and its packaging.  

   
(k)                                   Any request by Licensee to use animation or animated character voices in Licensed Products or related packaging or 

advertising materials (including, without limitation, television or radio commercials) is subject to Licensor’s prior written 
approval. If the requested use is so approved by Licensor, such animation or character voices will be produced for or 
provided to Licensee by Warner Bros. Animation or other third parties identified and approved by Licensor, and will be 
subject to such additional fees and other terms set forth in a separate agreement (or agreements) between Licensee and 
Warner Bros. Animation and/or other third parties identified and approved by Licensor. In the event any video or sound clips 
(“Clips”) or stills shots (“Stills”) from any television series or motion picture are approved by Licensor in writing for use by 
Licensee in Licensed Products or related packaging or advertising materials (including, without limitation, television or radio 
commercials), such Clips or Stills will be provided by Warner Bros. Television and/or Warner Bros. Theatrical, as applicable, 
subject to the terms set forth in Paragraph 9 (1) below and, if required by Licensor, pursuant to such additional fees and other 
terms set forth in a separate agreement (or agreements) between Licensee and Warner Bros. Television and/or Warner Bros. 
Theatrical. Any payment made or payable to third parties (including, without limitation, Warner Bros. Animation, Warner 
Bros. Television and Warner Bros. Theatrical) with respect to such animation, character voices, Clips or Stills will be in 
addition to and will not offset the Guaranteed Consideration required to be paid by Licensee hereunder.  

   
(l)                                      Licensee will not make or authorize any reproduction whatsoever of any Clips or Stills, in whole or in part, except in 

connection with the Licensed Products and/or related packaging or advertising materials as such may be approved for use by 
Licensor as set forth above in Paragraph 9(k). Licensee will not have the right to edit or otherwise alter the Clips or Stills, or 
any portion thereof, except as specifically approved in writing by Licensor. Licensee will be solely responsible for, and will 
obtain, all other authorizations, consents and releases, including, but not limited to, authorization of any talent appearing in, 
or whose voice may be used in, the Clips or Stills, and will pay all reuse fees and other compensation as may be required by 
applicable collective bargaining or individual contracts or by law. Without limiting the foregoing, if any music is included in 
the Clips as exhibited, Licensee will obtain a11 necessary music synchronization and performance rights from the copyright 
proprietors of such music and such other persons or entities, including performing rights societies, as may own or control the 
rights thereto and will obtain all necessary master recording licenses required in connection with any music included in the 
soundtrack of the Clips. Licensee’s use of the Clips or Stills will not affect Licensor’s continued and separate copyright 
ownership of the Clips or Stills or the production from which the Clips or Stills were taken, or Licensor’s continued 
ownership of the trademarks and any other intellectual property rights associated with any characters or other elements 
appearing or embodied in the Clips or Stills or such production. Licensee will hold any copyrights in trust for Licensor 
insofar as the Clips or Stills are concerned (and, upon Licensor’s request, the Licensed Products and/or related packaging or 
advertising materials will bear a specific copyright notice for the Clips or Stills in a form prescribed by Licensor and will 
contain appropriate credit to Licensor as required by Licensor, e.g., “Clips from the Motion Picture used courtesy of Warner 
Bros. Entertainment Inc.”). Promptly upon completion of the approved use, Licensee will, at its own expense, return to 
Licensor all Clip and/or Still related materials delivered to Licensee by Licensor, including without limitation, preprint 
material, positive prints and any video copies of Clips.  

   

 



   
(m)                                Licensor’s approval of Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums (including, without limitation, the Licensed Products 

and/or Licensed Premiums themselves as well as promotional, display and advertising materials) shall in no way constitute or 
be construed as an approval by Licensor of Licensee’s use of any trademark, copyright and/or other proprietary materials not 
owned by Licensor.  

   
10.                                DISTRIBUTION; SUBLICENSE MANUFACTURE:  
   

(a)                                   Within the Channels of Distribution set forth in Paragraph 1(a) hereof, Licensee shall sell the Licensed Products/Licensed 
Premiums to wholesalers, distributors or retailers for sale or resale and distribution directly to the public. If Licensee sells or 
distributes the Licensed Products/Licensed Premiums at a special price, directly or indirectly, to itself, including without 
limitation, any subsidiary of Licensee or to any other person, firm, or corporation affiliated with Licensee (including any 
affiliated distributors) or its officers, directors or major stockholders, for ultimate sale to unrelated third parties, Licensee 
shall pay royalties with respect to such sales or distribution, based upon the price generally charged the trade by Licensee.  

   
(b)                                  Licensee shall not be entitled to sublicense any of its rights under this Agreement. In the event Licensee is not the 

manufacturer of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums, Licensee shall, subject to the prior written approval of 
Licensor, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, be entitled to utilize a third party manufacturer in connection 
with the manufacture and production of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums, provided that such manufacturer 
shall execute a letter in the form of Exhibit 3 attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof In such event, Licensee 
shall remain primarily obligated under a11 of the provisions of this Agreement and any default of this Agreement by such 
manufacturer shall be deemed a default by Licensee hereunder. In no event shall any such third party manufacturer agreement 
include the right to grant any rights to subcontractors.  

   
11.                                  GOODWILL: Licensee recognizes the great value of the publicity and goodwill associated with the Licensed Property and 

acknowledges: (i) such goodwill is exclusively that of Licensor; and (ii) that the Licensed Property has acquired a secondary meaning 
as Licensor’s trademarks and/or identifications in the mind of the purchasing public. Licensee further recognizes and acknowledges 
that a breach by Licensee of any of its covenants, agreements or undertakings hereunder will cause Licensor irreparable damage, 
which cannot be readily remedied in damages in an action at law, and may, in addition thereto, constitute an infringement of 
Licensor’s copyrights, trademarks and/other proprietary rights in, and to the Licensed Property, thereby entitling Licensor to equitable 
remedies, and costs.  

   
12.                                  LICENSOR’S WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS: Licensor represents and warrants to Licensee that:  
   

(a)                                   It has, and will have throughout the Term of this Agreement, the right to license the Licensed Property to Licensee in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement; and  

   
(b)                                  The making of this Agreement by Licensor, and use by Licensor of the Licensed Property pursuant to this Agreement does 

not violate any agreements, rights or obligations of any person, firm or corporation.  
   

13.                                LICENSEE’S WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS: Licensee represents and warrants to Licensor that, during the Term 
and thereafter:  

   
(a)                                   It will not attack the title of Licensor (or third parties that have granted rights to Licensor) in and to the Licensed Property or 

any copyright or trademarks pertaining thereto, nor will it attack the validity of the license granted hereunder;  
   
(b)                                  It will not harm, misuse or bring into disrepute the Licensed Property;  
   
(c)                                   It will conduct the Licensed Promotion as well as manufacture, promote and distribute the Licensed Products and/or 

Licensed Premiums in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and in compliance with all applicable government 
regulations and industry standards;  

   

 



   
(d)                                  It will not create any expenses chargeable to Licensor without the prior written approval of Licensor in each and every 

instance. It will not cause or allow any liens or encumbrances to be placed against, or grant any security interest (except to 
U.S. Bank National Association, a National banking association) in, the Licensed Property, and/or it will not intentionally 
cause or allow any liens or encumbrances to be placed against, or grant any security interest (except to U.S. Bank National 
Association, a National banking association) in Licensee’s inventory, contract rights and/or accounts receivables, and/or 
proceeds thereof, with respect to the Licensed Products without Licensor’s prior written consent;  

   
(e)                                   It will use reasonable commercial efforts to protect its right to manufacture, promote and distribute the Licensed Products 

and/or Licensed Premiums hereunder;  
   
(f)                                     It will at all times comply with all government laws and regulations, including but not limited to product safety, food, health, 

drug, cosmetic, sanitary or other similar laws relating or pertaining to the conduct of the Licensed Promotion as well as the 
manufacture, distribution, advertising or use of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums, and shall maintain its 
appropriate customary high quality standards during the Term hereof. It shall comply with any regulatory agencies which 
shall have jurisdiction over the Licensed Promotion or Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums and shall procure and 
maintain in force any and all permissions, certifications and/or other authorizations from governmental and/or other official 
authorities that may be required in response thereto. Each Licensed Product and/or Licensed Premium and component thereof 
distributed hereunder shall comply with all applicable laws, and regulations. Licensee shall follow reasonable and proper 
procedures for testing that all Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums comply with such laws, regulations and 
standards. Licensee shall permit Licensor or its designees to inspect testing records and procedures with respect to the 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums for compliance. Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums that do not 
comply with all applicable laws, regulations and standards shall automatically be deemed unapproved and immediately taken 
off the market;  

   
(g)                                  It shall, upon Licensor’s request, provide credit information to Licensor including, but not limited to, fiscal year-end 

financial statements (profit-and-loss statement and balance sheet) and operating statements;  
   
(h)                                  It will provide Licensor with the date(s) of first use of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums in interstate and 

intrastate commerce, where appropriate;  
   
(i)                                      It will, pursuant to Licensor’s instructions, duly take any and all necessary steps to secure execution of all necessary 

documentation for the recordation of itself as user of the Licensed Property in any jurisdiction where this is required or where 
Licensor reasonably requests that such recordation shall be effected. Licensee further agrees that it will at its own expense 
cooperate with Licensor in cancellation of any such recordation at the expiration of this Agreement or upon termination of 
Licensee’s right to use the Licensed Property. Licensee hereby appoints Licensor its Attorney-in-Fact for such purpose;  

   
(j)                                      It will not deliver or sell Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums outside the Territory or knowingly deliver or sell 

Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums to a third party for delivery outside the Territory;  
   
(k)                                   It will not use any labor that violates any local labor laws, including all wage and hour laws, laws against discrimination and 

that it will not use prison, slave or child labor in connection with the manufacture of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed 
Premiums;  

   
(l)                                      It shall not send, share with or otherwise disclose any Artwork to any third party, including licensees of Licensor, but with 

the exception of approved third party manufacturers hereunder, without the prior written consent of Licensor;  
   
(m)                                It shall at all times comply with all commercially reasonable manufacturing, sales, distribution, retail and marketing policies 

and strategies promulgated in writing by Licensor from time-to-time, and provided the same shall not materially increase the 
costs of manufacturing, sales, distribution, retail and marketing the Licensed Products; and  

   

 



   
(n)                                  If requested by Licensor to do so, it will use reasonable efforts to utilize specific design elements of the Licensed Property 

provided to Licensee by Licensor on any promotional or advertising materials and/or hangtags, labels or other materials with 
respect to the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums.  

   
14.                                TERMINATION BY LICENSOR:  
   

(a)                                   Licensor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without prejudice to any rights which it may have, whether 
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, or otherwise in law, or in equity, or otherwise, upon the occurrence of any one 
or more of the following events (herein called “defaults”):  

   
(i)                                      Licensee materially defaults in the performance of any of its obligations provided for in this Agreement; or  
   
(ii)                                   Licensee shall have failed to deliver to Licensor or to maintain in full force and effect the insurance referred to in 

Paragraph 7(c) hereof; or  
   
(iii)                                Licensee shall fail to make any payments due hereunder on the date due; or  
   
(iv)                               Licensee shall fail to deliver any of the statements required herein or to give access to the premises and/or 1icense 

records pursuant to the provisions hereof to Licensor’s authorized representatives for the purposes permitted 
hereunder; or  

   
(v)                                  Licensee shall fail to comply in all material respects with any laws, or regulations as provided in Paragraph 13(f) or 

any governmental agency or other body, office or official vested with appropriate authority finds that the Licensed 
Products and/or Licensed Premiums are harmful or defective in any way, manner or form, or are being 
manufactured, sold or distributed in contravention of applicable laws, regulations or standards, or in a manner likely 
to cause harm; or  

   
(vi)                               Licensee shall be unable to pay its debts when due, or shall make any assignment for the benefit of creditors, or 

shall file any petition under the bankruptcy or insolvency laws of any jurisdiction, county or place, or shall have or 
suffer a receiver or trustee to be appointed for its business or property, or be adjudicated a bankrupt or an insolvent; 
or  

   
(vii)                            Licensee does not commence in good faith to execute the Licensed Promotion (i.e. manufacture, distribute and sell 

the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums) on or before the Marketing Date or thereafter fails to diligently 
and continuously execute the Licensed Promotion; or  

   
(viii)                         Licensee shall execute the Licensed Promotion and/or manufacture, sell or distribute (whichever first occurs) any 

of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums without the prior written approval of Licensor as provided in 
Paragraph 9 hereof; or  

   
(ix)                                 Licensee undergoes a change of control as defined in Attachment A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference, provided that Licensor must give written notice of termination, if at all, within thirty (30) days after 
written notice of the change in control is given to Licensor by Licensee; or  

   
(x)                                    Licensee uses Artwork which has not been approved by Licensor in compliance with the provisions of Paragraph 8

(h), (i) or (j) hereof; or  
   
(xi)                                 A manufacturer approved pursuant to Paragraph 10(b) hereof shall sell Licensed Products and/or Licensed 

Premiums to parties other than Licensee or engage in conduct, which conduct if engaged in by Licensee would 
entitle Licensor to terminate this Agreement; or  

   
(xii)                              Licensee delivers or sells Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums outside the Territory or knowingly sells 

Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums(s) to a  
   

 



   
third party who Licensee knows intends to, or who Licensee reasonably should suspect intends to, sell or deliver 
such Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums outside the Territory; or  
   

   
(b)                                  In the event any of these defaults occur, Licensor shall give notice of termination in writing to Licensee in the manner 

prescribed in Paragraph 16 below. Licensee shall have fifteen (15) days from the date of giving notice in which to correct any 
of these defaults (except defaults based on non-payment of monies to Licensor which must be cured within ten (10) days and 
defaults based on subdivisions (vii), (viii), (x) and (xii) above which are not curable), and failing such, this Agreement shall 
thereupon immediately terminate, and any and all payments then or later due from Licensee hereunder (including Guaranteed 
Consideration) shall then be immediately due and payable in full and no portion of those prior payments shall be repayable to 
Licensee.  

   
(c)                                   Licensee shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without prejudice to any other rights which it may have, whether 

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, or otherwise at law or in equity, if Licensor defaults in the performance of any 
of its obligations provided for in this Agreement or in the event of a material breach by Licensor of its warranties or 
representations set forth in this Agreement. In the event any such default occurs, Licensee shall give notice of termination in 
writing to Licensor by certified mail. Licensor shall have thirty (30) days from the date of giving notice in which to correct 
any default or, if the correction would reasonably take more than thirty (30) days, such additional time as is needed so long as 
Licensor diligently pursues such correction, and failing such correction, this Agreement shall thereupon immediately 
terminate, and any and all Guaranteed Consideration later due from Licensee hereunder shall no longer be due; provided, 
however, that no portion of prior payments hereunder shall be repayable to Licensee.  

   
15.                                FINAL STATEMENT UPON EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION: Licensee shall deliver, as soon as practicable, but not later 

than forty-five (45) days following expiration or termination of this Agreement, a statement indicating the number and description of 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums on hand together with a description of all advertising and promotional materials relating 
thereto. Following expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall immediately cease any and all manufacturing of the 
Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premium. However, if Licensee has complied with all the terms of this Agreement, including, but 
not limited to, complete and timely payment of the Guaranteed Consideration and Royalty Payments, then Licensee may continue to 
distribute its remaining inventory, on a non-exclusive basis only, for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days following such expiration 
(the “Sell-Off Period”), subject to payment of applicable royalties thereto. In no event, however, may Licensee distribute during the 
Sell-Off Period an amount of Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums that exceeds the average amount of Licensed Products 
and/or Licensed Premiums distributed during any consecutive ninety (90) day period during the Term. In the event this Agreement is 
terminated by Licensor for any reason under this Agreement, Licensee shall be deemed to have forfeited its Sell-Off Period. If 
Licensee has any remaining inventory of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums following the Sell-Off Period, Licensee 
shall, at Licensor’s option, make available such inventory to Licensor for purchase at or below cost, deliver up to Licensor for 
destruction said remaining inventory or furnish to Licensor an affidavit attesting to the destruction of said remaining inventory. 
Licensee shall, at Licensor’s option, deliver to Licensor at no charge all Artwork (except tooling and tooling aids) related to the 
Licensed Products, deliver up to Licensor for destruction Artwork or furnish to Licensor an affidavit attesting to the destruction of said 
Artwork. Licensee shall furnish to Licensor an affidavit attesting to the destruction or removal of the Licensed Property from all 
tooling and tooling aids. Licensor shall have the right to conduct a physical inventory in order to ascertain or verify such inventory 
and/or statement. In the event that Licensee refuses to permit Licensor to conduct such physical inventory,  

   

 

(xiii)  Licensee uses any labor that violates any local labor laws and/or it uses prison, slave or child labor in 
connection with the manufacture of the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Premiums; or  

      
(xiv)  Licensee has made a material misrepresentation or has omitted to state a material fact necessary to 

make the statements not misleading as they pertain to this Agreement; or  
      
(xv)  Licensee shall materially breach any other agreement in effect between Licensee on the one hand and 

Licensor on the other.  



   
Licensee shall forfeit its right to the Sell-Off Period hereunder or any other rights to dispose of such inventory. In addition to the 
forfeiture, Licensor shall have recourse to all other legal remedies available to it.  
   

16.                                NOTICES: Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, all notices which either party hereto are required or may desire to give 
to the other shall be given by addressing the same to the other at the address set forth above, or at such other address as may be 
designated in writing by any such party in a notice to the other given in the manner prescribed in this paragraph.  All such notices shall 
be sufficiently given when the same shall be deposited so addressed, postage prepaid, in the United States mail and/or when the same 
shall have been delivered, so addressed, by facsimile or by overnight delivery service and the date of transmission by facsimile, 
receipt of overnight delivery service or two business days after mailing shall for the purposes of this Agreement be deemed the date of 
the giving of such notice.  

   
17.                                NO PARTNERSHIP, ETC.: This Agreement does not constitute and shall not be construed as constitution of a partnership or joint 

venture between Licensor and Licensee. Neither party shall have any right to obligate or bind the other party in any manner 
whatsoever, and nothing herein contained shall give, or is intended to give, any rights of any kind to any third persons.  

   
18.                                NO SUBLICENSING/NON-ASSIGNABILITY: This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of Licensor, its successors and 

assigns. This Agreement is personal to Licensee. Licensee shall not sublicense, franchise or delegate to third parties its rights 
hereunder (except as set forth in Paragraph 10(b) hereof) without the prior written consent of Licensor. Neither this Agreement nor 
any of the rights of Licensee hereunder shall be sold, transferred or assigned by Licensee and no rights hereunder shall devolve by 
operation of law or otherwise upon any receiver, liquidator, trustee or other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensor shall not 
seek injunctive relief to prevent Licensee from consummating a “change of control” as defined in Attachment A, and any termination 
of this Agreement as a result of a “change of control” shall be in accordance with Paragraph l4(a)(ix) above.  

   
19.                                BANKRUPTCY RELATED PROVISIONS:  
   

(a)                                   The parties hereby agree and intend that this Agreement is an executory contract governed by Section 365 of the U.S. 
Bankruptcy Code (“Bankruptcy Code”).  

   
(b)                                  In the event of Licensee’s bankruptcy, the parties intend that any royalties payable under this Agreement during the 

bankruptcy period be deemed administrative claims under the Bankruptcy Code because the parties recognize and agree that 
the bankruptcy estate’s enjoyment of this Agreement will (i) provide a material benefit to the bankruptcy estate during its 
reorganization and (ii) deny Licensor the benefit of the exploitation of the rights through alternate means during the 
bankruptcy reorganization.  

   
(c)                                   The parties acknowledge and agree that any delay in the decision of trustee of the bankruptcy estate to assume or reject the 

Agreement (the “Decision Period”) materially harms Licensor by interfering with Licensor’s ability to alternatively exploit 
the rights granted under this Agreement during a Decision Period of uncertain duration. The parties recognize that arranging 
appropriate alternative exploitation would be a time consuming and expensive process and that it is unreasonable for 
Licensor to endure a Decision Period of extended uncertainty. Therefore, the parties agree that the Decision Period shall not 
exceed sixty (60) days.  

   
(d)                                  Licensor, in its interest to safeguard its valuable interests (including, without limitation, its intellectual property rights in the 

Licensed Property), has relied on the particular skill and knowledge base of Licensee. Therefore, the parties acknowledge and 
agree that in a bankruptcy context this Agreement is a license of the type described by Section 365(c)(1) of the Bankruptcy 
Code and may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the Licensor.  

   
20.                                CONSTRUCTION AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION: This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State 

of California of the United States of America without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions. Any and all controversies, claims or 
disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement or the interpretation, performance or breach thereof, including, but not  

   

 



   
limited to, alleged violations of state or federal statutory or common law rights or duties, and the determination of the scope or 
applicability of this agreement to arbitrate (“Dispute”), except as set forth in subparagraphs (b) and (c), below, shall be resolved 
according to the procedures set forth in subparagraph (a), below, which shall constitute the sole dispute resolution mechanism 
hereunder:  
   
(a)                                   Arbitration: In the event that the parties are unable to resolve any Dispute informally, then such Dispute shall be submitted 

to final and binding arbitration. The arbitration shall be initiated and conducted according to either the JAMS Streamlined 
(for claims under $250,000) or the JAMS Comprehensive (for claims over $250,000) Arbitration Rules and Procedures, 
except as modified herein, including the Optional Appeal Procedure, at the Los Angeles office of JAMS, or its successor 
(“JAMS”) in effect at the time the request for arbitration is made (the “Arbitration Rules”). The arbitration shall be conducted 
in Los Angeles County before a single neutral arbitrator appointed in accordance with the Arbitration Rules. The arbitrator 
shall follow California law and the Federal Rules of Evidence in adjudicating the Dispute. The parties waive the right to seek 
punitive damages and the arbitrator shall have no authority to award such damages. The arbitrator will provide a detailed 
written statement of decision, which will be part of the arbitration award and admissible in any judicial proceeding to 
confirm, correct or vacate the award. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the neutral arbitrator and the members of any appeal 
panel shall be former or retired judges or justices of any California state or federal court with experience in matters involving 
the entertainment industry. If either party refuses to perform any or all of its obligations under the final arbitration award 
(following appeal, if applicable) within thirty (30) days of such award being rendered, then the other party may enforce the 
final award in any court of competent jurisdiction in Los Angeles County. The party seeking enforcement shall be entitled to 
an award of all costs, fees and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in enforcing the award, to be paid by the party 
against whom enforcement is ordered.  

   
(b)                                   Injunctive Relief: Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief (unless otherwise 

precluded by any other provision of this Agreement) in the state and federal courts of Los Angeles County.  
   
(c)                                   Other Matters: Any Dispute or portion thereof, or any claim for a particular form of relief (not otherwise precluded by any 

other provision of this Agreement), that may not be arbitrated pursuant to applicable state or federal law may be heard only in 
a court of competent jurisdiction in Los Angeles County.  

   
21.                                WAIVER, MODIFICATION ETC.: No waiver, modification or cancellation of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be 

effective unless executed in writing by the party charged therewith. No written waiver shall excuse the performance of any acts other 
than those specifically referred to therein. The fact that the Licensor has not previously insisted upon Licensee expressly complying 
with any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of Licensor’s future right to require compliance in respect 
thereof and Licensee specifically acknowledges and agrees that the prior forbearance in respect of any act, term or condition shall not 
prevent Licensor from subsequently requiring full and complete compliance thereafter. If any term or provision of this Agreement is 
held to be invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction or any other authority vested with jurisdiction, such holding 
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other term or provision hereto and this Agreement shall be interpreted and 
construed as if such term or provision, to the extent the same shall have been held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, had never 
been contained herein. Headings of paragraphs herein are for convenience only and are without substantive significance.  

   
22.                                CONFIDENTIALITY: The Artwork and the materials and information supplied to one party by the other hereunder constitute, 

relate to, contain and form a part of confidential and proprietary information of the disclosing party, including, but not limited to, Style 
Guides, design elements, character profiles, unpublished copyrighted material, release dates, marketing and promotional strategies, 
information about new products, properties and characters, the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and other information which is 
proprietary in nature or is a trade secret (collectively, the “Proprietary Information”). The parties acknowledge and agree that the 
Proprietary Information is highly confidential and that disclosure of the Proprietary Information will result in serious harm to the 
owner thereof. Among other damage, unauthorized disclosure of the Proprietary Information will. (i) damage carefully planned 
marketing strategies, (ii) reduce interest in the Licensed Property, (iii)  

   

 



   
make unique or novel elements of the Licensed Property susceptible to imitation or copying by competitors, infringers or third parties 
prior to Licensor’s release of the information or materials, (iv) damage proprietary protection in undisclosed or unpublished 
information or materials, and (v) provide unauthorized third parties with materials capable of being used to create counterfeit and 
unauthorized merchandise, audio-visual products or other products, all of which will seriously damage Licensor’s rights and business. 
Except as expressly approved in writing by the owner of the Proprietary Information, the other party shall not reproduce or use the 
Proprietary Information of the other party and shall not discuss, distribute, disseminate or otherwise disclose the Proprietary 
Information or the substance or contents thereof, in whole or in part, in its original form or in any other form, with or to any other 
person or entity other than employees of the parties and, in the case of Licensee, third parties who have executed a Contributor’s 
Agreement (as provided in Paragraph 8(b)) or third party manufacturer’s agreement (as provided in Paragraph 10(b)) and been 
approved by Licensor as provided hereunder, and such employees and third parties shall be given access to the Proprietary 
Information only on a “need-to-know” basis. The foregoing restrictions shall not apply to any information which, (i) at the time of 
disclosure, is in the public domain or which, after disclosure, becomes part of the public domain by publication or otherwise through 
no action or fault of the receiving party; (ii) information which the receiving party can show was in its possession at the time of 
disclosure and was not acquired, directly or indirectly, from the other party; (iii) information which was received from a third party 
having the legal right to transmit the same; (iv) information which is independently developed, conceived, or created without use of or 
reference to any Proprietary Information of the other party; or (v) information which is disclosed pursuant to valid court order, other 
legal process, or disclosure laws. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, either party to this Agreement and its 
representatives may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided 
to it relating to such tax treatment and tax structure.  
   

23.                                ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof 
and cancels and supersedes any prior understandings and agreements between the parties hereto with respect thereto. There are no 
representations, warranties, terms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, expressed, implied or statutory, between the 
parties other than as expressly set forth in this Agreement.  

   
24.                                  ACCEPTANCE BY LICENSOR: This instrument, when signed by Licensee shall be deemed an application for license and not a 

binding agreement unless and until accepted by Licensor by signature of a duly authorized officer and the delivery of such a signed 
copy to Licensee. The receipt and/or deposit by Licensor of any check or other consideration given by Licensee and/or delivery of any 
material by Licensor to Licensee shall not be deemed an acceptance by Licensor of this application. The foregoing shall apply to any 
documents relating to renewals or modifications hereof.  

   
This Agreement shall be of no force or effect unless and until it is signed by all of the parties listed below:  
   

   

   

 

AGREED and ACCEPTED:  AGREED and ACCEPTED:  
      
WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
      
      
By: 

      

By: 
      

Gary R. Simon, Senior Vice President  
Business & Legal Affairs  

   

      
Date:  

      

Date:  
      



   
EXHIBIT 1  

#14559-SCOO  
   

CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION  
DEFINITIONS  

   
LICENSEE MAY SELL THE LICENSED PRODUCTS ONLY THROUG H THE CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION AS SPECIFIED 
ABOVE IN PARAGRAPH 1(a) OF THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT A ND AS SUCH CHANNELS ARE DEFINED IN THIS 
EXHIBIT 1. ALL OTHER CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION DEFIN ED IN THIS EXHIBIT 1, WHICH ARE NOT SPECIFIED IN 
PARAGRAPH 1(a) ABOVE, ARE SPECIFICALLY EXCLUDED FROM THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT.  
   
1.                                        “Airport Gift and Other Airport Stores”  shall mean gift and other stores located within airports, excluding Duty-Free Store Operators 

(as defined below). Examples of Airport Gift and Other Stores include, without limitation, Paradies and W.H. Smith.  
   
2.                                        “Amusement Game Redemption”  shall mean distribution of products as prizes awarded in amusement games.  
   
3.                                        “Amusement Park Gift Stores”  shall mean gift stores located within amusement parks, such as Six Flags, Paramount Parks, Universal 

Theme Parks, Dollywood, Walt Disney World and the Disneyland Resort.  
   
4.                                        “Art & Craft Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily art and craft supplies. Examples of Art & Craft Stores include, 

without limitation, Fast Frame, Michaels and Michaels MJ Designs.  
   
5.                                        “Athletic Apparel & Footwear Stores”  shall means stores that offer for sale primarily athletic apparel and footwear. Examples of 

Athletic Apparel & Footwear Stores include, without limitation, Footlocker, Athlete’s Foot and Champs.  
   
6.                                        “Automotive/Carwash Stores”  shall mean (a) stores that offer for sale primarily automotive supplies, or (b) stores located at carwash 

or gasoline station premises.  
   
7.                                        “Baby Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily infant apparel, furniture, accessories and other products 

designed specifically for babies. Examples of Baby Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Babies R Us.  
   
8.                                        “Beauty Supply Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily cosmetics, haircare products, beauty accessories and personal 

grooming related items.  
   
9.                                        “Business to Business”  shall mean when a licensee sells product to another business and the items sold are used for corporate gifts, 

prizes, etc.  
   
10.                                  “Camera/Photo Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily camera equipment and supplies.  
   
11.                                  “Candy/Confectionery Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily candy and confectionery products. Examples 

of Candy/Confectionery Specialty Stores include, without limitation, FAO Schweetz and The Sweet Factory.  
   
12.                                  “Catalog Showrooms”  shall mean stores that offer a broad assortment of products for sale primarily through a catalog along with 

display of samples of products in a showroom. Examples of Catalog Showrooms include, without limitation, Service Merchandise.  
   
13.                                  “Chain Book Stores”  shall mean chain stores (containing twenty (20) or more individual stores) that offer for sale primarily books. 

Examples of Chain Book Stores include, without limitation, B. Dalton, SuperCrown, Walden Books and Brentano’s.  
   

 



   
14.                                  “Chain Comic Book Stores”  shall mean chain stores (containing twenty (20) or more individual stores) that offer for sale primarily 

comic books.  
   
15.                                  “Chain Drug Stores”  shall mean chain stores (containing twenty (20) or more individual stores) that offer for sale primarily 

prescription and over-the-counter drugs, personal care products and household products. Examples of Chain Drug Stores include, 
without limitation, Walgreens, Rite-Aid, Thrifty/Payless, C.V.S./Revco, Thrift Drug, Phar Mor, Longs Drugs, Jean Coutu, 
London Drugs and Shopper’s Drug Mart.  

   
16.                                  “Chain Jewelry Stores”  shall mean chain stores (containing twenty (20) or more individual stores) that offer for sale primarily 

jewelry. The “Chain Jewelry Stores” channel shall specifically exclude Guild Jewelers (as defined below). Examples of Chain Jewelry 
Stores include, without limitation, Sterling, Barry’s, Lipman’s and Hellsburg.  

   
17.                                  “Chain Toy Stores”  shall mean chain stores (containing twenty (20) or more individual stores) that offer for sale primarily toys. In 

order to be considered a “Toy Store” hereunder, the total number of toy-type SKU’s (stock-keeping units) must represent eighty 
percent (80%) or more of such store’s total SKU’s. The “Chain Toy Stores” channel shall specifically exclude Toy Specialty/Better 
Toy Chain Stores (as defined below). Examples of Chain Toy Stores include, without limitation, Toys R Us.  

   
18.                                  “Coffee Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily specialty coffee and related products, such as coffee mugs. 

Examples of Coffee Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Starbucks, Buzz Coffee, Gloria Jeans and The Coffee Beanery.  
   
19 .                                  “College/University Stores”  shall mean stores located on the campuses of colleges or universities,  
   
20.                                  “Commercial Facilities”  shall mean offering products for sale to architectural firms or interior designers working with commercial 

facilities, such as hotels and daycare facilities.  
   
21.                                  “Computer Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily computer equipment and supplies. Examples of Computer 

Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Comp USA.  
   
22.                                  “Convenience Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily packaged and “quick service” food products, are generally open 

24 hours a day, and are designed to offer greater convenience than larger Supermarket/Grocery Stores. Examples of Convenience 
Stores include, without limitation, 7-11, AMIPM, Dairy Mart and Circle K.  

   
23.                                  “Dental/Medical Profession”  shall mean institutions or offices that provide dental or medical services, such as hospitals, laboratories 

or doctors’ offices.  
   
24.                                  “Direct Mail Catalogs”  shall mean catalogs that offer products for sale and are mailed directly to consumers’ homes. The “Direct 

Mail Catalogs” channel shall specifically exclude catalogs for fundraising purposes which shall be included in the “Fundraising” 
channel defined below. Examples of Direct Mail Catalogs include, without limitation, Spiegel, Hearth & Home, Domestications, 
Tapestry, Company Store, Hammacher Schlemmer, Fingerhut, Amway, Lillian Vernon, Regal, Avon and Sears Catalog.  

   
If Licensor grants to Licensee the right to . distribute Licensed Products through any Direct Mail Catalogs: (a) each such catalog shall 

be specified in the Channels of Distribution set forth in Paragraph 1(a) of the License Agreement or otherwise expressly approved in 
writing by Licensor on a case-by-case basis, and (b) each such catalog depicting or referring to the Licensed Products or the Licensed 
Property must be submitted to Licensor for prior written approval in accordance with Licensor’s Brand Assurance policies and 
procedures.  
   

25.                                  “Direct Response”  shall mean print advertisement, free standing inserts (“FSI’s”) and other promotional material (except catalogs) 
that are mailed directly to consumers’ homes for the purpose of soliciting product sales directly from consumers. The “Direct 
Response” channel shall specifically exclude direct mail catalogs which shall be included in the “Direct Mail Catalog” channel 
defined above.  

   

 



   
If Licensor grants to Licensee the right to distribute Licensed Products through Direct Response, each print advertisement, FSI and 
other promotional material depicting or referring to the Licensed Products or the Licensed Property must be submitted to Licensor for 
prior written approval in accordance with Licensor’s Brand Assurance policies and procedures.  
   

26.                                  “Door-to-Door Solicitation”  shall mean offering products for sale through personal visits by salespersons to consumers’ homes.  
   
27.                                  “Duty-Free Operators”  shall mean (a) stores usually located in transit locations (i.e. airports, in-flight, train, ferry stations, cruise lines 

and ports) which offer products for sale to international travelers free of taxes and duties and (b) sales offered to diplomat shops, 
diplomat suppliers and individual diplomats free of taxes and/or duties. If Licensor grants to Licensee the right to distribute products 
through Duty-Free Operators, such channels of distribution (like all other channels of distribution granted) shall be limited to those 
stores located within the Territory.  

   
28.                                  “Educational Institutions”  shall mean offering products (generally books) for sale to public or private schools or other educational 

institutions. Examples of Educational Institutions include, without limitation, the Los Angeles Unified School District.  
   
29.                                  “Educational Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily educational products. Examples of Educational 

Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Imaginarium and Nature Company.  
   
30.                                  “Electronics Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily electronic products. Examples of Electronics Stores include, 

without limitation, Circuit City, Fry’s and Best Buy.  
   
31.                                  “Family Restaurants”  shall mean a food service establishment or group of food service establishments that offer a sit down meal 

menu conducive to all members of the family and generally offers table service to customers. Examples of Family Restaurants 
include, without limitation, Denny’s and Friendly’s.  

   
32.                                  “Fashion Accessory Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily costume jewelry, hair accessories and other fashion 

accessories. Examples of Fashion Accessory Stores include, without limitation, Claire’s Boutique, Afterthoughts, It’s About Time, 
Piercing Pagoda, Ardene and Bentley’s.  

   
33.                                  “Fashion Specialty Boutiques”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily fashion apparel product. Examples of Fashion Specialty 

Boutiques include, without limitation, Fred Segal, Urban Outfitters, American Rag, and Dr. J’s.  
   
34.                                  “Florists”  shall mean stores or companies that offer for sale primarily flowers. Examples of Florists include, without limitation, 

Conroy’s, FTD and 1-800-Flowers.  
   
35.                                  “Food Service”  shall mean locations that provide food service to consumers in cafeterias, hospital food services, school lunch 

programs, and similar institutional food service locations.  
   
36.                                  “Fundraising”  shall mean offering products for sale through catalogs, direct mail brochures, prize programs and in-school sales, 

which are used by schools and charitable, religious or other organizations to raise funds. Examples of Fundraising companies include, 
without limitation, Giftco, Springwater and Darlington Farms.  

   
37.                                  “Furniture Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily furniture. Examples of Furniture Stores include, without limitation, 

Wickes, Homemakers, Kiddles and Levitz.  
   
38.                                  “Garden Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily garden supplies and plants. Examples of Garden Specialty 

Stores include, without limitation, Armstrong’s, Callaway’s and Wolf Nurseries.  
   
39.                                  “Gift Retailers”  shall mean stores that ( a) offer products for sale that are in somewhat related product categories and are known as 

“gifts” in the trade, which products generally are classified in the trade as “better” quality and are higher priced (as compared to 
National and Regional  

   

 



   
Discount/Mass Retailers’ products), (b) do not usually discount merchandise or sell it at greatly reduced prices, (c) usually focus more 
on aesthetics in merchandise displays than on price, and (d) generally require individual store servicing by suppliers in merchandise 
set-up, display, SKU maintenance and reordering. Suppliers to Gift Retailers typically advertise in trade publications, such as “Gift & 
Stationery Business” , “Giftware News”  and “Gifts & Decorative Accessories” .  
   
Suppliers to Gift Retailers usually include companies such as Enesco, Midwest of Cannon Falls, New Creative Enterprises, Dale 
Tiffany, Pacific Rim, Ande Rooney, Waterford, GiftCraft, Carson Industries, Possible Dreams, Lenox, Department 56, Lefton, 
Swarovski and Flambro. The “Gift Retailers” channel shall specifically exclude Novelty Gift Stores (as defined below), Duty-Free 
Store Operators (as defined above), and Airport Gift and Other Airport Stores (as defined above).  
   

40.                                  “Gourmet Food Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily gourmet and specialty food products. Examples of 
Gourmet Food Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Bristol Farms, Whole Foods and Gelsons.  

   
41.                                  “Greeting Card Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily greeting cards. Examples of Greeting Card Stores include, 

without limitation, Hallmark.  
   
42.                                  “Guild Jewelers”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily fine jewelry which is generally classified in the trade as “best” or 

“highest” quality, Examples of Guild Jewelers include, without limitation, Mayers, Rogers and Bailey Banks & Biddle.  
   
43.                                  “Hobby & Model Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily hobby and model supplies.  
   
44.                                  “Home Improvement Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily hardware and home improvement supplies. Examples of 

Home Improvement Stores include, without limitation, Home Depot, OSH, Home Base, Lowes and Home Hardware.  
   
45.                                  “Home Specialty Stores” shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily bedding, towels and other bathroom products, kitchen 

merchandise and housewares. Examples of Home Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Strouds, Linens ‘N’ Things, 3D Bed 
& Bath, Bed/Bath/Beyond and Luxury Linens.  

   
46.                                  “ Ice Cream Shops”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily ice cream, ice cream cakes and similar frozen dessert products. 

Examples of Ice Cream Shops include, without limitation, Baskin-Robbins, Dairy Queen and Ben and Jerry’s Shops.  
   
47.                                  “ In-Store Bakeries”  shall mean the in-store bakery departments within Supermarket/Grocery Stores, National and Regional 

Discount/Mass Retailers and Warehouse Clubs. Such departments offer for sale primarily freshly baked breads, cakes, cookies and 
similar bakery items.  

   
48.                                  “ Internet”  shall mean offering products for sale through the electronic network known as the Internet.  
   
49.                                  “Mall Clothing Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily clothing and are located within a mall. Examples of 

Mall Clothing Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Millers Outpost, Wet Seal, Au Coin Des Petites, La Senza, Suzie Shier 
and Reitmans.  

   
50.                                  “Mid-Tier Department Stores”  shall mean stores that offer products for sale in a broad assortment of unrelated product categories, 

which products are generally classified in the trade as “better” (but not “best”) quality products. Examples of Mid-Tier Department 
Stores include, without limitation, JC Penney, Sears, Mervyn’s, SteinMart, Kohls, Fred Meyer, The Bay, Clemont and Simon’s.  

   
51.                                  “Military Exchange Services”  shall mean military headquarters as well as individual bases of armies and/or airforces of each country 

within the Territory. Examples of Military Exchange Services include, without limitation, U.S. Army and Airforce Exchange 
Service (“AAFES”) and the Canadian Forces Exchange Service (“CANEX”). If Licensor grants to Licensee the right to distribute 
products through Military Exchange Services, such channel of distribution shall be limited to the Military Exchange Services of the 
countries within the Territory, but shall include all of such Military Exchange Services’ stores located anywhere in the world.  

   

 



   
52.                                  “Music/Video Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily musical recordings, on compact discs, cassettes or other media, 

and/or movie recordings on videos, laser disks or other media for home use by consumers. Examples of Music/Video Stores include, 
without limitation, Blockbuster, Musicland, Tower Records, Virgin Records, Wherehouse Records, Sam Goody’s and Suncoast.  

   
53.                                  “National Discount/Mass Retailers”  shall mean stores that (a) have nation-wide distribution, (b) offer products for sale in a broad 

assortment of unrelated product categories, which products generally are not classified in the trade as “better/best” quality products, 
(c) are usually “self-service” with more of an emphasis on price than aesthetics, and (d) generally do not require individual store 
servicing by suppliers. Suppliers to National Discount/Mass Retailers typically advertise in trade publications, such as “Discount Store 
News”  and “Discount Merchandiser” , and usually attend the IMRA (International Mass Retailer Association) trade show. The 
“National Discount/Mass Retailers” channel shall specifically exclude the in-store bakery departments of such stores, which shall be 
included in the “In-Store Bakeries” channel defined above. Examples of National Discount/Mass Retailers include, without limitation, 
Walmart, K-Mart, Target, Zellers, Biway and Canadian Tire.  

   
54.                                  “Non-Chain Book Stores”  shall mean stores or groups of stores (containing fewer than twenty (20) individual stores) that offer for 

sale primarily books.  
   
55.                                  “Non-Chain Comic Book Stores”  shall mean stores or groups of stores (containing fewer than twenty (20) individual stores) that 

offer for sale primarily comic books.  
   
56.                                  “Non-Chain Drug Stores”  shall mean stores or groups of stores (containing fewer than twenty (20) individual stores) that offer for 

sale primarily prescription and over-the-counter drugs, personal care products and household products.  
   
57.                                  “Non-Chain Jewelry Stores”  shall mean stores or groups of stores (containing fewer than twenty (20) individual stores) that offer for 

sale primarily jewelry. The “Non-Chain Jewelry Stores” channel shall specifically exclude Guild Jewelers (as defined above).  
   
58.                                  “Non-Chain Toy Stores”  shall mean stores or groups of stores (containing fewer than twenty (20) individual stores) that offer for sale 

primarily toys. In order to be considered a “Toy Store” hereunder, the total number of toy-type SKU’s must represent eighty percent 
(80%) or more of such store’s total SKU’s. Examples of Non-Chain Toy Stores include, without limitation, Talbot’s Toyland and 
Tons of Toys, Inc.  

   
59.                                  “Non-Mall Clothing Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily clothing and are not located within a mall. 

Examples of Non-Mall Clothing Specialty Stores include, without limitation, Kids Mart, Kids R Us, Clothestime and Fashion Bug.  
   
60.                                  “Novelty Gift Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily novelty gift items. The “Novelty Gift Stores” channel shall 

specifically exclude Airport Gift and Other Airport Stores and Duty-Free Operators (as such terms are defined above). Examples of 
Novelty Gift Stores include, without limitation, Spencer’s and It Stores.  

   
61.                                  “Off-Price/Closeout Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily discounted apparel and other merchandise. Examples of 

Off-Price/Closeout Stores include, without limitation, Marshall’ s, T.J. Maxx, Ross Dress For Less, Hit or Miss, Tuesday Morning 
and Winners.  

   
62.                                  “Office Specialty Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily office supplies. Examples of Office Specialty Stores include, 

without limitation, Office Depot, Staples and Office Max.  
   
63.                                  “Outlet Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily discounted merchandise of a particular manufacturer or retailer.  
   
64.                                  “Party Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily party supplies. Examples of Party Stores include, without limitation, 

Party City and Party World.  
   
65.                                  “Pet Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily pet supplies. Examples of Pet Stores include, without limitation, PetCo and 

PetSmart.  
   

 



   
66.                                  “Quick Service Restaurants”  shall mean a food service establishment or group of food service establishments that offer rapid meal 

menus to consumers and generally do not offer table service to customers. Examples of Quick Service Restaurants include, without 
limitation, Subway and Burger King.  

   
67.                                  “Regional Discount/Mass Retailers”  shall mean stores that (a) have regional distribution, (b) generally offer products for sale in a 

broad assortment of unrelated product categories, which products generally are not classified in the trade as “better/best” quality 
products, (c) are usually “self-service” with more of an emphasis on price than aesthetics, and (d) generally do not require individual 
store servicing by suppliers. Suppliers to Regional Discount/Mass Retailers typically advertise in trade publications, such as “Discount 
Store News”  and “Discount Merchandiser” , and usually attend the IMRA (International Mass Retailer Association) trade show. The 
“Regional Discount/Mass Retailers” channel shall specifically exclude the in-store bakery departments of such stores, which shall be 
included in the “In-Store Bakeries” channel defined above. Examples of Regional Discount/Mass Retailers include, without limitation, 
Meijers, Caldor, Ames, Bradlees, Hill’s, Rose’s, Venture, Shopko, Cotter, Fields, Giant Tiger, Harts, Northwest and Saan 
Stores.  

   
68.                                  “Retail Bakeries”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily freshly baked breads, cakes, cookies and similar bakery items. The 

“Retail Bakeries” channel shall specifically exclude In-Store Bakeries (as defined above).  
   
69.                                  “School Book Clubs/Fairs”  shall mean offering products for sale through book catalogs distributed to teachers and students at public 

or private schools (usually elementary or high school) or through book fairs conducted on the premises of such schools. Examples of 
School Book Clubs/Fairs include, without limitation, Troll Book Club and Scholastic Book Fair.  

   
70.                                  “Souvenir Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily souvenirs.  
   
71.                                  “Sporting Good Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily sporting goods, equipment, athletic apparel, and other 

merchandise that reflects a sports theme. Examples of Sporting Good Stores include, without limitation, Big 5 and Sports Chalet.  
   
72.                                  “Sports Stadium Shops”  shall mean concessionaire shops located within stadiums or arenas where sporting events are held.  
   
73.                                  “Stationery Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily stationery. Examples of Stationery Stores include, without 

limitation, Farr’s Stationaires.  
   
74.                                  “Street Vendors”  shall mean individual merchants who offer products for sale in stands, booths or other non-permanent structures 

usually located on the sidewalk and designed to attract passing pedestrians.  
   
75.                                  “Supermarket/Grocery Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily packaged food products. The “Supermarket/ Grocery 

Stores” channel shall specifically exclude the in-store bakery departments of such stores, which shall be included in the “In-Store 
Bakeries” channel defined above. The “Supermarket/Grocery Stores” channel shall specifically exclude Gourmet Food Specialty 
Stores (as defined above) and Convenience Stores (as defined above). Examples of Supermarket/Grocery Stores include, without 
limitation, Kroger, Safeway, American Stores, Albertson’s, Winn Dixie, Food Lion, Von’s, Finast, Ralphs, Marsh and 
Superstores.  

   
76.                                  “Swap Meets/Flea Markets”  shall mean offering products for sale through organized events known as swap meets or flea markets, 

which involve a group of vendors offering for sale a variety of products, often collectibles or antiques.  
   
77.                                  “Television Home Shopping”  shall mean offering products for sale through cable and broadcast television, including infomercials, 

QVC and Home Shopping Network. The “Television Home Shopping” channel shall specifically exclude sales through the Internet, 
CD-Interactive and other electronic media.  

   

 



   
78.                                  “Theatrical Concessions”  shall mean the retail section that sells such items as popcorn, soda and candy within chain and non-chain 

movie theater locations such as Cineplex Odeon, Loews and Cinemark,  
   
79.                                  “Toy Specialty/Better Toy Chain Stores”  shall mean companies that offer for sale primarily specialty toys. Examples of Toy 

Specialty/Better Toy Chain Stores include, without limitation, FAO Schwarz, Zany Brainy, Imaginarium, and Noodle Kidoodle.  
   
80.                                  “Toy Wholesalers”  shall mean companies that offer for sale primarily toys to retail stores. In order to be considered a “Toy 

Wholesaler” hereunder, the total number of toy-type SKU’s must represent eighty percent (80%) or more of such wholesaler’s total 
SKU’s.  

   
81.                                  “Trackside - CART” shall mean offering products for sale at races organized and sponsored by Championship Auto Racing Teams.  
   
82.                                  “Trackside - NASCAR” shall mean offering products for sale at races organized and sponsored by the National Association for Stock 

Car Racing.  
   
83.                                  “Trackside - NHRA” shall mean offering products for sale at races organized and sponsored by the National Hot Rod Association.  
   
84.                                  “Upstairs Department Stores”  shall mean stores that (a) offer products for sale in a broad assortment of unrelated product categories, 

which products are generally classified in the trade as “best” quality products, and (b) offer a high level of customer service with a 
strong emphasis on store aesthetics. Examples of Upstairs Department Stores include, without limitation, Bloomingdale’s, Macy’s, 
Nordstrom, May Department Stores, Saks Fifth Avenue, Neiman Marcus and Dillards.  

   
85.                                  “Vending Machines”  shall mean self-contained automated dispensing equipment operated by insertion of coin or paper currency or 

the equivalent thereof (i.e. debit cards, credit cards, etc.).  
   
86.                                  “Wall Decor Stores”  shall mean stores that offer for sale primarily wall decor products. Examples of Wall Decor Stores include, 

without limitation, Deck The Walls, Aaron Brothers and Prints Plus.  
   
87.                                  “Warehouse Clubs”  shall mean stores that offer for sale products in large sizes and quantities with more of an emphasis on price than 

service or store aesthetics, The “Warehouse Clubs” channel shall specifically exclude the in-store bakery departments of such stores, 
which shall be included in the “In-Store Bakeries” channel defined above. Examples of Warehouse Clubs include, without limitation, 
Sam’s Club and Price Costco.  

   
88.                                  “WBSS International”  shall mean the retail stores known as Warner Bros. Studio Stores, which are operated outside the United 

States.  
   

If Licensor grants to Licensee the right to sell Licensed Products to WBSS International: (a) such rights shall be worldwide, 
notwithstanding any restrictions as to “Territory” contained in the Agreement, and (b) such rights shall be non-exclusive, 
notwithstanding any exclusivity provisions contained in the Agreement,  

   

 



   
EXHIBIT 2  

   
#14559-SCOO  

   
CONTRIBUTOR’S AGREEMENT  

   
The undersigned (“Contributor”) has been engaged by Poore Brothers, Inc. (“Licensee”), in connection with an agreement between Licensee 
and Warner Bros. Consumer Products Inc. (“Warner”) date                                                               (the “Agreement”) to work on or contribute 
to the creation of certain products (“Licensed Products”) that exploit certain of Warner’s intellectual property rights and/or related packaging, 
wrapping, advertising or promotional materials (“Collateral Materials”).  
   
Contributor agrees and acknowledges that any creation, whether finished or not, and all copyrights, trademarks and other intellectual property 
rights contained therein and all tangible embodiments thereof that uses, exploits or derives from any of Warner’s intellectual property 
(“Artwork”) created by Contributor in connection herewith, solely or jointly with Licensor, Licensee or any other party, will be deemed a 
“work made for hire” for Licensor under the U.S. Copyright Act, and any and all similar provisions of law under other jurisdictions, and that 
Licensor will be deemed the author and the exclusive owner of such Artwork, and all intellectual property rights therein, in perpetuity and 
throughout the universe.  For clarification, the term “Artwork” does not include any elements of the Licensed Products or other materials 
created in connection with Contributor’s engagement by Licensee that do not use, exploit or derive from any of Warner’s intellectual property.  
In the event any such Artwork cannot be deemed a “work made for hire” as set forth above, Contributor hereby assigns to Licensor all right, 
title and interest in and to such Artwork. Contributor hereby irrevocably appoints Licensor as Contributor’s attorney-in-fact for the purpose of 
executing documents on Contributor’s behalf as deemed necessary or desirable by Licensor to confirm such assignment, which appointment is 
coupled with an interest. If Contributor has any rights, including without limitation “artist’s rights” or “moral rights,” in such Artwork which 
cannot be assigned, Contributor agrees to waive enforcement worldwide of such rights against Licensor. In the event that Contributor has any 
such rights that cannot be assigned or waived, Contributor hereby grants to Licensor, an exclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, perpetual, 
transferable license to use, reproduce, distribute, create derivative works of, publicly perform, publicly display and digitally transmit such 
Artwork in any medium or format, whether now known or later developed, for any purpose.  
   
To induce Licensor to consent to the engagement of Contributor by Licensee, Contributor hereby acknowledges the proprietary and 
confidential nature of the information that Licensee or Licensor may provide to Contributor, or that Contributor might gain access to as the 
result of the privileged relationship created by this engagement (the “Proprietary Information”) and agrees to: (a) hold the Proprietary 
Information in strict confidence, using no less than a reasonable degree of care to protect such Proprietary Information; (b) use the Proprietary 
Information solely as necessary to perform the services required by the engagement (the “Permitted Use”); (c) if Contributor is a business 
entity rather than an individual, disclose the Proprietary Information only to Contributor’s employees with a need to know such Proprietary 
Information in connection with the Permitted Use and who have signed confidentiality agreements or are otherwise legally bound by 
confidentiality obligations consistent with, and no less restrictive than, the terms of this paragraph; and (d) return (to either Licensee or 
Licensor) or destroy (upon the written direction of Licensee or Licensor) all tangible and intangible materials containing the Proprietary 
Information promptly following the expiration or termination of Contributor’s engagement. Contributor acknowledges and agrees that the 
Proprietary Information is highly confidential and that unauthorized use or disclosure of such Proprietary Information will result in serious, 
irreparable harm for which Licensor’s remedies at law would be inadequate. Accordingly, Contributor acknowledges and agrees that if any 
such unauthorized use or disclosure occurs, Licensor will be entitled, in addition to any other remedies available to it at law or in equity, to the 
issuance of injunctive or other equitable relief.  
   

   
AGREED and ACCEPTED:  
   
WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  
   

CONTRIBUTOR:  
   
      
Signature  
   
      
Print Name  
   
      
Address  
   
      
Country  
   
      
Date  

By:  
      

   

Gary R. Simon, Senior Vice President  
Business & Legal Affairs  

   



   

 

Date: 
      



   
EXHIBIT 3  

   
#14559-SCOO  

   
WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  
4000 Warner Boulevard  
Bridge Building 156 South - 4th Floor  
Burbank, CA 91522  
   
Re: Approval of Third Party Manufacturer  
   
To Whom It May Concern:  
   
This letter will serve as notice to Warner Bros. Consumer Products Inc. (“Licensor”) that pursuant to Paragraph 10(b) of the that certain 
License Agreement between Licensor and Poore Brothers, Inc. (“Licensee”) dated                                                       , 200  (the “Agreement”), 
the undersigned company (“Manufacturer”) has been engaged as the manufacturer for Licensee in connection with the manufacture of the 
Licensed Products (as defined in the Agreement). Manufacturer hereby acknowledges that it may not manufacture Licensed Products for, or 
sell or distribute Licensed Products to, anyone other than Licensee. Manufacturer hereby further acknowledges that it has received a copy and 
is cognizant of the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement. Manufacturer hereby agrees to be bound by and comply with all such terms 
and conditions in connection with Manufacturer’s performance as a manufacturer of the Licensed Products as if named as Licensee under the 
Agreement. Manufacturer will not use any prison, slave or child labor in connection with the manufacture of the Licensed Products, and will 
comply with all local laws, including without limitation, labor laws, wage and hour laws and anti-discrimination laws. Licensor will, at 
anytime, have the right to inspect the facilities and records of Manufacturer to ensure compliance therewith. It is understood that this 
engagement is on a royalty-free basis and that Manufacturer may not subcontract any work hereunder to any third party without Licensor’s 
prior written approval.  
   
To induce Licensor to consent to the engagement of Manufacturer by Licensee, Manufacturer hereby acknowledges the proprietary and 
confidential nature of the information that Licensee or Licensor may provide to Manufacturer, or that Manufacturer might gain access to as the 
result of the privileged relationship created by this engagement (the “Proprietary Information”) and agrees to: (a) hold the Proprietary 
Information in strict confidence, using no less than a reasonable degree of care to protect such Proprietary Information; (b) use the Proprietary 
Information solely as necessary to perform the services required by the engagement (the “Permitted Use”); (c) disclose the Proprietary 
Information only to Manufacturer’s employees with a need to know such Proprietary Information in connection with the Permitted Use and 
who have signed confidentiality agreements or are otherwise legally bound by confidentiality obligations consistent with, and no less restrictive 
than, the terms of this paragraph; and (d) return (to either Licensee or Licensor) or destroy (upon the written direction of Licensee or Licensor) 
all tangible and intangible materials containing the Proprietary Information promptly following the expiration or termination of Manufacturer’s 
engagement. Manufacturer acknowledges and agrees that the Proprietary Information is highly confidential and that unauthorized use or 
disclosure of such Proprietary Information will result in serious, irreparable harm for which Licensor’s remedies at law would be inadequate. 
Accordingly, Manufacturer acknowledges and agrees that if any such unauthorized use or disclosure occurs, Licensor will be entitled, in 
addition to any other remedies available to it at law or in equity, to the issuance of injunctive or other equitable relief  
   
Manufacturer understands that its engagement as the manufacturer for Licensee is subject to Licensor’s written approval. Manufacturer 
therefore requests that Licensor sign in the space below, thereby showing Licensor’s acceptance of Manufacturer’s engagement as set forth 
above.  
   

   

   

Very truly yours,  
      
         
   

Manufacturer/ Company Name  
      
         
   

Signature  
      
         
   

Print Name:  
      
         
   

Address  
      
         
   

Country  
      
         
   

Date  
      
         
   

Product(s) Manufacturing  



   

 

AGREED and ACCEPTED:  
   
WARNER BROS. CONSUMER PRODUCTS INC.  
   
By:  

      

   

Gary R. Simon, Senior Vice President  
Business & Legal Affairs  

   
Date: 

      



   
ATTACHMENT A  

   
#14559-SCOO  

   
(a) “Change of Control”  means and includes each of the following:  
   

(1)                                   Any transaction or series of transactions, whereby any person (as that term is used in Section 13 and 14(d)(2) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is or becomes the beneficial owner (as that term is used in Section 13(d) 
of the Exchange Act) directly or indirectly, of securities of the Licensee representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting 
power of the Licensee’s then outstanding securities; provided, that for purposes of this paragraph, the term “person” shall exclude (A) a trustee 
or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Licensee or a subsidiary of Licensee and (B) a corporation owned 
directly or indirectly by the stockholders of the Licensee in substantially the same proportions as their ownership in the Licensee;  

   
(2)                                   Any merger, consolidation, other corporate reorganization or liquidation of the Licensee in which the Licensee is 

not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity or pursuant to which shares of Stock would be converted into cash, securities, or other 
property, other than (A) a merger or consolidation with a wholly owned subsidiary, (B) a reincorporation of the Licensee in a different 
jurisdiction, or (C) other transaction in which there is no substantial change in the stockholders of the Licensee;  

   
(3)                                   Any merger or consolidation of the Licensee with or into another entity or any other corporate reorganization, if 

more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the continuing or surviving entity’s securities outstanding immediately after 
such merger, consolidation or other reorganization is owned by persons who were not stockholders of the Licensee immediately prior to such 
merger, consolidation or other reorganization;  

   
(4)                                   The sale, transfer, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Licensee; or  
   
(5)                                   A change or series of related or unrelated changes in the composition of the Board of Directors of Licensee, during 

any twenty-four (24) month period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of this Agreement, as a result of which fewer than fifty percent 
(50%) of the incumbent directors are directors who either (1) had been directors of the Licensee on the later of such first anniversary or the date 
twenty-four (24) months prior to the date of the event that may constitute a Change of Control (the “Original Directors”) or (ii) were elected, or 
nominated for election, to the Board of Directors of the Licensee with the affirmative votes of a least a majority of the aggregate of the Original 
Directors who were still in office at the time of the election or nomination and the directors whose election or nomination was previously so 
approved.  
   

Exhibit 10.36 
   

C O M M E R C I A L  L E A S E  A G R E E M E N T  
(Triple Net)  

   
THIS LEASE, made this            day of                   , 2003, by and between WESTLAND PARK LLC , an Indiana limited liability 

company, of 3112 East SR 124, Bluffton, Indiana 46714 (hereinafter “Landlord”), and POORE BROTHERS, INC. , a                            
corporation, with principal offices located at 3500 S. La Cometa Drive, Goodyear, AZ  85338 (hereinafter “Tenant”).  

   
The parties hereto, in consideration of the leasing by Landlord to Tenant and the taking by Tenant from Landlord of the premises 

hereinafter described and in further consideration of the obligations of each party to the other hereby undertaken, covenant and agree as 
follows:  

   
1.                                        Leased Premises/Use .  Landlord leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, 100,000 square-feet (subject to 

remeasure upon completion from inside wall to inside wall) of warehouse and distribution space (“Demised Premises”) located at the northeast 
corner of the intersection of SR 124 and West Lancaster Street, commonly known as 1955 West Lancaster Street, Suite 1, Bluffton, Indiana 
46714, and more particularly described on the attached Exhibit “A”  . Landlord shall construct approximately 3,310 sq. ft. of office space as part 
of the Demised Premises in accordance with Exhibit “A”  and subject to Tenant’s reasonable approval of same.  Any additional office space 
required by Tenant shall be constructed by Landlord at Tenant’s expense.  It is understood that the Demised Premises are to be a part of a larger 
200,000 square feet building (“Building”), such building to be one of two or more buildings to be constructed by Landlord. The total buildings 
constructed on the premises will form the “Project” . It is understood that the Tenant will share certain common area elements with future 
tenants of the Project. These elements include, but are not limited to, the parking area and drives for ingress and egress.  Tenant shall have the 
non-exclusive right to all existing and future easements, parking areas and facilities, and all appurtenances and fixtures belonging to or 
appurtenant to the Building or Project.  Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises, the Building or the Project is limited to the operation of a 
warehouse/distribution center, with office administrative use to support such aforementioned operation.  No other use shall be permitted 
without the prior written consent of the Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The withholding of consent by Landlord 
for a use which is inconsistent with the industrial character of the Project shall be deemed reasonable.  

   
As Landlord constructs additional warehouses in the warehouse complex and obtains additional tenants, Tenant’s pro-rata share of 

Common Area Maintenance ( paragraph 5 ) will be adjusted by an addendum to this Lease to reflect the percentage of the square footage of the 
Demised Premises as compared to the total square feet in the Project.  

   
2.                                        Term; Renewal .  The initial term of this Lease shall commence December 1, 2003, the “Lease Commencement Date” , and 



shall continue for a period of three (3) years, or as extended pursuant to paragraph 26 of this Lease.  If the Demised Premises are not 
substantially completed in accordance with Exhibit “A”  by December 1, 2003, the Lease Commencement Date shall be changed to the first 
date following December 1, 2003, that the Demised Premises have been substantially completed in accordance with Exhibit “A”  .  A lease year 
shall be twelve calendar months, beginning with the Lease Commencement Date.  Landlord or Tenant shall  

   
 



   
submit to the other a letter confirming the Lease Commencement Date at such time as the date becomes final so that Tenant may establish its 
account for the payment of Rent (hereinafter defined) as required in paragraph 4.  

   
3.                                        Peaceful Possession .  Landlord covenants that Tenant, upon paying the rental and performing its covenants herein 

contained, shall and may peacefully and quietly have, hold, and enjoy the Demised Premises for the term of this Lease.  Tenant shall have 
access to the Demised Premises during Landlord’s construction of the Building prior to the Lease Commencement Date for the sole purpose of 
Tenant’s installation of wiring and cabling for Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises.  During the twenty (20) days prior to the Lease 
Commencement Date, Tenant shall have access to the Demised Premises for the sole purpose of Tenant’s installation of floor striping as 
needed by Tenant for Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises.  During any period of possession of the Demised Premises prior to the Lease 
Commencement Date, Tenant shall have in force the liability insurance required in paragraph 8 of this Lease and agrees to indemnify Landlord 
from such use of the Demised Premises in accordance with paragraph 15 of this Lease.  

   
4.                                        Rental .  Tenant, in consideration of the Demised Premises and of the covenants and obligations of the Landlord contained 

in this Lease, shall pay rental for the Demised Premises (subject to the remeasure of the completed Demised Premises) during the initial term of 
this Lease as follows (“Rent”):  

   
   
Beginning on the Lease Commencement Date, and on the first day of each month thereafter, Tenant shall pay Rent in monthly installments as 
indicated in the above table.  Each monthly payment shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of each month during the term of this 
Lease.  Any Rent due for partial months at the commencement or termination of this Lease, or the beginning or end of any term hereof, shall be 
appropriately prorated.  The total annual rent shall not be adjusted, up or down, by the remeasure of the completed Demised Premises unless 
such remeasure indicates a variance from 100,000 sq. ft. of more than 1,000 sq. ft.  
   

Tenant shall deliver the monthly installments of Rent to Landlord by check, money order, at 3112 East SR 124, Bluffton, Indiana 
46714, or electronic fund transfer as directed by Landlord.  

   
5.                                        Common Area Maintenance (CAM) .  Landlord shall operate and maintain the common areas and common facilities of 

the Project at its sole expense, it being acknowledged by the parties that Tenant’s pro rata share of the common area maintenance charges are to 
be reimbursed by Tenant as additional rent.  Common area maintenance (“CAM”) charges shall be the actual amount (without profit or “mark 
up” by Landlord or any affiliate of Landlord) of all necessary, competitive and reasonable costs and expenses actually incurred by Landlord in 
operating and maintaining the common areas of the Project in an appropriate manner commensurate with good business practice; including, but 
not limited to the following items:  

   
The costs of maintenance and repair of:  

   
2  

 

Lease Term  
   

Annual  
   

Monthly  
   

$/Sq. Ft.  
   

Years 1, 2 & 3  
   

$ 358,100.00 
   $ 29,841.67 

   $ 3.581 
   



   
(a)                                   driveways, sidewalks, parking areas and any other paved areas (including patching, sealing, and line painting);  
   
(b)                                  building maintenance including repair to roofs, gutters, downspouts, canopies, storefronts, electrical and plumbing system, 

and exterior painting and sealing;  
   
(c)                                   water and septic system repairs and maintenance;  
   
(d)                                  landscaping (including replacement of plant materials);  
   
(e)                                   parking lot;  
   
(f)                                     Project signage;  
   
(g)                                  pest and weed control;  
   
(h)                                  security, if provided;  
   
(i)                                      fire protection (sprinkler system), if provided;  
   
(j)                                      utilities for the common areas and the water and septic systems;  
   
(k)                                   snow removal;  
   
(l)                                      trash, garbage, and refuse removal, if provided;  
   
(m)                                powerwashing;  
   
(n)                                  window cleaning; and  
   
(o)                                  surface water drainage and detention areas.  
   

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the following items and costs shall be excluded from Tenant’s pro-rata share of CAM:  
   

(a)                                   Costs attributable to improvements or work which were part of original plans and specifications for which building permits 
were issued, i.e., planting, parking lot lighting, striping, roads, and other such items of capital improvement.  

   
(b)                                  Leasing costs of any type, be it procuring tenants or re-leasing; as well as retaining existing tenants.  
   
(c)                                   Costs incurred due to Landlord violations of any of the terms and conditions of any leases with any tenant(s) in the Project.  
   
(d)                                  Costs attributable to enforcing leases against any tenants in the Project, such as attorney’s fees, court costs, adverse 

judgments and similar expenses.  
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(e)                                   Depreciation and amortization of debt, but excluding depreciation and amortization of capital improvements.  If the costs of 

any repairs, alterations, additions, changes, replacements or other items which would otherwise be included in CAM are required and/or are of 
the type which should be capitalized under the Internal Revenue Code (further examples given below), then such costs shall not be included in 
full as CAM costs, but rather the Landlord shall only include in CAM for each fiscal year the annual portion of such costs yielded by 
amortizing the same over the useful life thereof.  

   
(f)                                     Interest on any mortgages of the Landlord and rental under any ground or underlying lease.  
   
(g)                                  Advertising and promotional expenditures which should be a part of a specific marketing plan agreed upon by the tenants.  
   
(h)                                  Repairs and other work occasioned by fire, or other casualty that the Landlord is reimbursed by insurance that was required 

to be carried under the Lease.  
   
(i)                                      Any costs, fines or penalties, incurred due to violations by Landlord of any governmental rule or authority and the defense 

of same.  
   
(j)                                      Repairs and maintenance performed in a tenant exclusive space and not in the common area.  
   
(k)                                   Any expense for which Landlord receives reimbursement by insurance proceeds or condemnation awards.  
   
(l)                                      Any and all payroll or other benefits, perks, or expenses for employees of Landlord; provided, however, that Landlord shall 

be permitted to pass through reasonable charges relating to third party contractors performing routine maintenance for the Project, such as 
mowing the grass, etc.  

   
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for it’s pro rata share of the CAM expense commencing with such expenses incurred on and after the 

Lease Commencement Date.  Tenant’s payments of its share of the CAM expense shall be in accordance with paragraph 31 of this Lease.  
   
The trailer parking area designated on Exhibit “A” solely for Tenant’s use shall be maintained by Landlord at Tenant’s sole expense, 

and shall not be a part of CAM to be shared by other tenants.  
   
6.                                        Taxes and Assessments.   Landlord shall pay all general real estate taxes and all special assessments levied or assessed 

against the Project, including the Demised Premises.  Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Tenant’s pro rata share of such general real estate 
taxes and special assessments paid by Landlord during the term of the Lease, excluding any penalties or interest for late payment, in accordance 
with paragraph 31 of this Lease.  

   
Tenant shall have the right to contest any real estate tax assessments at its own expense and, if necessary, in the name of the Landlord.  

Any recovery of taxes attributable to Tenant’s  
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period of occupancy and the Demised Premises shall belong to and shall become the property of Tenant to the extent of Tenant’s pro-rata 
share.  Any contest of amounts due by Tenant shall not constitute a default hereunder.  Tenant shall have the right of contribution from other 
tenants for their pro-rata share of Tenant’s costs of any successful real estate tax assessment challenge.  Tenant may seek contribution from 
other tenants or request Landlord to collect such contribution as part of Landlord’s recovery of taxes paid in accordance with paragraph 31 of 
this Lease and the similar provisions of other tenants’ leases.  

   
Tenant shall pay all personal property taxes assessed against personal property and leasehold improvements owned or leased by 

Tenant and located on the Demised Premises.  
   
Landlord will make an application to the County Council of Wells County, Indiana, for a determination that the Building to be 

constructed on the Demised Premises qualifies for a deduction from assessed valuation (Tax Abatement).  Landlord cannot guaranty that such 
determination will be approved.  Tenant agrees to cooperate with Landlord’s application to the extent necessary or required under the 
applicable state law or regulations.  If such application is approved, Tenant agrees to cooperate with any annual filing requirements in order to 
maintain any such deduction approved.  

   
7.                                        Utilities .  The Demised Premises will be separately metered for all utilities. Meters will be installed at Landlord’s expense.  

 Tenant shall contract for utility service in its name and pay from the date of occupancy and during the term, all charges for utilities separately 
metered to the Demised Premises, such as, but not limited to, gas, electricity, lights, heat, fire protection system, power, telephone and other 
communication and utility services used, rendered, or supplied upon or in connection with the Demised Premises, and shall indemnify and hold 
Landlord harmless against any liability or damages on such accounts.  

   
8.                                        Insurance .  
   
a.                                        Fire and Extended Coverage Insurance .  Landlord shall obtain and keep in effect at all times fire and extended coverage 

insurance on the Building and improvements comprising the Demised Premises from the date of occupancy and during the 
term and any renewal term exercised by Tenant in an amount equal to the full replacement value of such buildings and 
improvements.  Neither Tenant nor its agents, employees, or guests shall be liable for any loss or damage to the Demised 
Premises by fire or any cause within the scope of coverage actually provided by and paid for by such fire and extended 
coverage insurance, it being understood that the Landlord shall be looked at solely for reimbursement for such covered loss 
or damage. Tenant shall have the right to request and receive evidence of Landlord’s proof of insurance.  

   
b.                                       Liability Insurance .  Prior to Tenant assuming possession, complete or partial, of the Demised premises and during the term 

of this Lease, Tenant shall obtain and maintain comprehensive general public liability insurance against claims for personal 
injury, death, or property damage occurring on, in, or about the Demised Premises, such insurance to afford minimum 
protection of not less than  
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$1,000,000.00 in respect of personal injury or death to any one person, and not less than $1,000,000.00 in respect of any one 
occurrence, and of not less than $1,000,000.00 for property damage.  Neither Tenant, its agents, employees, nor guests shall 
be liable for any claims for personal injury, death, or property damage within the scope of coverage actually provided by and 
paid for by such liability insurance, it being understood that the Tenant shall be looked at solely for reimbursement for such 
covered claims.  Landlord shall have the right to request and receive evidence of Tenant’s proof of insurance.  

   
Landlord shall at all times maintain in effect comprehensive public liability insurance with respect to the Demised Premises 
and the common areas of the Project for personal injury, bodily injury, and property damage, in amounts of not less than 
those required of Tenant herein.   Neither Landlord, its agents, nor employees, shall be liable for any claims for personal 
injury, death, or property damage within the scope of coverage actually provided by such liability insurance, it being 
understood that the Landlord shall be looked at solely for reimbursement for such covered claims.  
   

c.                                        Loss of Rents Insurance .  Landlord may maintain loss of rents insurance to cover any loss of rents required to be paid by 
this Lease.  

   
All insurance required by this paragraph shall be placed with responsible companies.  All such policies shall be non-assessable and 

shall require thirty (30) days’ notice by registered mail to Landlord and Tenant of any cancellation thereof or change affecting the coverage 
thereunder.  

   
All insurance required by this paragraph shall name both Landlord and Tenant as an insured as their respective interests may appear.  
   
Neither party shall violate nor permit to be violated any of the conditions or provisions of any such insurance policy.  
   
Landlord and Tenant and all parties claiming, by, through or under them mutually release and discharge each other from all claims and 

liabilities arising from or caused by any casualty or hazard covered or required hereunder to be covered in whole or in part by insurance on the 
Demised Premises, or in connection with activities conducted on the Demised Premises, or in or on the Project, and waive any right of 
subrogation which might otherwise exist in or accrue to any person on account thereof and further agree to evidence such waiver by 
endorsement to the required insurance policies, provided that such release shall not operate in any case where the effect is to invalidate or 
increase the cost of such insurance coverage. In the case of increased cost, the other party shall have the right, within thirty (30) days following 
written notice, to pay such increased cost, thereby keeping such release and waiver in full force and effect.  

   
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Tenant’s pro rata portion of Landlord’s insurance expense in accordance with paragraph 31 of 

this Lease. Landlord shall reasonably estimate Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Landlord’s insurance costs and Tenant shall pay one twelfth 
(1/12) together with the payment of Rent.  
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9.                                        Repair and Maintenance .  During the term of this Lease, Tenant shall, at its expense, maintain and repair the Demised 

Premises and every part thereof, excluding Landlord’s responsibilities as set forth below, and shall use all reasonable precaution to prevent 
waste, damage, or injury thereto, ordinary wear, tear, use and acts of God excepted.  Specifically, but not intended to be limited hereby, Tenant 
shall be responsible for maintaining the interior of the Demised Premises, the HVAC systems, the lighting (including bulb and ballasts 
replacements), interior plumbing and plumbing fixtures, doors, windows, glass, electrical, and communication wiring located on or within the 
Demised Premises. Warranties in existence during the Lease will be used by Tenant.  

   
Landlord shall be responsible for maintenance and repair of the structure, roof and exterior foundation of the Demised Premises, the 

sprinkler system, plumbing for common areas and all aspects of the remainder of the Project.  
   
10.                                  Alterations .  All alterations or remodeling of the Demised Premises shall be done at Tenant’s own cost.  No alterations or 

remodeling projects exceeding $2,500 shall occur without Landlord’s prior approval of the plans and specifications for such alteration, which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

   
All such alterations, changes, and improvements to the Demised Premises shall be deemed to be the sole property of the Landlord and 

a part of the Demised Premises, except that all movable trade fixtures purchased by and installed by Tenant shall be and remain the property of 
Tenant and shall be removed by Tenant at the expiration of the term hereof.  Tenant shall repair any damage to the Demised Premises resulting 
from Tenant’s removal of such movable trade fixtures.  

   
11.                                  Compliance With Laws .  Except as may be otherwise provided paragraph 9, during the term, Tenant shall, at its own 

expense, promptly observe and comply with all present and future laws, ordinances and other regulations of all governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction over the Demised Premises, Tenant shall not, however, be responsible for any condition of whatever nature that existed prior to 
Tenant’s date of occupancy of the Demised Premises and Landlord hereby agrees to indemnify and hold Tenant harmless on account of same.  

   
12.                                  Signs .  Landlord shall erect a sign at the entrance to the Project as specified in the construction specifications document.  

The Landlord shall install an electrical box in the front of the Building for Tenant’s use on or prior to the Commencement Date.  Tenant may 
erect, at its own expense, a sign or signs to identify and advertise Tenant’s business, on and about the Demised Premises.  

   
All signs installed by Tenant will remain the property of Tenant, removable by Tenant from the Demised Premises within thirty (30) 

days after the expiration or termination of this Lease. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Demised Premises resulting from Tenant’s removal 
of such signs.  

   
7  

 



   
13.                                  Title Warranty .  Landlord represents and covenants that Landlord is fee simple owner of the real estate encompassing the 

Demised Premises, subject, however, only to existing mortgages and other encumbrances covering the Demised Premises and leases affecting 
the common areas of the Project.  

   
14.                                  Damage and Destruction .  It is mutually agreed that in the event the Demised Premises, or the means of ingress and egress 

therefrom and thereto are injured by fire or other damage or destruction during the term of the Lease, the rent provided for herein shall abate 
entirely in case the entire Demised Premises or any substantial portion thereof is untenantable and, in the case a non-substantial portion of the 
Demised Premises is untenantable, shall partially abate and shall be prorated for the portion rendered untenantable, until the Demised Premises 
are restored by Landlord to a good, tenantable condition (which Landlord shall undertake to do with due diligence), the Tenant paying during 
such time the proportion of rent that the part of the Demised Premises remaining tenantable shall bear to the entire Demised Premises during 
such period; provided, however, that there shall be no abatement of rent on account of the condition of said Demised Premises by reason of any 
loss or damage by fire or other damage or destruction if such damage or destruction was caused by the negligent or willful act of Tenant. In the 
event that the Demised Premises is destroyed or damaged so that it can not be repaired or reconstructed with reasonable diligence being 
exercised within one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of such destruction or damage by reason of fire or other casualty, either party 
may terminate this Lease by giving written notice to the other party within forty-five (45) days after the date of such destruction or damage; 
provided, however, that Tenant may require Landlord to rebuild and restore the Demised Premises to its previous condition by giving Landlord 
written notice within such forty-five (45) day period; provided further, however, if there is less than one (1) year remaining on the term of this 
Lease, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease unless Tenant is agreeable to renewing this Lease for a minimum term of three (3) 
years, in which event Landlord shall not have the right to terminate.  

   
For purposes of this paragraph, the term “tenantable condition” shall mean a condition of the Demised Premises for use by Tenant for 

its active operation of its food warehouse as operated immediately prior to the damage or destruction contemplated hereunder, in Tenant’s 
reasonable judgment.  

   
15.                                  Indemnification .  Except as caused by the willful or gross negligent act or omission of Landlord, Tenant agrees, to the 

extent permitted by law, to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Landlord, its shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, and 
servants from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, claims, actions, suits, decrees, orders, expenses, demands, or judgments of 
any nature whatsoever arising from any injury to or the death of any person, or damage to property, in any manner growing out of or in the 
connection with the use, nonuse, condition, or occupation of the Demised Premises or any part thereof or the ownership, occupancy, or use 
thereof by Tenant from and after the Commencement Date until the Demised Premises are re-delivered to Landlord upon the termination of this 
Lease, or any extension thereof; provided, however, Tenant shall be relieved from and shall have no further obligation to defend and indemnify 
Landlord, its shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, or servants as specified herein to the extent of any coverage limits of any 
insurance required of and actually maintained by Tenant.  
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Landlord will, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify, save harmless, and defend Tenant, its shareholders, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, and servants, from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, claims, actions, suits, decrees, orders, expenses, 
demands, or judgments of any nature whatsoever arising from any injury to or the death of any person, or damage to property arising from or 
out of any occurrence (i) in, at, or upon the Demised Premises which is occasioned by any willful or gross negligent act or omission of 
Landlord, its agents, employees, or servants; (ii) in or upon any of the common areas or any part thereof; unless, as to items (i) and (ii),the same 
be caused by the willful or gross negligent act or omission of Tenant, its agents, employees, or servants provided, however, that Landlord shall 
be relieved from and shall have no further obligation to defend and indemnify Tenant, its shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, 
or servants as specified herein to the extent of any coverage limits of any insurance required of and actually maintained by Landlord.  

   
16.                                  Condemnation .  In the event that the Demised Premises or the common area, or any part thereof, shall be taken in 

condemnation proceedings or by exercise of any right of eminent domain or by agreement between Landlord, Tenant, and those authorized to 
exercise such right, Landlord shall be entitled to collect the entire award made in any such proceeding without deduction therefrom for any 
estate hereby vested in or owned by Tenant.  Tenant agrees to execute any and all documents that may be required in order to facilitate 
collection by Landlord of any and all such awards.  Provided, however, if any part of such award is exclusively identified for Tenant’s 
relocation expense, Tenant shall be entitled to receive such part of the award.  

   
If at any time during the term of this Lease the whole or substantially all of the Demised Premises shall be so taken or condemned, this 

Lease shall terminate and expire on the date upon which title shall vest in the condemning authority and the rent provided to be paid by Tenant 
shall be apportioned and paid to such date.  For the purposes of this section, “substantially all of the Demised Premises” shall be deemed to 
have been taken if, in the judgement of Tenant, the portion of the Demised Premises not so taken, and taking into consideration the amount of 
the net award available for such purpose, cannot be so repaired or reconstructed as to constitute a complete, rentable structure capable of 
producing a proportionately fair and reasonable net annual income after payment of all operating expenses thereof when being used by Tenant 
in the same manner as Tenant was conducting its business prior to any such taking.  

   
In the event of a taking which shall result in the termination of this Lease, the rights of Landlord and Tenant in any award shall be as 

follows and in the following order of priority:  
   
a.                                        There shall first be paid to the holder of any mortgage to which the Demised Premises is subject, the amount necessary to 

release the Demised Premises from any such mortgage.  
   
b.                                       Landlord shall retain the balance of said award.  
   
In the event of a partial taking, which shall not result in termination of this Lease, Landlord shall promptly proceed to rebuild, repair, 

and restore the remainder of any building of the Demised Premises affected thereby to a complete, independent, and self-contained  
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architectural unit, for the purposes in use before the taking - to the extent the award for such taking is sufficient to pay for such work.  If the 
award for such taking is insufficient to pay for such work, Landlord may terminate this Lease.  The balance of such separate award or allocated 
amount not so used and the award for the portion of the Demised Premises taken shall be distributed to Landlord.  

   
In the event that such repairing, rebuilding, and restoration is such that the Demised Premises, in the judgment of Tenant, may not be 

restored to a tenantable condition (as defined in the Damage and Destruction paragraph hereof) within ninety (90) days from the date of taking, 
then, at the election of Tenant and with notice thereof to Landlord within thirty (30) days from such taking, this Lease may be terminated 
effective as of the date of such taking, and any rental paid by Tenant in advance shall be refunded.  

   
If this Lease does not terminate as provided in this paragraph, the rent after the date of taking shall be fixed by agreement of the 

parties or, in the absence of such agreement, by arbitration pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, provided, however, that the Demised 
Premises are restored within ninety (90) days to a tenantable condition which is the use by Tenant for the purposes in use before the taking.  If 
the Demised Premises cannot be restored within ninety (90) days, rent shall abate absolutely regardless of the degree or extent of the taking.  

   
17.                                  Subordination to Mortgages .  This Lease and all rights of Tenant hereunder are and shall be subject and subordinate to the 

lien of any and all mortgage or mortgages, or consolidated mortgage or mortgages, which may now or hereafter affect the Demised Premises, 
or any part thereof, and to any and all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements, and extensions of any such mortgage or 
mortgages, provided, however, that any and all mortgagees shall provide to Tenant non-disturbance and attornment agreements satisfactory to 
Tenant as provided below.  

   
Tenant shall, upon demand at any time or times, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Landlord, without expense to Landlord, such 

reasonable instruments that may be necessary or proper to reasonably subordinate this Lease and all rights hereunder to the lien of any such 
mortgage or mortgages and each such renewal, modification, consolidation, replacement, and extension.  

   
Landlord agrees to have included in any existing mortgage or in any renewal, modification, consolidation, replacement, or extension 

of any such mortgage hereafter made, or in a written instrument in recordable form executed by the mortgagee in connection therewith, 
provisions to the effect that so long as there shall be outstanding no default in any of the terms, conditions, covenants, or agreements of this 
Lease on the part of Tenant to be performed, said mortgagee shall provide to Tenant written notice of any default by Landlord under the terms 
of any such mortgage and the leasehold estate of Tenant created hereby, and Tenant’s peaceable and quiet possession of the Demised Premises, 
shall remain undisturbed by any foreclosure of such mortgage. Tenant’s agreement to subordinate this Lease to any such mortgage is expressly 
contingent upon the mortgagee agreeing to the above provisions.  
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18.                                  Access By Landlord .  Upon 24 hours prior notice to Tenant, except in the case of an emergency no prior notice shall be 

required, Tenant shall permit Landlord or its agents to enter the Demised Premises during normal business hours for the purpose of inspection, 
or of making repairs that Tenant may neglect or refuse to make in accordance with the agreements, terms, conditions, and covenants hereof, 
and also for the purpose of showing the Demised Premises to persons wishing to purchase the same or to make a mortgage loan on the same 
and, at any time within three (3) months prior to the expiration of the term, to persons wishing to rent the same.  Landlord shall take all 
reasonable precautions to minimize any interference with Tenant’s business.  

   
19.                                  Default .  Each of the following events shall be a default hereunder by Tenant and a breach of this Lease:  
   
a.                                        If Tenant shall file a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorganization or arrangement under the bankruptcy laws of 

the United States or any insolvency act of any state or shall voluntarily take advantage of any such law or act by answer or 
otherwise or shall be dissolved or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors.  

   
b.                                       If involuntary proceedings under any such bankruptcy law or insolvency act or for the dissolution of a corporation shall be 

instituted against Tenant or if a receiver or trustee shall be appointed for all or substantially all of the property of Tenant and 
such proceedings shall not be dismissed or such receivership or trusteeship vacated within thirty (30) days after such 
institution or appointment.  

   
c.                                        If Tenant shall fail to pay Landlord any rent as and when the same shall become due and payable or fails to pay any other 

sum required to be paid by Tenant hereunder after thirty (30) days’ written notice from Landlord.  Any such payment not 
received by Landlord within or prior to the end of such notice period, if applicable, shall accrue interest of twelve percent 
(12%) per annum, commencing with the original due date, until paid in full.  

   
d.                                       If Tenant shall fail to perform any of the agreements, terms, covenants, or conditions hereof on Tenant’s part to be 

performed and such non-performance shall continue for a period within which performance is required to be made by specific 
provision of this Lease or if no such period is so provided for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof by 
Landlord to Tenant, or if such performance cannot be reasonably had within such thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall not in 
good faith have commenced such performance within such thirty (30) day period and shall not diligently proceed therewith to 
completion.  

   
e.                                        If Tenant shall vacate or abandon the Demised Premises, coupled with the non-payment of rent.  
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f.                                          If this Lease or the estate of Tenant hereunder shall be transferred to or shall pass to or devolve upon any other person or 

party, except in a manner permitted under the Assignment and Subletting paragraph hereof.  
   
g.                                       If Tenant shall use the Demised Premises in any way which constitutes a nuisance as defined in IC 32-30-6-6.  
   
If this Lease shall be held by a permitted assignee or successor of Tenant, the provisions of subparagraphs a. and b. above shall apply 

only to such assignee or successor while in possession of the Demised Premises.  
   
If any such event of default shall occur and be continuing, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease, as well as all of the right, title, 

and interest of Tenant hereunder by giving to Tenant not less than thirty (30) days’ notice of such termination, and upon the expiration of the 
time fixed in such notice, this Lease and the term hereof, as well as all of the right, title, and interest of Tenant hereunder, shall expire in the 
same manner and with the same force and effect, as if the expiration of the time fixed in such notice of termination were the end of the term.  

   
After expiration of the applicable period of notice specified in subparagraphs c. and d. of this paragraph, or without notice in the event 

of any emergency, Landlord, at its option, may, but shall not be obligated to, make any payment required of Tenant herein or comply with any 
agreement, term, covenant, or condition, required hereby to be performed by Tenant, and the amount so paid, together with interest of twelve 
percent (12%) thereon from the date of such payment by Landlord, shall be deemed to be additional rent hereunder payable by Tenant and 
collectible as such by Landlord with the next succeeding monthly installment of rent.  All payments received shall first be applied against such 
additional rent, then against rent past due, if applicable, and last against current rent.  Landlord shall have the right to enter the Demised 
Premises for the purpose of correcting or remedying any such default and to remain therein until the same shall have been corrected or 
remedied, but neither any such expenditure nor any such performance by Landlord shall be deemed to waive or release Tenant’s default or the 
right of Landlord to take such action as may be otherwise permissible hereunder in the case of such default.  

   
The subsequent acceptance of rent by Landlord shall not be deemed a waiver of any preceding breach of any obligation of this Lease 

by Tenant other than the failure to pay the particular rental so accepted, and waiver of any breach of a covenant or condition by either party 
shall not constitute a waiver of any other breach or default regardless of knowledge thereof.  

   
20.                                  Right to Re-Enter .  In the event of termination of this Lease, either by operation of law, by issuance of a dispossessory 

warrant, by service of notice, or termination as herein provided, or otherwise, or in the event of a default referred to in subparagraph c. and e. of 
the Default paragraph hereof, Landlord shall immediately re-enter and repossess the Demised Premises in an effort to mitigate, to the fullest 
extent possible, Landlord’s damages.  Landlord’s duty to re-enter the Demised Premises for the purpose of mitigating Landlord’s damages is 
contingent upon Tenant’s vacating and surrendering possession of the Demised Premises to Landlord.  In the event of such a re-enter by 
Landlord, Tenant shall be allowed access to the  
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Demised Premises for a reasonable period of time not to exceed sixty (60) days from such re-enter and upon reasonable prior notice to 
Landlord for the sole purpose of removing Tenant’s trade fixtures, personal property and inventory from the Demised Premises.  Landlord shall 
not have a landlord’s lien on Tenant’s trade fixtures, personal property, or inventory and Landlord shall not have the right of seizure or to sell 
Tenant’s trade fixtures, personal property, or inventory.  

   
Landlord shall repair and alter the Demised Premises in a reasonable manner and to the condition of the Premises at lease 

commencement, and use its best efforts to let or relet the Demised Premises or any parts thereof for the whole or any part of the remainder of 
the then current term or for a longer period, in Landlord’s name or as the agent of Tenant, and out of any rent collected or received from 
subtenants or as a result of such letting or reletting, Landlord shall, first, pay to itself the cost and expense of retaking, repossessing, repairing, 
and/or altering the Demised Premises, and the cost and expense of removing Tenant and property therefrom; second, pay to itself the cost and 
expense sustained in securing any new tenant; and, if Landlord shall maintain and operate the Demised Premises, the cost and expense of 
operating and maintaining the Demised Premises; and, third, pay to itself any balance remaining on account of the liability of Tenant to 
Landlord for the sum equal to all rent and other charges payable hereunder and unpaid by Tenant for the remainder of the term.  

   
Should any rent collected by Landlord as provided in this paragraph after the payments therein mentioned be insufficient to fully pay 

to Landlord a sum equal to all rent and other charges payable hereunder for the remainder of the term, the balance or deficiency shall be paid 
by Tenant on the rent days herein specified; that is, upon each of such rent days Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of the deficiency then 
existing; and Tenant shall be and remain liable for any such deficiency, and the right of Landlord to recover from Tenant the amount thereof, or 
a sum equal to all such rent, additional rent, and other charges payable hereunder, if there shall be no reletting, shall survive the issuance of any 
dispossessory warrant or other termination hereof, and Landlord shall be entitled to retain any excess.  

   
21.                                  Assignment and Subletting .  Tenant may not assign or sublet all or any portion of the Demised Premises without the prior 

written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The parties agree that Landlord’s refusal to give consent to an 
assignment or subletting to an entity for an intended use which is inconsistent with an industrial warehouse facility or the then current zoning of 
the Demised Premises shall be deemed reasonable. Tenant shall, however, have the right to assign this Lease to any subsidiary or organization 
affiliated with or owned and/or controlled by Tenant without the consent of Landlord.  The Tenant shall remain primarily liable for the 
payment of rent herein reserved and for the performance of all other terms of the Lease required to be performed by the Tenant, 
notwithstanding any assignment or subletting.  

   
Landlord may assign its interest in this Lease or convey its interest in the Demised Premises without Tenant’s consent.  Such 

assignment or conveyance shall be effective as to Tenant upon written notice by Landlord to Tenant of such assignment or conveyance and 
upon such assignment or conveyance Landlord shall have no further liability or obligation to Tenant under this Lease.  Landlord may assign, 
from time to time, the whole or part of the rent at any  
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time payable hereunder without Tenant’s consent.  Such assignment shall be effective as to Tenant upon written notice by Landlord to Tenant 
of such assignment.  

   
22.                                  End of Term .  Tenant shall, on the last day of the term, or upon the sooner termination of the term, peaceably and quietly 

surrender and deliver possession of the Demised Premises to Landlord free of subtenancies (unless Landlord shall consent to the continuance 
thereof), in broom-clean condition, including all buildings, replacements, changes, additions, and improvements constructed, erected, added, or 
placed by Tenant thereon, with all equipment in or appurtenant thereto, except for Tenant’s trade fixtures as provided in paragraph 10 (but not 
including equipment installed by any subtenant), in good condition, proper working order and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted.  

   
23.                                  Arbitration .  In such cases where this Lease provides for the settlement of a dispute or question by arbitration, the same 

shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the rules, then obtaining, of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the 
award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  The venue for any such arbitration shall be Fort Wayne, Indiana.  

   
24.                                  Estoppel Certificate .  Tenant shall, without charge, at any time and from time to time hereafter, within fifteen (15) days 

after request by Landlord, certify by a reasonably written instrument duly executed and acknowledged to any mortgagee or purchaser, or any 
other person, firm, or corporation specified by Landlord, as to the validity and force and effect of this Lease, in accordance with its tenor, as 
then constituted, as to the existence of any default on the part of any party thereunder, as to the existence of any offsets, counterclaims, or 
defenses thereto on the part of Tenant, and as to any other matters which may be reasonably requested by Landlord.  

   
25.                                  Notices .  Whenever it is provided herein that notice, demand, request, or other communication shall or may be given to or 

served upon either of the parties by the other, and whenever either of the parties shall desire to give or serve upon the other any notice, demand, 
request, or other communication with respect hereto or with respect to the Demised Premises, each such notice, demand, request, or other 
communication shall be in writing and, any law or statute to the contrary notwithstanding, shall be effective for any purpose if given or served 
as follows:  

   
a.                                        If by Landlord, by mailing the same to Tenant by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 

addressed to Tom Freeze, Poore Brothers, Inc.  3500 S. La Cometa Drive, Goodyear, AZ, 85338 or at such other address 
as Tenant may from time to time designate by notice given to Landlord by certified or registered mail with a copy to Lisa 
Schommer at the same address.  

   
b.                                       If by Tenant, by mailing the same to Landlord by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 

addressed to Robert W. Troxel, 3112 East SR 124, Bluffton, Indiana 46714 , or at such other address as Landlord may 
from time to time designate by notice given to Tenant by certified or registered mail, with a copy to Anthony O. Crowell, 
Gordon & Associates, P.C., 119 East Oak Forest Drive, Bluffton, Indiana 46714 .  
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Every notice, demand, request, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed to have been given or served at the time that the same shall 
be deposited in the United States mail, overnight mail, postage prepaid, in the manner aforesaid.  Nothing herein contained, however, shall be 
construed to preclude personal service of any notice, demand, request, or other communication in the same manner that personal service of a 
summons or other legal process may be made.  
   

26.                                  Option to Extend .  If this Lease shall be in full force and effect, and if Tenant shall have fully performed all of its terms 
and conditions and not be in default hereof, Tenant shall have the option to extend this Lease for two (2) additional extended terms of three (3) 
years each, upon the same terms and conditions, except rental.  Rental (subject to the remeasure of the described above) for the extended terms 
shall be as set forth below:  

   

   
The option for each such extended term must be exercised by Tenant by written notice of Tenant’s desire to extend the term of this Lease to 
Landlord not less than six (6) months prior to the expiration of the then current term.  
   

27.                                  Holdover Tenancy .  In the event the Tenant remains in possession of the Demised Premises after the term of this Lease, or 
any extension hereof, such holding over shall be construed as creating a tenancy from month to month and rent therefore shall be increased by 
6% above the monthly rate in effect as of the month preceding the date of lease expiration.  Such increase in rent during a holdover tenancy 
shall be on an annual basis and shall be adjusted annually thereafter in the event the holdover tenancy extends beyond a twelve month period.  

   
28.                                  Partial Invalidity .  If any term, covenant, or condition of this Lease or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstances shall, to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term, covenant, or 
condition to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and each 
term, covenant, or condition of this Lease shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.  

   
29.                                  Record of Notice of Lease .  Landlord and Tenant agree that Tenant shall have the right, at Tenant’s option and expense, to 

record a memorandum hereof, in the office of the appropriate governmental official so as to give record notice to the public of the existence of 
Tenant’s rights pursuant to this Lease.  Landlord agrees to execute such documents as may be necessary to facilitate the recording of a 
memorandum thereof.  

   
30.                                  Broker ’s Commission .  Landlord and Tenant each agree to be responsible for brokerage commissions or finder’s fees in 

connection with this Lease as a result of acts or agreements by each party, and each party agrees to indemnify the other and hold it harmless 
from any and all liabilities arising from any such claim (including, but without limitation, the actual costs of attorney fees in connection 
therewith), such agreement to survive the termination of this lease.  
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Renewal Term  
   

Annual  
   

Monthly  
   

$/Sq. Ft.  
   

Years 4 - 6  
   

$ 362,880.00 
   $ 30,240.00 

   $ 3.6288 
   

Years 7 - 9  
   

$ 372,960.00 
   $ 31,080.00 

   $ 3.7296 
   



   
31.                                  CAM; Insurance; Taxes Reimbursement .  Tenant’s obligation under this Lease to reimburse Landlord for Tenant’s pro-

rata share of Common Area Maintenance, Insurance, and real property taxes shall be paid to Landlord in accordance with this paragraph.  
Landlord estimates that Tenant’s annual pro-rata share of such expenses shall be equal to $0.20/sq. ft. of the Demised Premises.  Tenant agrees 
to pay its pro-rata share thereof in advance in twelve (12) equal monthly installments, together with the payment of Rent.  In the event the 
aggregate of Tenant’s installments during the year shall be less than the amount of such expenses due from Tenant, such deficiency shall be 
paid to Landlord within thirty (30) days after demand thereof. In the alternative, Landlord shall credit Tenant’s next payment due with any 
overpayment adjustment. Landlord shall provide to Tenant annually a copy of the tax bill and a reasonably detailed breakdown of the pro-
ration.  Tenant shall have the right to request detailed substantiation satisfactory to Tenant in Tenant’s sole discretion of all such expenses.  
Any payment not received by Landlord within such thirty (30) days from the invoice date shall accrue interest of 12% per annum until paid in 
full, provided that Tenant shall have the right to contest such invoice in good faith and to pay only such amount as Tenant shall in good faith 
deem reasonable pending resolution of the disputed amount.  Any amount so withheld by Tenant shall accrue interest only in the event and to 
the extent that such charges are determined by an award of arbitrators, or by the judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, to be reasonable 
and proper.  

   
Tenant’s pro-rata share shall be determined using a fraction, the numerator of which is the gross square feet of the Demised Premises 

(100,000 sq. ft. – subject to the remeasure described above) and the denominator of which is the total gross square feet in the Project.  
   
32.                                  Right of First Refusal .  Tenant shall have the first right to lease any additional warehouse space contained within the 

Building on the same terms as offered by Landlord to a prospective tenant.  Landlord shall give Tenant written notice of Landlord’s desire to 
rent additional space in the building in which the Demised Premises are located.  If Tenant does not provide written notice to Landlord of 
Tenant’s election to rent all of such warehouse space so offered by Landlord within ten (10) days from the date Tenant receives Landlord’s 
notice, or if Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree on the terms of an addendum to this Lease to add such additional warehouse space to this 
Lease within such ten (10) days from the date Tenant receives Landlord’s notice, Tenant shall be deemed to have waived its right of first 
refusal as to such additional warehouse space.  If Tenant fails to provide the required written notice of its desire to rent such additional space or 
the parties fail to agree on the terms for the rental of such additional space as herein required, Landlord shall be permitted to lease such 
additional space to any tenant or new tenant.  

   
33.                                  Tenant’s Environmental Representations & Indemnification :  
   
a.                                        Tenant hereby agrees that its use and alterations of the Demised Premises shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, 

ordinances, and regulations, including permits, during its possession; and Tenant will not store, release, or dispose (or 
knowingly permit the storage, release, or disposal of) a Hazardous Substance (as such is defined in subsection b. below) in 
the Demised Premises, except for cleaning supplies kept and used in the normal course of business and in compliance with all 
applicable environmental law and regulations.  Tenant does  
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hereby agree to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless of, from, and against, all claims, actions, liens, demands, costs, 
expenses, fines and judgments (including reasonable legal fees and costs) resulting from, or arising out of, Tenant’s violation 
of this provision.  

   
b.                                       Definition of Hazardous Substance:   The parties acknowledge and agree that for purposes of this provision and the Lease, 

(a) the term “Hazardous Substance(s)” shall mean and include any substance which is or contains: (i) any “Hazardous 
Substance” as now or hereafter defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 
1980, as now or hereafter amended (42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq.) (“CERCLA”) or any regulations now or hereafter 
promulgated under CERCLA; (ii) any “Hazardous Waste” as now or hereafter defined in the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act of 1976, as now or hereafter amended (42 U.S.C. Section 6901 et seq.) (“RCRA”) or any regulations now or 
hereafter promulgated under RCRA; (iii) any substance now or hereafter regulated by the Toxic Substances Control Act, as 
now or hereinafter amended (15 U.S.C. Section 2601 et seq.) (“TSCA”), or any regulations now or hereafter promulgated 
under TSCA; (iv) gasoline, diesel fuel, oil or other petroleum products or derivatives or fractions thereof; (v) asbestos or 
asbestos-containing materials in any form, whether friable or non-friable; (vi) polychlorinated biphenyls; (vii) radon gas; or 
(viii) any other substances, materials or wastes which are now or hereafter regulated or classified or considered to be 
mutagenic, carcinogenic, radioactive, hazardous or toxic under any existing or future federal, state or local law, statute, court 
decision, common law, code, ordinance, order, rule or regulation relating to hazardous or toxic substances, materials or 
wastes or the protection of the environment or human health, including without limitation any substance the presence of 
which on, in, under or in the vicinity of the Demised Premises (A) requires reporting, investigation or remediation, (B) causes 
or threatens to cause a nuisance on or to the Demised Premises, the warehouse complex, or to any other property in the 
vicinity thereof, or poses or threatens to pose a hazard to the health or safety of persons on or in the vicinity of the Demised 
Premises or the warehouse complex; or (C) which, if released, emanated or migrated from the non-Demised Premises area of 
the warehouse complex, could constitute a trespass; and (b) the term “Environmental Laws” shall mean and include 
CERCLA, RCRA, TSCA and all other federal, state and local laws, statutes, court decisions, common law, codes, ordinances, 
orders, rules and regulations relating to Hazardous Substances or the protection of the environment or human health, as same 
now exist and as hereafter adopted, promulgated and amended.  

   
34.                                  Miscellaneous .  
   
a.                                        Entire Agreement .  This Lease contains the entire agreement between the parties and cannot be changed or terminated orally 

but only by an instrument in writing executed by the parties.  
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b.                                       Attorneys’  Fees .  In the event of any litigation or arbitration between the parties arising out of this Lease, or in connection 

with the Demised Premises, the prevailing party shall be allowed all reasonable attorneys’ fees, and all court costs and 
incidental expenses incurred or expended in such litigation or arbitration, to be recovered as part of the costs assessed in such 
action.  

   
c.                                        Governing Law/Jurisdiction/Venue.   This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Indiana.  The parties consent to the jurisdiction and preferred venue of Wells County, Indiana for any legal action 
commenced under this Lease.  

   
d.                                       Binding Agreement.   The agreements, terms, covenants, and conditions herein shall bind and inure to the benefit of 

Landlord and Tenant and their respective parent companies, legal representatives, successors, and, except as otherwise 
provided herein, their assigns.  

   
e.                                        Force Majeure.   In the event that either party hereto shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from the performance of 

any act required under this Lease by reason of materially adverse weather conditions (defined as a catastrophic event and/or 
such severe adverse weather as not reasonably foreseeable to the performing party), strikes, lockouts, labor troubles, failure 
of power, restrictive governmental laws or regulations, riots, insurrections, acts of war, or other reasons of a like nature not 
the fault of the party delayed in performing works or doing acts required under the terms of this Lease, then performance of 
such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of such delay, except as otherwise specifically provided 
herein to the contrary.  The provisions of this Section shall not (a) be applicable to delays resulting from the inability of a 
party to obtain financing or to proceed with its obligations under this Lease because of a lack of funds; (b) delay or postpone 
any of the rights specifically granted to Tenant to terminate this Lease; or (c) be applicable to either party’s performance of 
its respective financial obligation pursuant to the terms of the Lease.  

   
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this Lease on the day and year first above set forth.  
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WESTLAND PARK, LLC  
   

POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
         
         
By: 

      

By: 
   

Robert W. Troxel  
      

      

Title:  
   

Title: Manager  
      

         
“Landlord”   

  

“Tenant”   



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
Depiction of Demised Premises  

   
(See site plan and Architect’s drawings dated May 12, 2003, as prepared by WKM & Associates  

and the attached building specifications)  
   

Exhibit 10.37 
   

WAREHOUSE SERVICES AGREEMENT  
   

THIS WAREHOUSE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), is entered into as of June 30, 2003, by and between Poore Brothers, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (“Poore Brothers”), and Customized Distribution Services, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation (“Warehouseman”).  
   
I.                 INITIAL TERM  
   
The initial term of this Agreement shall commence the earlier of December 1, 2003 or the first of the month after the building is completed and 
shall terminate on December 31, 2008 (the “Term”).  
   
II.             WAREHOUSING AND SERVICES; PAYMENT  
   
A.            During the Term, Warehouseman shall perform certain services for Poore Brothers, including, without limitation, receipt, put away, 

storage, order selection, shipment, related customer service and administrative functions and other services described in Schedule A to this 
Agreement (collectively, the “Services”). Warehouseman shall furnish all personnel, materials, equipment’, supplies and other accessories 
necessary to perform safely and efficiently the Services and the Services shall be performed by Warehouseman in a good and workmanlike 
manner.  

   
B.              Rates and charges for the Services are as set forth in Schedule B to this Agreement. Poore Brothers and Warehouseman shall review such 

rates annually. Poore Brothers guarantees minimum annual receipt will be one hundred twenty (120) thousand pallets through the Term of 
this Agreement. For any services not specified in this Agreement or in Schedule A, Poore Brothers shall pay to the Warehouseman such 
consideration as may be mutually agreed upon in advance in writing. Charges shall be paid by Poore Brothers within twenty (20) days after 
receipt of Warehouseman’s statement or invoice for such services with terms of 1% 10 net 20.  
If Poore Brothers, in its reasonable judgment, determines following the end of the first twelve (12) months of the term hereof that Poore 
Brothers Gross Sales of its “Crunch Toons” product line for the preceding twelve (12) months have not equaled or exceeded an amount 
necessary to sustain the 120,000 pallet annual volume guarantee in years 2-5 hereof and provided Poore Brothers is not in default in the 
performance of any of the covenants or terms and conditions of this Agreement either at the time of giving the required Termination 
Notice defined herein or on the Termination Date defined herein, Poore Brothers shall have a one-time option to terminate this Agreement 
subject to the terms and conditions of this paragraph (the “Gross Sales Termination Option”). If Poore Brothers desires to exercise the 
Gross Sales Termination Option, Poore Brothers shall give written notice to CDS of Poore Brothers desire to exercise the Gross Sales 
Termination Option (the “Termination Notice”) within thirty (30) days following the Thirteenth (13 th ) month of the Agreement. Within 
fifteen (15) days of its receipt of Poore Brothers Termination Notice, CDS shall notify Poore Brothers whether the Gross Sales 
Termination Option may be exercised and, if so, the date on which the Agreement will be terminated (the “Termination Date”). The 
Termination Date shall be no later than thirty (30) days following CDS’s notice to Poore Brothers that the Gross Sales Termination Option 
may be exercised.  
If Poore Brothers exercises the Gross Sales Termination Option and as conditions precedent to the effectiveness thereof: (a) Poore Brothers 
shall be fully liable for all accrued payments under this Agreement which shall become due, and for the prompt and complete performance 
of all terms and conditions of this Agreement, through and including the Termination Date; (b) Poore Brothers shall pay CDS, on or prior 
to the Termination Date, $844,500 less the corresponding amounts for any contracts listed on the attached Exhibit    , which are then 
assumed by Poore Brothers, provided CDS executes all documents necessary to accomplish such assignment and assumption on or prior to 
the Termination Date, free and clear of any liens of any nature; and (c) all personal property of CDS on the Premises, including, but not 
limited to, the office furniture, computers and related hardware along with other office equipment shall become the property of Poore 
Brothers upon the Termination Date and CDS shall execute a bill of sale accordingly transferring title of same free and clear of any liens of 
any nature.  
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If Poore Brothers does not validly and timely exercise the Gross Sales Termination Option set forth herein, or if all the terms and 
conditions set forth above for exercise of the Gross Sales Termination Option are not entirely satisfied, then; (a) this Agreement shall 
continue beyond the Termination Date, and Poore Brothers shall continue to be bound by the terms of this Agreement as if no Gross Sales 
Termination Option had ever existed or been exercised; (b) the Term hereof shall expire as originally set forth, unless sooner terminated by 
CDS in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and, (c) Poore Brothers shall have no further right thereafter to terminate this 
Agreement except as otherwise specifically provided herein.  
The Gross Sales Termination Option set forth herein is not transferable. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that they intend that the 
Gross Sales Termination Option shall be “personal” to Poore Brothers, and that in no event shall any assignee or sub lessee of Poore 
Brothers have any right to exercise the Gross Sales Termination Option set forth herein, notwithstanding any prior approval by CDS of the 
assignment of this Agreement or the subletting of the Premises.  
   

C.              Commencing on April 7, 2003, Warehouseman will provide consulting service for Poore Brothers. Poore Brothers will reimburse 
Warehouseman for salary and benefits of $7,812.50 on a monthly basis. Relocation and monthly management fee will be added to first (1)  
year pallet fee listed in Schedule B.If warehouse contract does not commence by December 1, 2003 or a mutually agreed upon date, Poore 
Brothers will pay Warehouseman $25,000 for relocation and $6,500 for the monthly management fee.  

   
D.             Warehouse Services Agreement needs to be executed no later than August 1. Warehouseman needs 90 days prior to move in date to 

effectively start-up the operation.  
   
III.         PROGRAM SCOPE; SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENTS  
   

The Poore Brothers/CDS Service Level Agreements 1 through 7 (collectively, the “SLAs”), all of which are attached as Schedule C to this 
Agreement, constitute an integral part of this Agreement as though fully set forth herein and describe the parties performance obligations 
under this Agreement. The terms of the SLAs are material terms for purposes of Section XVIII(B) of this Agreement.  
   

IV.        WAREHOUSE  
   
A.            Unless otherwise agreed by Poore Brothers in writing, the warehouse comprising approximately 100,000 square feet and located at 1955 

W. Lancaster Street, Suite 1, Bluffton, IN 46714 (the “Warehouse”) shall be operated by Warehouseman for the exclusive use and benefit 
of Poore Brothers. Warehouseman shall promptly notify Poore Brothers of any condition respecting the Warehouse which would prevent 
or otherwise inhibit its performance of the Services.  

   
B.              Poore Brothers shall have full access to the Warehouse at all times and shall have the right to examine, inspect, inventory and count all or 

any of its goods. If Poore Brothers desires access outside of normal business hours, Poore Brothers will coordinate access with 
Warehouseman.  

   
C.              Warehouseman shall be responsible for all operating expenses and handling fees in connection with the operation of the Warehouse, 

except for rent, utilities, dock doors, seals, levelers, restraints , HVAC system and common area charges and real estate taxes unless 
expenses are due to Warehouseman’s neglect.  

   
D.             Warehouseman shall maintain the Warehouse in a good and orderly condition and shall comply with the storage conditions and sanitation 

and housekeeping standards established by the American Institute of Baking from time to time. Warehouseman shall be responsible for 
any such related costs to comply. AIB audit cost will be paid by Poore Brothers.  
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E.               Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event the Federal Food & Drug Administration or any other 

governmental authority or entity (hereinafter “other agency”) determines that the Warehouse is not a fit space for the storage of Poore 
Brothers products or food products in general and such condition resulted from some action or omission of Warehouseman, 
Warehouseman shall either (1) bring the Warehouse into compliance within sixty (60) days of written notice of such determination, or (2) 
store the Poore Brothers products, which are the subject of this Agreement, at a substitute facility during that portion of the Term in which 
either the Federal Food &Drug Administration or other agency’s determination of lack of fitness remains in effect. Any charges over and 
above the charges herein which may be incurred by Warehouseman by virtue of providing substitute storage space shall be the 
responsibility of Warehouseman. Furthermore, when notice of unsuitable conditions is delivered to the Warehouseman by any 
governmental authority or entity, the Warehouseman must immediately notify Poore Brothers and provide Poore Brothers with a copy of 
any letter, report or order which the Warehouseman may have received from such governmental authority or entity.  

   
V.            RELATIONSHIP; SHIPPING  
   

Warehouseman shall operate at all times as a warehouseman under the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted in the State of Indiana. 
Poore Brothers shall not ship goods to Warehouseman as a named consignee. Shipments will be consigned to Poore Brothers c/o 
Warehouseman.  
   

VI.        TENDER FOR STORAGE  
   

All goods tendered for storage shall be delivered at the Warehouse in a segregated manner, properly marked and packaged for handling. 
Poore Brothers shall furnish or cause to be furnished to Warehouseman, at or prior to such delivery, a manifest showing goods to be kept 
and accounted for separately.  
   

VII. TRANSFER; REMOVAL OF GOODS  
   
A.            Instructions to transfer goods on the books of Warehouseman shall not be effective until delivered to and received by Warehouseman, and 

all charges up to the time transfer is made shall be chargeable to Poore Brothers.  
   
B.              Warehouseman may, without notice, move goods within the Warehouse. Warehouseman shall not, except as provided in Section VII(C), 

move goods to another location without the prior written consent of Poore Brothers.  
   
C.              If, as a result of the quality or conditions of goods of which Warehouseman had no notice at the time of deposit, goods are a hazard to 

other property, the Warehouse or persons, Warehouseman shall immediately notify Poore Brothers and Poore Brothers shall thereupon 
claim its interest in such goods and remove them from the Warehouse at Poore Brothers expense.  

   
VIII.  HANDLING  
   
A.            Handling rates and charges set forth in Schedule B shall cover ordinary labor and administration involved in receiving goods at the 

Warehouse door or dock, placing goods in storage and returning goods to the Warehouse door or dock.  
   
B.              Receiving of inbound shipments will be on a mutually agreed upon schedule utilizing drop trailers. Outbound shipments will be 

coordinated between Poore Brothers, Warehouseman and Transportation Services Provider.  
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IX.        DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS  
   
No goods shall be delivered or transferred except upon receipt by Warehouseman of complete instructions properly authorized and executed by 
Poore Brothers.  
   
X.            INBOUND SHIPMENTS  
   
A.            Warehouseman shall promptly notify Poore Brothers of any known discrepancy on inbound shipments and shall protect Poore Brothers 

interest by placing an appropriate notation on the delivering carrier’s shipping documents. Returned goods shall be governed by Poore 
Brothers returned goods policy, a copy of which is attached as Schedule D to this Agreement.  

   
B.              Warehouseman shall immediately notify Poore Brothers if any goods are tendered that, because of infestation, contamination or damage, 

might cause infestation, contamination or damage to the Warehouse or other goods stored therein. Warehouseman and Poore Brothers shall 
determine whether any such goods should be refused. Warehouseman shall have no liability for any demurrage, detention, transportation 
and other charges by virtue of any such refusal by Poore Brothers, unless the infestation, contamination, or damage is the result of a 
negligent action or omission of the Warehouseman or a violation of the procedures set forth in this Agreement.  

   
XI.        LIABILITY  
   
A.            Warehouseman shall be liable for damages or the loss of or injury to goods stored or handled and caused by Warehouseman’s failure to 

exercise such care in regard to the goods as a reasonably careful warehouseman would exercise under like circumstances.  
   
B.              Warehouseman shall not be liable for damages for any delay or failure in the performance of this Agreement resulting from any cause, 

except financial, beyond its control, such as acts of God, fires, explosions, floods, wars, sabotage, riots or governmental action.  
   
XII.  LEGAL LIABILITY INSURANCE  
   
During the Term, Warehouseman shall maintain at its expense a warehouseman’s legal liability insurance policy acceptable to Poore Brothers, 
including, without limitation, coverage for mysterious disappearance and employee infidelity. Such policy shall include general liability 
coverage of at least $2,000,000, employer’ liability coverage of at least $1,000,000 and statutory workers’ compensation coverage. The 
cancellation or termination of this Agreement by either party hereto shall not affect the insurance coverage for losses occurring during the 
Term. Attached to this Agreement as Schedule E is a certificate of insurance from an insurance carrier with a minimum rating by A.M. Best of 
A.VII., evidencing such insurance coverage and naming Poore Brothers as an additional insured, which certificate shall provide that such 
insurance shall not be canceled or altered without thirty (30) days advance written notice to Poore Brothers.  
   
XllI.  NOTICE OF LOSS; DAMAGE CLAIM  
   
A.            The Warehouseman shall promptly notify Poore Brothers of any loss or damage, howsoever caused, to goods stored or handled.  
   
B.              All claims by Poore Brothers relating to the losses or damages disclosed as a result of a Poore Brothers physical inventory reconciliation, 

as described in Schedule A, shall be presented in writing to the Warehouseman.  
   

Warehouseman shall reimburse Poore Brothers for any losses or damages to goods in an amount equal to manufactured price for such 
goods. Warehouseman will receive a loss allowance of .125% of  quarterly cases received. This will be reviewed on an annual basis.  
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XIV.  RECORDS  
   
A.            Warehouseman shall maintain an accurate count of all shipments of goods into and out of the Warehouse. Warehouseman shall report to 

Poore Brothers the count taken on each inbound and outbound shipment and, once reported to Poore Brothers, such count shall establish 
the number of cases and/or pallets received or shipped unless other documentation can prove to the contrary.  

   
B.              Warehouseman shall maintain complete and accurate books and records, recording all inbound and outbound shipments, so as to produce 

a continuous balance that shows the number of cases or pallets of each Poore Brothers product that should be in the Warehouse, based on 
the Warehouseman’s count, at any given time.  

   
C.              Books and records maintained by Warehouseman shall be reconciled by Warehouseman with parallel books and records to be maintained 

by Poore Brothers as outlined in Schedule A, which reconciliation shall occur at least once every four (4) or five (5) weeks depending on 
the period used for Poore Brothers monthly financial reporting purposes. The results of this reconciliation shall be provided to Poore 
Brothers within 5 working days of period-end.  

   
D.             Upon request, Poore Brothers shall have the right to examine all of the books and records maintained by  Warehouseman in connection 

with this Agreement.  
   
XV.   INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR  
   
A.            Warehouseman is performing the Services as an independent contractor of Poore Brothers. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be 

construed to place Poore Brothers and Warehouseman in a relationship as partners, joint venturers, employer/employee or principal/agent, 
nor shall Warehouseman be considered in any sense an affiliate or subsidiary of Poore Brothers. Warehouseman shall not have any 
authority to create or assume in Poore Brothers name or on its behalf any obligation, express or implied, or to act or purport to act as Poore 
Brothers agent or legally empowered representative for any purpose whatsoever.  

   
B.              All of Warehouseman’s personnel shall be considered employees of Warehouseman and under no circumstances shall they be construed 

or considered to be employees or agents of Poore Brothers.  
   
C.              Warehouseman shall pay and discharge, at its expense, any and all expenses, charges, fees and taxes arising out of or incidental to the 

carrying on of its business including, without limitation, workmen’s compensation, unemployment insurance and social security taxes 
levied or assessed with respect to employees of Warehouseman.  

   
XVI.            COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULAT IONS  
   

Warehouseman shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of federal, state, local and other governmental 
authorities and entities governing the performance of the Services.  
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XVII.            REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  
   
A.            Poore Brothers represents and warrants that neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor any other document, agreement, 

certificate and instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound in connection herewith or therewith, nor the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder, or the compliance with or performance of the terms and conditions herein or therein 
will result in the creation or imposition of any material lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or 
assets of Poore Brothers except as permitted in or anticipated by this Agreement, or is prevented by, limited by, conflicts with or will result 
in the breach or violation of or a default under the terms, conditions, or provisions of (1) its certificate or articles of incorporation or by-
laws and other organic documents, (2) any material indenture, evidence of indebtedness, loan or financing agreement, or other agreement 
or instrument of whatever nature to which it is a party or by which it is bounds, or (3) any provision of any existing law, rule regulation, 
order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental authority to which Poore Brothers is subject.  

   
B.              Poore Brothers represents and warrants that (l) it is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of 

Delaware, and it is authorized to do business in each other jurisdiction wherein its ownership of property or conduct of business legally 
requires such authorization, licensing or qualification, and (2) it has all requisite power, authority, franchises, permits and licenses to (a) 
execute and deliver this Agreement and other document, agreement, certificate or instrument necessary to consummate the transactions and 
perform its obligations hereunder and (b) to own its properties and assets and to carry on and conduct its business as presently conducted. 
All necessary action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and to consummate the transactions 
contemplated hereunder has been taken by Poore Brothers.  

   
C.              Warehouseman represents and warrants that neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor any other document, agreement, 

certificate and instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound in connection herewith or therewith, nor the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereunder or there under or the compliance with or performance of the terms and conditions herein or therein 
will result in the creation or imposition of any material lien, charge or encumbrance or any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or 
assets of Warehouseman except as permitted in or anticipated by this Agreement, or is prevented by, limited by, conflicts with or will 
result in the breach or violation of or a default under the terms, conditions or provisions of (1) its certificate or articles of incorporation or 
by-laws and other organic documents, (2) any material indenture, evidence of indebtedness, loan or financing agreement, or other 
agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which it is a party of by which it is bound, or (3) any provision of any existing law, rule, 
regulation, order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental authority to which Warehouseman is subject.  

   
D.             Warehouseman represents and warrants that (1) it is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of 

Pennsylvania, and it is authorized to do business in each other jurisdiction wherein its ownership of property or conduct of business legally 
requires such authorization, licensing or qualification, and (2) it has all requisite power, authority, franchises, permits and licenses to (a) 
execute and deliver this Agreement and any other document, agreement, certificate or instrument necessary to consummate the transactions 
and perform its obligations hereunder and (b) to own its properties and assets and to carry on and conduct its business as presently 
conducted or proposed to be conducted. All necessary action to authorize the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and 
to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder has been taken by Warehouseman.  

   
XVIII.                TERMINATION  
   
A.            Either party may terminate this Agreement if the other party has failed to perform any material term, condition or obligation hereof 

(including, without limitation, the terms of the SLAs) to the satisfaction  
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of the terminating party and has failed to correct the same within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of such failure given by 
such terminating party.  

   
B.              Either party may terminate this Agreement if the other party (1) fails to vacate an involuntary bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization 

petition for an agreement or composition with creditors filed against such party within sixty (60) days after the date of such filing, or files 
such petition on a voluntary basis; (2) makes an assignment or transfer for the benefit of creditors; (3) fails to vacate the appointment or a 
receiver or trustee for such party or for any interest in such party’s business within sixty (60) days after such appointment; or (4) permits 
an attachment to be levied against and remain outstanding on the Warehouseman for more than sixty (60) days  

   
C.              Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section XVIII, both parties shall cooperate fully in the orderly transition of the 

Services to another warehouseman.  
   
XIX.            ASSIGNMENT  
   

Neither party shall, without the prior written consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), assign this 
Agreement by operation of law or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing consent requirement, but without releasing the parties of 
their obligations under this Agreement, either party may assign this Agreement to one of its wholly-owned affiliates.  
   

XX. APPLICABLE LAW  
   

This Agreement shall be governed by, enforced, interpreted and construed under the laws of the State of Indiana. Venue for any action to 
enforce this Agreement shall be in the County of Wells, State of Indiana for any such action filed in state court or in the United States 
District Court for the District in which the Warehouse is located for any such action filed in federal court.  
   

XXI.            MEDIATION  
   

All disputes, claims and other matters in controversy arising directly or indirectly out of or related to this Agreement, or the breach 
thereof, whether contractual or non-contractual, shall be submitted first to voluntary mediation, by written notice to the other party or 
parties. In the mediation process, the parties will try to resolve their differences voluntarily with the aid of an impartial mediator, who 
will attempt to facilitate negotiations. The mediator will be selected by agreement of the parties. If the parties can not agree on a 
mediator, a mediator will be designated by the American Arbitration Association in the location of Fort Wayne, IN (“AAA”) at the 
request of a party. The mediation will be conducted as specified by the mediator and agreed upon by the parties. The parties agree to 
discuss their differences in good faith and to attempt, with the assistance of the mediator, to reach an amicable resolution of the dispute. 
The mediation will be treated as a settlement discussion and, therefore, will be confidential. The mediator may not testify for either party 
in any later proceeding relating to the dispute. No recording or transcript shall be made of the mediation proceedings. Each party will 
bear its own costs in the mediation. The fees and expenses of the mediator will be shared equally by the parties. If a dispute can not be 
resolved within ninety days after the written notice beginning the mediation process (or a longer period, if the parties agree to extend the 
mediation), the mediation shall terminate and the parties shall have the right to file a judicial proceeding in a court with competent 
jurisdiction seeking equitable or injunctive relief after the expiration of said ninety day or extended period.  
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XXII.        NOTICE  
   

Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing (including facsimile or 
similar transmission) and mailed (by U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid), sent or delivered (including by way 
of overnight courier service):  
   
   

If to Poore Brothers, addressed to:  
   

Vice, President, Supply Chain Management  
Poore Brothers, Inc.  
3500 S. LaCometa Drive  
Goodyear, AZ 85338  
Telephone: 623-932-6230  
Fax: 623-925-1312  

   
If to Warehouseman, addressed to:  
   

President  
Customized Distribution Services, Inc.  
20 Harry Shupe Boulevard  
Wharton, New Jersey 07885  
Telephone: 973-366-5090  
Fax: 973-366-2769  

   
   
or to such other address as Poore Brothers or Warehouseman shall give notice to the other by like means. All such notices, demands, and 
communications, if mailed, shall be effective upon the earlier of (1) actual receipt by the addressee, (2) the date shown on the return receipt of 
such mailing, or (3) three days after deposit in the mail. All such notices, demands, and communications, if not mailed, shall be effective upon 
the earlier of (1) actual receipt by the addressee, (2) with respect to facsimile and similar electronic transmission, the earlier of (a) the time that 
electronic confirmation of a successful transmission is received, or (b) the date of transmission, if a confirming copy of the transmission is also 
mailed as described above on the date of transmission, and (3) with respect to delivery by overnight courier service, the day after deposit with 
the courier service, if delivery on such day by such courier is confirmed with the courier or the recipient orally or in writing.  
   
XXIII.  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS  
   
A.            The headings contained herein are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to have any substantive meaning.  
   
B.              If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable in any manner, the 

remaining provisions of this Agreement shall nonetheless continue in full fume and effect without being impaired or invalidated in any 
way. In addition, if any provision of this Agreement may be modified by a court of competent jurisdiction such that it may be enforced, 
then that provision shall be so modified and as modified shall be fully enforced.  

   
C.              Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, this Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties respect to its subject matter, 

and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings and negotiations. No modification or alteration of this Agreement 
shall be deemed effective unless in writing and signed by the parties.  
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D.             The terms used in this Agreement, regardless of the number and gender in which they are used, shall be construed to include the other 

number (singular or plural), and other genders (masculine, feminine or neuter), as the context or sense of this Agreement or any paragraph 
or clause may require.  

   
E.               This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one 

Agreement. The signature of any party to any counterpart shall be deemed to be a signature to, any may be appended to, any other 
counterpart. Telecopied signatures shall be deemed effective as originals.  

   
F.               Each party agrees to sign and deliver all documents, instruments, certificates and applications reasonably necessary to consummate the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
   
G.              Each of the parties acknowledges that they and their counsel have reviewed this Agreement and suggested changes to its language. 

Therefore, any rule of construction that any ambiguity shall be construed against the drafter of this Agreement shall not apply in 
interpreting the provisions of this Agreement.  

   
H.             This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and shall not confer upon third parties any remedy claims or actions or other 

right.  
   
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement on the date first set forth above.  
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EXHIBIT 21.1 
   

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
   

   

EXHIBIT 23.1 
   
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ CONSENT  
   
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-48692 and 333-26117 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 
19, 2004 relating to the consolidated financial statements of Poore Brothers, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 
2002, and for the two years ended December 27, 2003 (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph 
relating to the application of procedures relating to certain disclosures and reclassifications of financial statement amounts related to the 2001 
financial statements that were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations and for which we have expressed no opinion or other form 
of assurance other than with respect to such disclosures and reclassifications, and an explanatory paragraph relating to the change in the method 
of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives as required by the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, which was effective January 1, 2002), appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Poore 
Brothers, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 27, 2003.  
   
   
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  
   
Phoenix, Arizona  
March 22, 2004  
   

EXHIBIT 23.2 
   

NOTICE REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP  
   

Section 11(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), provides that if any part of a registration statement at 
the time such part becomes effective contains an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact required to be stated 
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, any person acquiring a security pursuant to such registration statement 
(unless it is proved that at the time of such acquisition such person knew of such untruth or omission) may sue, among others, every accountant 
who has consented to be named as having prepared or certified any part of the registration statement, or as having prepared or certified any 
report or valuation which is used in connection with the registration statement, with respect to the statement in such registration statement, 
report or valuation which purports to have been prepared or certified by the accountant.  
   

This Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into Poore Brothers, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) filings on Form S-8 
(File Nos. 333-87028 and 333-87026) (collectively, the Registration Statements) and, for purposes of determining any liability under the 
Securities Act, is deemed to be a new registration statement for each Registration Statement into which it is incorporated by reference.  

POORE BROTHERS, INC.  
   
   

By:  
      

            
   

Its:  
      

   
   

CUSTOMIZED DISTRIBUTION SERVICES, 1NC.  
   
   
   

By:  
      

            
   

Its:  
      

Name of Subsidiary  
   

State of Incorporation/Formation     

La Cometa Properties, Inc.  
   

Arizona  
   

Tejas PB Distributing, Inc.  
   

Arizona  
   

Poore Brothers – Bluffton, LLC   
   

Delaware  
   

Boulder Natural Foods, Inc.  
   

Arizona  
   

BN Foods, Inc.  
   

Colorado  
   



   
On May 8, 2002 the Board of Directors dismissed Arthur Andersen LLP as its independent public accountants and appointed Deloitte 

& Touche LLP as its independent public accountants. After reasonable efforts, the Company has been unable to obtain Arthur Andersen’s 
written consent to the incorporation by reference into the Registration Statements of its audit report with respect to Company’s financial 
statements as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and for the years then ended included in this Form 10-K.  Under these circumstances, Securities 
and Exchange Commission Rule 437a under the Securities Act permits the Company to file this Form 10-K without a written consent from 
Arthur Andersen LLP.  As a result, however, Arthur Andersen LLP may not have any liability under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act for any 
untrue statements of a material fact contained in the financial statements audited by Arthur Andersen LLP or any omissions of a material fact 
required to be stated therein.  Accordingly, you may not be able to assert a claim against Arthur Andersen LLP under Section 11(a) of the 
Securities Act for any purchases of securities under the Registration Statements made on or after the date of this Form 10-K.  To the extent 
provided in Section 11(b)(3)(C) of the Securities Act, however, other persons who are liable under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act, 
including the Company’s officers and directors, should still be able to rely on Arthur Andersen LLP’s original audit reports as being made by 
an expert for purposes of establishing a due diligence defense under Section 11(b) of the Securities Act.  
   

EXHIBIT 31.1 
   

CERTIFICATIONS  
   

I, Eric J. Kufel, certify that:  
   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Poore Brothers, Inc.;  
   

2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report on Form 10-K does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;  
   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;  
   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Securities and Exchange Commission Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended) for the registrant and have:  
   

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision,  to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
   

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  
   

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  
   

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
   

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  
   

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.  
   
Date: March 23, 2004  
   

   

EXHIBIT 31.2 
   

CERTIFICATIONS  
   

I, Thomas W. Freeze, certify that:  

/s/ Eric J. Kufel  
   

Eric J. Kufel  
President and Chief Executive Officer  



   
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Poore Brothers, Inc.;  

   
2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report on Form 10-K does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;  
   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;  
   

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Securities and Exchange Commission Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended) for the registrant and have:  
   

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision,  to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others 
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
   

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  
   

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  
   

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
   

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  
   

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting.  
   
Date: March 23, 2004  
   

   

EXHIBIT 32.1 
   

CERTIFICATION  
   

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, for the purposes of section 1350 of chapter 63 of title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of Poore Brothers, Inc. (the “Company”), that, to his 
knowledge, the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the period ended December 27, 2003, fully complies with the requirements 
of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company. This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form 10-K. A signed original of this statement has been provided to the Company and will be 
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  
   
   

/s/ Thomas W. Freeze  
   

Thomas W. Freeze  
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial  
Officer, Treasurer and Secretary  

         
Date: March 23, 2004  By:  /s/    Eric J. Kufel  
         
      

Eric J. Kufel  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

         
Date: March 23, 2004  By:  /s/    Thomas W. Freeze  
         
      

Thomas W. Freeze  
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  
Treasurer and Secretary (principal financial and  
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